GENOMIC HEALTH INC

FORM 10-K

(Annual Report)

Filed 03/13/09 for the Period Ending 12/31/08

Address

Telephone
CIK
Symbol
SIC Code
Industry
Sector
Fiscal Year

301 PENOBSCOT DRIVE
REDWOOD CITY, CA 94063
650-556-9300

0001131324

GHDX

8071 - Medical Laboratories
Biotechnology & Drugs
Healthcare

12/31

http://www.edgar-online.com
© Copyright 2009, EDGAR Online, Inc. All Rights Reserved.

Distribution and use of this document restricted under EDGAR Online, Inc. Terms of Use.




Table of Contents



Table of Contents

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

Form 10-K

(Mark One

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended: December 31, 20(

OR

O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from to

Commission File Number: 000-51541

GENOMIC HEALTH, INC.

(Exact name of Registrant as specified in its dmrt

Delaware 77-0552594
(State or other jurisdiction of (I.LR.S. Employer
incorporation or organization Identification Number
301 Penobscot Drive 94063
Redwood City, California (Zip Code)

(Address of principal executive office

(650) 556-9300
(Registrant’s telephone number, including area gode
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) dfie Act:
Title of Each Clas: Name of Each Exchange on Which Registere

Common Stock, par value $0.0001 per sha The NASDAQ Stock Market LLC

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) dfie Act and Title of Class:
None

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a welbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405co®#turities Act. Yedd
No &

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuieed to file reports pursuant to Section 13 orti®ecl5(d) of the Act. Yes
O No M

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant €l filed all reports required to be filed by Secti® or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preagdia months (or for such shorter period that tlygsteant was required to file
such reports), and (2) has been subject to sunlg fiequirements for the past 90 days. Yés No O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquidlets pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K i$ contained herein, and
will not be contained, to the best of registrarkhowledge, in definitive proxy or information &ments incorporated by refere
in Part Il of this Form 10-K or any amendmenthastForm 10-K. O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlarge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a-accelerated filer, or a
smaller reporting company. See the definitionslafde accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer” araialler reporting company” in
Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):

Large accelerated fileO Accelerated filerd Non-accelerated fileid Smaller reporting compan
(Do not check if a smaller reporting compe

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantshell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Aates O No M

As of June 30, 2008, the aggregate market valwetirig and non-voting common stock held by nonliatfs of the

registrant was approximately $260.5 million, basadhe closing price of the common stock as repostethe NASDAQ Global
Market for that date.

There were 28,507,540 shares of the regis’s Common Stock issued and outstanding on Febri&r(®9.



DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Items 10 (as to directors and Section 16(a) Beiafiswnership Reporting Compliance), 11, 12, 13 afaf Part Il
incorporate by reference information from the regist’'s proxy statement to be filed with the Seteisiand Exchange
Commission in connection with the solicitation oebxies for the registrant’s 2009 Annual Meetingstdckholders to be held on

June 8, 2009.




TABLE OF CONTENTS

_Page
PART |
ITEM 1. Business 3
ITEM 1A. Risk Factors 25
ITEM 1B. Unresolved Staff Commen 39
ITEM 2. Properties 39
ITEM 3. Legal Proceeding 39
ITEM 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holc 39
PART Il
ITEM 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related &tmider Matters and Issuer Purchases
of Equity Securitie: 41
ITEM 6. Selected Financial Da 43
ITEM 7. Managemer's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditiod &esults of Operatior 44
ITEM 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About MarRisk 55
ITEM 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary | 56
ITEM 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants @ourting and Financial Disclosu 79
ITEM 9A. Controls and Procedur 79
ITEM 9B. Other Informatior 81
PART III
ITEM 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Goveos 81
ITEM 11. Executive Compensatic 81
ITEM 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners dahagement and Related Stockholder
Matters 82
ITEM 13. Certain Relationships and Related TransactionsParettor Independenc 82
ITEM 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Servi 82
PART IV
ITEM 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedi 82
Signatures 86
EX-12.1
EX-23.1
EX-31.1
EX-31.2
EX-32.1
EX-32.2




Table of Contents

PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS.

This report contains forward-looking statementshimtthe meaning of the Private Securities LitigatReform
Act of 1995. When used in this Report, the w“expects,” “anticipates,” “intends,” “estimates,” “plans,”
“believes,” and similar expressions are intendeddentify forward-looking statements. These ar¢esteents that
relate to future periods and include statementsudlooir expectation that, for the foreseeable futgréostantially all
of our revenues will be derived from Oncotype D¢, factors that may impact our financial resultse extent and
duration of our net losses or where we may achggoétability; our ability to recognize revenueshet than on a
cash basis and when we expect we will recognizajarity of revenues upon providing tests; our bess strategy
and our ability to achieve our strategic goals; mxpectation that product revenues will increase; amount of
future revenues that we may derive from Medicateepts or categories of patients; our plans to e
reimbursement on a case-by-case basis; our alality expectations as to the amount of time it aket to achieve
successful reimbursement from third-party payord government insurance programs for new tests akets,
including for Oncotype DX for N+ patients or outsidf the U.S.; our expectations regarding our inggional
expansion and opportunities, and when we may gémeeaenues from international sales; our inteneier into
additional foreign distribution arrangements; thaecfors we believe to be driving demand for Onco®peand our
ability to sustain or increase such demand; ourcgss in increasing patient and physician demana esult of our
direct sales approach; plans for enhancements afoBpe DX to address different patient populatiohbreast
cancer or to report single gene results; plans ford the timeframe for the development or commElanigch of,
future tests addressing different patient populagior other cancers; the factors that we believiedvive the
establishment of coverage policies; the capacityusfclinical reference laboratory to process tesisl our
expectations regarding capacity; our dependenceailaborative relationships and the success oféhos
relationships; whether any tests will result fronr @ollaborations; the applicability of clinical milts to actual
outcomes; our estimates and assumptions with réspelisease incidence; our belief regarding thmaitig of a
potential test for colon cancer; our plans with pest to potential tests for ductal carcinoma inusitr other cancer
or for patients treated with aromatase inhibitorsather treatments; the occurrence, timing, outcansuccess of
clinical trials or studies; our intention to plardditional development or clinical studies; the biitiseof our
technology platform; the economic benefits of @st to the healthcare system; the ability of ost te impact
treatment decisions; our beliefs regarding our cetitpve benefits; our belief that multi-gene an#ysrovides
better analytical information; our expectations agding clinical development processes future tesy follow; our
beliefs regarding the benefits of individual geeparting; the level of investment in our sales érur expectation
that our general and administrative and sales aradtkating expenses will increase and our anticipateds of those
funds; our expectations regarding capital expen@is; our expectation that our research and develepnexpens
levels will remain high as we seek to increasectimical utility of Oncotype DX and develop newtsesur ability to
comply with the requirements of being a public canyp our ability to attract and retain experiencpérsonnel; the
adequacy of our product liability insurance; how imgend to spend our existing cash and cash egemtaland how
long we expect our existing cash to last; our d@ptited cash needs and our estimates regarding apital
requirements and our needs for additional financiogr expected future sources of cash; our plansawow
additional amounts under existing or new financamgangements; our expectations regarding our needsse
equipment financing as a funding source; our behet we are in material compliance with finanoiaivenants; our
expectations regarding repayment of debt or incaceeof additional debt; our compliance with fedesthte and
foreign regulatory requirements; the potential inspeesulting from the regulation of Oncotype DXthg U.S. Foot
and Drug Administration, or FDA, and our belief tfancotype DX is properly regulated under the Clari
Laboratory Improvement Amendments of 1988, or Cthi&;impact of new or changing policies, regulatasr
legislation on our business; our belief that we édaken reasonable steps to protect our intelldgbvaperty; our
strategies regarding filing additional patent apggations to strengthen our intellectual propertyhig; the impact of
changing interest rates; our beliefs regarding omrecognized tax benefits; the impact of accounting
pronouncements and our critical accounting policiesigments, estimates, models and assumptionardinancial
results; the impact of the economy on our busingstsents and payors; our expectations regardirgithpact of th
economic environment on our liquidity and our irtweants; and anticipated trends and challenges inbmsiness
and the markets in which we operate.
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Forward-looking statements are subject to risks andertainties that could cause actual resultsifted
materially from those expected. These risks an@mainties include, but are not limited to, thossks discussed in
Item 1A of this report, as well as our ability tevétlop and commercialize new products; the risknafnticipatec
delays in research and development efforts; thettiat we may not obtain reimbursement for ourtexgstest and
any future tests we may develop; the risks andrteingies associated with the regulation of ourtteg FDA; our
ability to compete against third parties; our ahjlto obtain capital when needed; the economicrenment; and
our history of operating losses. These forward-Inglstatements speak only as of the date hereoexptessly
disclaim any obligation or undertaking to updateydarward-looking statements contained herein fitect any
change in our expectations with regard thereto imy ahange in events, conditions or circumstancewltich any
such statement is based.

This report contains statistical data that we ob&d from reports generated by the American Canoeie8y
and by DaVinci Oncology Specialists, a divisiothaf Mattson Jackson Group, Inc., or that we derifrecth
information contained in these reports. These repgenerally indicate that they have obtained th&iormation
from sources believed to be reliable but do notrgotee the accuracy and completeness of their inédion.
Although we believe that the reports are relialbe, have not independently verified their d:

In this report, all references to “Genomic HealtHyve,” “us,” or “our” mean Genomic Health, Inc.

Genomic Health, the Genomic Health logo, Oncotgpe;otype DX and Recurrence Score are trademarks or
registered trademarks of Genomic Health, Inc. W® aéfer to trademarks of other corporations andanizations
in this report.

Company Overview

Genomic Health is a life science company focusetherdevelopment and commercialization of genobaiset
clinical diagnostic tests for cancer. Our goabisniprove the quality of treatment decisions fana@ar patients by
providing individualized information to patientsdatheir physicians through the genomic analysisiofor biopsies
In January 2004, we launched our first test unideibrand name OndgpeDX. OncotypeDX has clinical evidenc
validating its ability to predict the likelihood bfeast cancer recurrence and the likelihood ofmctikerapy benefit
for early stage breast cancer patients. QypeDX utilizes quantitative genomic analysis in stamdamor
pathology specimens to provide tumor-specific infation, or the “oncotypedf a tumor, in order to improve cant
treatment decisions. We offer Ontype DX as a clinical service, where we analyze the esgion levels of 21 ger
in tumor tissue samples in our laboratory and gleyihysicians with a quantitative gene expressiofil@
expressed as a single quantitative score, whicball@ Recurrence Score. In 2008, we began inctuidirihe Onco
typeDX report measurements of quantitative gene exjmeder estrogen receptor, or ER, progesteronepteceor
PR, and human epidermal growth factor receptor BiER2, genes, which are used in the calculatigthef
Recurrence Score result, in order to provide aaul clinical information.

OncotypeDX has been extensively evaluated in twelve inddpahstudies involving more than 4,000 breast
cancer patients, including a large validation stpdiglished inThe New England Journal of Mediciaad a
chemotherapy benefit study published in dbarnal of Clinical Oncology As of December 31, 2008, more than
85,000 tests had been delivered for use in tredtplanning. As of February 2009, more than 90%llof a
U.S. insured lives were covered by health plansghavide reimbursement for OntgpeDX through contracts,
agreements or policy decisions. Reimbursement balbef patients covered by Medicare comprised 223%8% and
47% of product revenues for the years ended Dece®ih@008, 2007 and 2006. Reimbursement on behalf
patients covered by UnitedHealthcare Insurance @Gompomprised 9%, 13% and 5% of product revenuethé&
years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 ctashe. The American Society of Clinical Oncolotgisor
ASCO, and the National Comprehensive Cancer NetwmrKICCN, issued updated clinical practice guitkdiin
late 2007 that include the use of OrigpeDX to predict the likelihood of disease recurrenoe the likelihood of
chemotherapy benefit for a large portion of eathge breast cancer patients. Ohque DX is commercially
available at a list price of $3,820 through ouniclal reference laboratory located in Redwood Gitglifornia,
which is accredited under the Clinical Laboratanptovement Amendments of 1988, or CLIA, and byGodege
of American Pathologists, or CAP.
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Scientific Background
Limits of Existing Approaches for Determining Canc&reatments

Cancer is a group of complex molecular diseasesactexized by the uncontrolled growth and spread of
abnormal cells resulting from genetic mutationsl@mage that can severely disrupt normal body fanstiln 2008,
approximately 1.4 million people in the United $&and 12 million people worldwide were expectedeo
diagnosed with cancer. Common types of cancer dechreast, prostate, lung and colon. Cancers Hieuttito
treat because each type responds differently, di#pgpon the individual and the type and locatibthe cancer.

To treat cancer effectively, physicians diagnose gauge the stage of a patient’s disease to detenié best
course of therapy. The most common practice usdihtnose cancer is through pathologic evaluatfdoroors
under a microscope. For solid tumors, tumor tigsuspically removed through surgery or needle biggixed in a
chemical preservative and embedded in paraffin Wgpathologist places thin sections of this fixedaffin
embedded, or FPE, tissue onto glass slides sa ibeatudied under a microscope. In many casdwlpgists also
use molecular staining techniques, including presgiecific staining, to improve the quality of thdiagnosis. Afte
visually examining the sample, the pathologist palgshether the biopsy contains normal or cancerells The
pathologist may also grade the tumor based on lygreasive the cancer cells appear under the mimpesc

Once a pathologist diagnoses cancer, the patiphysician determines the stage of the cancer baséarther
analysis of the patient’s condition using a varietglinical measures, including the tumor pathglggade, size of
the tumor, how deeply the tumor has invaded tisatiffse site of origin and the extent of any ineasnto
surrounding organs, lymph nodes or distant sitaeRt history, physical signs, symptoms and infation obtained
from other tests are also evaluated and considered.

Physicians use tumor pathology grade and stage pteghicting whether a cancer will recur, whichhe key
determinant in treatment decisions. Because turathropogy and staging are heavily dependent on vessessmel
and human interpretation, physicians and patiemtsentreatment decisions often using subjectivecpraditative
information that may not reflect the molecular mataf the patient’s cancer. As a result, many pédiare
misclassified as high risk when they are low rigkrecurrence or low risk when they are high riskrecurrence,
resulting in over-treatment for some and undertineat for others.

For many cancer patients, chemotherapy is commeseg as a treatment. Chemotherapy involves thefuse
highly toxic drugs to kill cancer cells. It is oftgiven after surgery to kill remaining cancer sdiiat could not be
physically removed in order to reduce the riskiskdse recurrence. Chemotherapy can take montusriplete an
can dramatically impact a patient’s quality of liRatients usually experience a wide range of douieities,
including infection, pain in the mouth and throagight loss, fatigue, hair loss, rashes and impecsite reactions. In
addition, long-term effects of chemotherapy camude cognitive impairment, cardiac tissue damagferiility,
disease of the central nervous system, chronigdatisecondary malignancies and personality chamyesall
benefits of chemotherapy vary significantly acroascer populations, and the benefit of treatmenyt noa always
justify the cost of the therapy or the physical amehtal burden patients endu

Use of Genomics to Understand Cancer

Genomics is the study of complex sets of gene#, élxpression and their function in a particulagamism. A
gene is a set of instructions or information tlsaginbedded in the DNA of a cell. For a gene taubged on or
“expressed” by a cell, the cell must first transera copy of its DNA sequence into messenger RN#chnis then
translated by the cell into protein. Proteins argé molecules that control most biological proesssd make up
molecular pathways, which cells use to carry oairtBpecific functions.

Genomics can also be used to understand diseathesrablecular level. Diseases can occur when @it
defective genes inappropriately activate or blockanular pathways that are important for normaldgal
function. Disease can result from inheriting muflagenes or from developing mutations in otherwiseral cells.
Such mutations can be the cause of cancer. Thigyabidetect a mutation or its functional resaltsl to understand
the process by which the mutation contributes $eake is crucial to understanding the moleculahamésms of a
disease.
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A common form of genomic analysis is the measure@rokgene expression, or the presence and amouwmteof
or more RNA sequences in a particular cell or gsddutations may change the gene expression patterrcell as
the cell responds to an altered genetic code. @izt the differences in gene expression has becarnoommon
way to study the behavior of an altered cell. Thethod allows for the measurement of the expressisingle or
multiple genes. These expression levels can beleted with disease and clinical outcomes.

Advances in genomic technology have acceleratedatieeand lowered the cost of gene expression sisaly
thus providing unprecedented opportunity for cliatility. We believe gene expression technology the
potential to improve the quality of diagnosis arehtment of disease by arming patients and physiciath an
understanding of disease at a molecular levelishgecific to each patient.

Cancer results from alterations in cells causethbymolecular changes of mutated genes. The bahaifvio
cancer is dependent on many different genes andteinteract. Cancer is complicated and it maylb®opossible
to identify a single gene that adequately signalsoee aggressive or less aggressive type of cahberability to
analyze multiple genes expressed by the tumor gesunore valuable information, which enables irtlialized
cancer assessment and treatment.

The key to utilizing genomics in cancer is identify specific sets of genes and gene interactioatsaite
important for diagnosing different subsets of casc8tudies can be performed which link respongkdmapy or th
likelihood of recurrence to the pattern of generegpion in tumors. These results can then be osgeMelop tests
that quantify gene expression of an individuali:itw, allowing physicians to better understand vifesitments are
most likely to work for an individual patient orwdikely a cancer is to recur.

Our Solution

Our diagnostic approach correlates gene expressicimical outcomes and provides an individualizedlysis
of each patiens tumor. We have optimized technology for quarititagene expression on FPE tissue by develc
methods and processes for screening hundreds e§ g time using minimal amounts of tissue. Téghnology
allows us to analyze archived samples of tissuained by hospitals for most cancer patients, toetate gene
expression analysis with known clinical outcomeshsas responsiveness to therapy or the likelittdadncer
recurrence or progression. Once we have establesh@édalidated a test, we can then analyze a patieimor and
correlate the result to these clinical outcomes.

We believe that our multi-gene analysis, as oppteaihgle-gene analysis, provides a more poweproach
to distinguish tumors as being more or less likelyecur or progress. Furthermore, as shown insbiesncer, our
approach can be used to determine whether a paiamdre or less likely to benefit from therapyidimformation
ultimately allows the physician and patient to céma course of treatment that is individualizedefmeh patient.

Our solution fits within current clinical practiead therapeutic protocols, facilitating product ptit;. We
analyze tissues as they are currently handledepseel and stored by clinical pathology laboratofiexe a patient
is diagnosed with breast cancer and a physiciaarsi@ncaypeDX, the pathology lab provides us with the tumor
block or thin sections from the biopsy specimefizgtil for the diagnosis. Because the specimenstamically
preserved and embedded in paraffin wax, they reqarspecial handling and can be sent by overmgtitto our
clinical reference laboratory in California. We iegk this provides an advantage over tests usegffor frozen
tissue that require special handling, such as siggipozen tissue on dry ice. We typically analytze tissue and
deliver our results to the treating physician withD to 14 days of receipt of the tissue samplés iBrwithin the
crucial decision window after the tumor has beagisally removed and before the patient and thatiing
physician discuss additional treatment options.

We believe our solution provides information thaslthe following benefits:

« Improved Quality of Treatment Decisiol We believe our approach to genomic-based camadysis
improves the quality of cancer treatment decislongroviding an individualized analysis of eachi@att's
tumor that is correlated to clinical outcome. Oppm@ach represents a substantial departure frostirgxi
approaches to treatment, which often use subjeaivatomic and qualitative factors to determinattrents.
OncotypeDX has been shown in clinical studies to classinmpatients into recurrence ri
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categories different from classifications basedarily on tumor pathology grade and stage. Thus, ou
solution enables patients and physicians to make inéormed decisions about treatment risk-benefit
considerations and, consequently, design an indiirked treatment plal

» Improved Economics of Cancer Ca We believe that improving the quality of treatrhdacisions can
result in significant economic benefits. In eatigge breast cancer, our data shows that many patien
misclassified as high or low risk under existingatiment guidelines. Many low risk patients misdfastsas
high risk receive toxic and expensive chemothetegatment regimens. Chemotherapy and related nusfs
exceed $20,000, as compared to OtypeDX's list price of $3,820. On the other hand, sdmigh risk
patients misclassified as low risk are not providedmotherapy treatment, possibly necessitatingdut
treatment costing up to $50,000 or more if the eanecurs

Oncotype DX

OncotypeDX, our first clinically validated product, usesra@uantitative molecular pathology approach to
improve cancer treatment decisions. We offer QgpeDX as a clinical laboratory test, where we analymaor
tissue samples in our clinical reference laboratorgy provide physicians with genomic informatioeafic to the
patient’s tumor. Early stage breast cancer isitsegdatient population where we have commercidliagenomic
test that has been shown clinically to predictlikedihood of cancer recurrence and the likelih@ddhemotherapy
benefit.

In breast cancer, we developed our gene panel bgwiag the field of approximately 25,000 human g&n
down to 250 cancer-related genes through revieexisting research literature and computer anabyfsggnomic
databases. We evaluated the 250 genes in thrggeindent clinical studies to identify a 21-gene parmse
composite gene expression profile can be repreddmyta single quantitative score, which we calle@iRrence
Score. The higher the Recurrence Score, the mgresgjve the tumor and the more likely it is taured he lower
the Recurrence Score, the less aggressive the amdathe less likely it is to recur. Moreover, vaé demonstrate
that the Recurrence Score also correlates witlikbkhood of chemotherapy benefit.

Oncotype DX for Breast Cancer

In 2008, approximately 205,000 people in the Unib¢ates and 1.3 million people worldwide were dasgd
with breast cancer, including ductal carcinomaitm, ®r DCIS. Following diagnosis, a physician detaes the
stage of the breast cancer by examining the foligwi

« the pathology of the tuma
« the size of the tumo

* node status, referred to as node positive, or Nrgrevthe tumor has spread to the lymph nodes, aae n
negative, or |-, where the tumor has not spread to the lymph nadet

« the extent to which the cancer has spread to ptms of the body

Breast cancer tumors are classified as stagdlQ]ll,or IV. Stage 0, or DCIS, generally refes & pre-invasive
tumor with reduced risk of recurrence. DCIS is tglhly not treated with chemotherapy but may betécavith
lumpectomy or mastectomy, followed by radiationréipy and hormonal therapy. Stage | and Il are gdiyer
referred to as early stage breast cancer, and Btagel IV are generally referred to as late sthgeast cancer.
Standard treatment guidelines weigh the stageeoféimcer and additional factors to predict caneeunrence and
determine treatment protocol such as:

* the presence or absence of estrogen receptorsegkfe as estrogen receptor positive, or ER+, erher
estrogen receptors are present, and estrogen cecegfative, or ER-, where estrogen receptors @ire n
present

« the abundance of human epidermal growth factomptet-type 2, or HER2, genes or protein in the tun
« the age of the patient, a
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« the histological type and grading of the tumoregsorted by the pathologis

Because these diagnostic factors have limited ¢ktyab predict future recurrence and chemotherbppefit,
and some are subjective, a large percentage of tade breast cancer patients are classifiedghsrisk. As a
consequence, the use of chemotherapy has becongastgractice in Stage | and Il patients evenghahe
benefit to this patient group as a whole is sniatist early stage breast cancer patients have N+ tBRors. These
patients have been demonstrated to respond wedirtaonal therapy, such as tamoxifen. Identifyingoltof these
patients will further benefit from chemotherapyidifficult decision under these guidelines. A Natl Surgical
Adjuvant Breast and Bowel Project, or NSABP, stpdlished in 2004 showed that after 12 years of
follow-up, overall survival in N-, ER+ breast cangatients using tamoxifen hormonal therapy aloas w
approximately 83% and the overall survival usingdaifen hormonal therapy and chemotherapy was 87%.
Therefore, the incremental survival benefit of cémerapy in this study was only 4%. Our test isgtesd to help
identify those patients with aggressive tumors wh@most likely to benefit from chemotherapy andaintify
those patients with less aggressive tumors whomagive minimal clinical benefit from chemotherapy.

When the treating physician places an order fordQyoeeDX, the local pathology laboratory sends the tumor
sample to our clinical reference laboratory. Oneereceive the tumor sample, it is logged in anad@ssed by our
pathology department. Suitable samples then undemocess by which RNA is extracted and purifi&. then
analyze the resulting material and produce a repggically within 10 to 14 days of the receipttbé sample, that
shows a Recurrence Score on a continuum betwd@®® 0The Recurrence Score, along with other dadaests the
physicians obtain, forms the basis for the treatrdenision.

The Recurrence Score has been clinically validedembrrelate with an individual's likelihood of larst cancer
recurrence within 10 years of diagnosis. The lothierRecurrence Score the less likely the tumar re¢ur and the
higher the Recurrence Score the more likely theotusito recur. A Recurrence Score range from D0 correlate
to an actual recurrence range from about 3% recceréo over 30% recurrence for patients in ourdedion study.
The study involved 668 patients who were enroliethe NSABP Study B-14 between 1982 and 1988. The
continuous range of scores differentiates OiypeDX from other tests that predict only high or lowskrby
providing an individualized level of risk. To evale our clinical validation studies and compare @gpeDX to
other methods of classifying risk, we defined Reence Score ranges for low, intermediate and hgkhgroups. A
Recurrence Score below 18 correlates with a loalililood of recurrence; a Recurrence Score equal gpeater
than 18 but less than 31 correlates with an intdrate likelihood of recurrence; and a Recurrenaa&equal to or
greater than 31 correlates with a high likelihoddezurrence. Within each risk category, OmgoeeDX further
quantifies the risk for any given patient. For exéena low risk patient may have as low as a 3%lililood of
recurrence of breast cancer within 10 years oiigtsds an 11% likelihood of recurrence, dependimghe
individual Recurrence Score. We believe this regmesa substantial improvement upon existing mettiod
classifying patient risk.

Clinical Utility and Health Economic Benefits of Ocotype DX

The following table describes our current breasteaproduct:

Breast Cancer Produc Product Stage
OncotypeDX
N-, ER+ Commerciz
Single gene reporting (ER, PR, HEF Commercie
N+ Commerciz
Aromatase inhibitor Commercis

Node Negative, Estrogen Receptor Positive (N-, ER+)

In December 2007, eight studies were presentdteaBan Antonio Breast Cancer Symposium, or SABCS,
reinforcing the clinical utility of OnctypeDX. Three of the studies assessing the impact ab®peDX on
treatment decisions concluded that use of the¢ssited in less recommendation for and use of ctieenapy,
demonstrating the actionable nature of Otyg@DX in its ability to help reduce unnecessary useh@motherapy.
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In September 2008, thwurnal of Clinical Oncologyublished clinical results suggesting that the Ompe DX
Recurrence Score result provides additional pragmogormation in patients with early-stage breeatcer beyond
that derived from Adjuvant! Online, an online tdloht evaluates clinical variables to help physisiand patients
assess the risks and benefits of getting additidwesbhpy after surgery. In October 2008¢g American Journal of
Surgerypublished clinical results from a study N-, ER+igats indicating that OnctypeDX significantly changed
treatment recommendations versus standard measores

Single Gene Reporting (ER, PR, HER2)

We introduced quantitative gene expression reppftin ER and PR genes with the OnigpeDX Recurrence
Score report in February 2008 and for HER2 in Seper 2008. We believe that reporting individual genoores in
addition to the Recurrence Score result may hadéiadal utility in predicting outcomes for specifiherapies or
disease subtypes. For example, a quantitative BR seay be a clinically useful predictor of tamexifbenefit
based on our clinical studies of the NSABP Study4Bpopulation. In June 2008, theurnal of Clinical Oncology
published results of a study demonstrating théytf OncotypeDX in measuring gene expression for ER and PR
status, indicating that quantitative reverse trapton polymerase chain reaction, or RT-PCR, a-wsiablished
technology that we license, is a reliable methadi&iermining hormone receptor status in breasterait the
September 2008 ASCO Breast Cancer Symposium, vgerued results from two studies supporting theofi§éncc
typeDX in assessing HER2 gene expression.

Node Positive (N+)

Many patients diagnosed with N+ breast cancer noapenefit from chemotherapy or may have othertheal
issues that increase the risk of chemotherapyntiesatt Results from studies of OniypeDX in N+ patients
utilizing tumor samples from chemotherapy treatatigmts (anthracycline plus cytoxin or anthracyelpius
taxotere), completed in collaboration with the EastCooperative Oncology Group and Aventis, Ineneanber of
the sanofi-aventis group, or Aventis, were presiéatehe June 2007 ASCO annual meeting. The residtese
studies suggest that OntypeDX Recurrence Score results provide accurate recaerrisk information for patients
with ER+ breast cancer, regardless of whether éineyN-or N+. At SABCS in December 2007, we presentedlts
from a second study conducted in conjunction with $outhwest Oncology Group suggesting that QypeDX
may be useful in predicting survival without diseascurrence and the benefit of chemotherapy fopatients, in
addition to N-, ER+ patients. As a result, we haxperienced an increase in usage of QgpeDX for N+ patients
However, substantially all of our existing reimbemgent coverage is limited to women with early-stlgeER+
breast cancer. We may not be able to obtain reisgimoent coverage for OntypeDX for breast cancer patients
with N+, ER+ disease.

Aromatase Inhibitors

We conducted studies of OntygpeDX with clinical samples from postmenopausal wométh breast cancer
who were treated with aromatase inhibitors. Arorsatahibitors and tamoxifen are both used as stdrtdeatment
for early stage ER+ breast cancer patients. In Dbee 2008 at SABCS, we presented results from agean stud
using OncdypeDX to analyze tumor samples from over 1,200 pasiémthe ATAC (Arimedix® , Tamozifin,

Alone or in Combination) trial, which establishée twide use of aromatase inhibitors for adjuvasdtinent of post-
menopausal women with hormone-receptor positivadireancer. The study demonstrated that, alongodlitér
standard measures such as tumor size, @mpadDX contributes independently to provide a more clatgppicture

of prognosis for N- and N+ patients treated withnaatase inhibitors.

Health Economic Benefits

We sponsor third-party studies conducted by rebeascaffiliated with academic institutions to examthe
health economic implications of OntypeDX. Two such studies, one of which was publishe@hie American
Journal of Managed Carin May 2005, analyzed data from patients in the B8/Study B-14 multi-center clinical
trial to compare risk classification based on glimgecriteria from NCCN to risk classification byn@otypeDX. Of
the 668 patients in the NSABP study population, NQfiidelines classified 615, or 92%, as high risd &3, or
8%, as low risk. Of the 615 patients classifiethigh risk by NCCN, OnctypeDX classified 49% as low risk, 22%
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as intermediate risk and 29% as high risk. Of tB@&tients that NCCN classified as low risk, OhgoeDX
classified 6% as high risk, 22% as intermediate aisd 72% as low risk. In each case, Otyge DX provided a
more accurate classification of risk than the NCgiidelines as measured by 10 year distant recuerrre
survival.

Based on these results, a model was designeddoafsirquality-adjusted survival and expected costhie net
present value of all costs of treatment until deéit®ncotypeDX was used in patients classified as low riskighh
risk by NCCN guidelines. The model, when applied foypothetical population of 100 patients with the
demographic and disease characteristics of thematentered in the NSABP Study B-14, demonstrateidcrease
to quality-adjusted survival in this population&6 years and a reduction in projected aggregats ob
approximately $200,000. Furthermore, the model glibthiat as the expected costs and anticipatedtioric
chemotherapy regimens increase, the use of theriRace Score to identify which patients would bérfefm
chemotherapy should lead to larger reductions djepted overall costs. According to this studglifearly stage
breast cancer patients and their physicians used ®peDX and acted on the information provided by the
Recurrence Score, there would be significant ecanbemefit to the healthcare system.

Product Development

We developed OnctypeDX using the following multi-phased clinical devploent program that we are also
using to develop future products for breast, c@od other cancers:

» Research phas' Prior to development, we may conduct explorastuglies to identify genes, pathways or
new disease opportunities of potential scientiiteiest.

» Early development phas In this phase, we establish a product definiiod development plan and select
from the approximately 25,000 genes in the humanoige to identify candidate genes. To date, we have
compiled a library of over 1,300 individual cangene tests. Typically, we secure access to archivabr
biopsy samples correlated with clinical data inesr identify genes that correlate with a spedifigical
outcome

« Development phas If early development studies successfully idgrgé&nes, we conduct additional clinical
studies to refine the gene set in the specifieepatopulation of interest. We select the finalggpanel
through statistical modeling of the gene correlatiata. With a gene panel established, we thefiZenthe
remaining assay paramete

 Validation phase. Once the gene panel, assay chemistry, automatidrmnalysis specifications are finaliz
tested and verified, we begin clinical validatitmthis phase, we conduct one or more validatiadiss with
prospectively designed endpoints to test our catdidene panel and the corresponding quantitative
expression score. We are often able to conduce featidation studies using archived samples witiryef
clinical outcomes, thus saving clinical developntme.

« Commercialization and product expansion phag@gnce a test is commercialized, we may perfornitimeha
studies designed to support the test’s clinicdikyitind potentially to broaden its use in additibpatient
populations or for additional indications. Thesgdsts may include prospective studies to verify tha test
is changing physician behavior as well as tests@mmercial product in new populatio

Product Development Opportunities in Breast Cancer

Ductal Carcinoma in Situ (DCIS)

We are investigating the utility of On¢ppeDX in patients with DCIS, which affects approximt60,000
women per year in the United States. We plan ttueta the use of the OntgpeDX 21-gene panel and are also in
the early development stage of identifying othasting or new genes and gene combinations thatheaysed for
treatment planning in DCIS. In December 2008, aBEA, we presented study results demonstrating that
guantitative RT-PCR analysis is possible in DCI& fh adjacent to invasive ductal carcinoma ofttreast.
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Taxane benefit test

We are in the development phase for a productedigt the likelihood of taxane benefit in breastaar
patients. Taxanes are a class of chemotherapy thragare used in addition to traditional chemadpgregimens ii
some patients but have additional side effectsamadnost often used in patients with aggressivater stage
tumors.

Product Development Opportunities in Other Cancers

The following table describes our products in vasistages of development for cancers other thasbre

cancer:
2008 Estimate( 2008 Estimatec
Incidence— Incidence—
Product Opportunity Product Stage United States Worldwide
Colon Cance 120,00( 1,200,00!
Stage I Validation
Stage Il Early Developmen
Prostate Cance Early Developmen 270,00( 780,00(
Renal Cance Early Developmen 40,00( 210,00t
Non-small Cell Lung Cance Early Developmen 160,00( 1,200,00!
Melanoma Early Developmen 70,00( 160,00(

Colon Cancer

Stage Il colon cancer affects approximately 30,080,000 people each year in the United Statestend
current treatment paradigm is unclear. About atbfrpatients receive adjuvant chemotherapy; howeesearch
indicates that only 2% to 4% of patients benefitirthis treatment, which has significant associsedtity. While
there are existing clinical markers associated igdiyevith higher risk in colon cancer patientseté is no clinically
validated genomic test available that predictditedihood of recurrence or magnitude of chemotpgriaenefit for
individual patients.

We have conducted studies of selected genes francfmical studies across over 1,800 patient samjl
order to identify clinically useful markers for ool cancer recurrence and response to chemothahépgelected a
final set of genes that have been observed todbstgtally significantly correlated to clinical mome in stage Il
colon cancer. We are conducting an independeritalimalidation study in stage Il colon cancer éoir 18-gene
colon cancer assay, utilizing more than 1,200 pasamples from the international, multi-center (BAR trial,
which examined the benefit associated with 5-fluoagil/leucovorin adjuvant chemotherapy. Unlike @rwcotype
DX breast cancer assay that captures both recriamt treatment benefit in one Recurrence Scaeeyritgnostic
and predictive genes in the colon assay do notfavefs such, our colon cancer assay was designgérerate
both a prognostic Recurrence Score and a predittieatment Score. The clinical validation studyl witaluate the
association of the Recurrence Score with recurrénstage |l colon cancer patients treated witlysoy alone and
the association of the Treatment Score with thenitade of chemotherapy benefit in patients treatgl adjuvant
chemotherapy. We anticipate reporting results isf$tudy in the second half of 2009. If resultshi$ study are
positive, we plan to commercialize a test for catancer in 2010.

Other Cancers

We began gene discovery work under our collabanagreement with Pfizer for the development of mogeic
test to estimate the risk of recurrence followinggery for patients with Stage I-11l renal carcinmnclear cell type,
that has not spread to other parts of the body.clda cell type of renal carcinoma is the most cam type of
kidney cancer in adults. As part of the collabanatiwe plan to apply the same molecular technosogy clinical
strategy used to develop the OrigpeDX breast cancer test. We also established coltaioms and identified
sources of clinical samples in connection with piastate and lung cancer programs.
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Product Development Opportunities for Targeted Cand herapeutics

Anti-cancer drugs recently approved by the U.S.draxad Drug Administration, or FDA, and new anti-can
drugs in clinical development are designed to mlewnore targeted treatment, which should improfieasfy and
reduce side effects. A need exists to identify ¢hpatients who, based on the genomic profile df thenors, are
most likely to benefit from these therapies. Waeya genomic analysis has the potential to impatgent
selection for these therapies. We have had a nuaiflzBscussions with pharmaceutical companies déggrthe use
of OncotypeDX or our clinical development platform to ident$ybsets of patients more likely to respond to a
particular therapy.

EGFR inhibitor response test

We are in the development phase for tests to préddidikelihood of response to the epidermal grofeactor
receptor, or EGFR, inhibitor class of drugs. Faaraple, we entered into a collaborative agreemettt Biistol-
Myers Squibb Company and ImClone Systems Incorpdrat develop a genomic test to predict the likoaidh of
response to Erbitux in colorectal cancer. Erbitia targeted therapy currently approved for thettment of
metastatic colorectal cancer. The agreement prevfimeresearch funding support and milestone paysreamd
provides us commercial rights to diagnostic tesas$ tesult from the collaboration. We completedyestudies with
Bristol-Myers Squibb and ImClone and identified a small banof genes that could predict response to Erbie
are planning further studies for the developmergroEGFR inhibitor response test.

Targeted therapies in breast cancer

We entered into collaborative agreements with Aigesntd the Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group to
investigate the ability of gene expression in FBEUES to predict the likelihood of response torzaijt
chemotherapy, including the taxane Taxotere, ifeptt with early breast cancer and zero to threelred lymph
nodes. The agreements provide us with commerghtgito diagnostic tests that may result from tiboration.
Initial study results indicated that in patientshwiiormone receptor positive disease who had arRewe Score
indicating intermediate risk of recurrence or ah@aumber of candidate genes strongly predictedfitedrom
treatment with Taxotere. A genomic classifier petidg differential benefit was identified and, dlidated through
additional studies, could lead to the developméattest to predict the likelihood of benefit fraraxotere.

Technology

We utilize existing technologies such as revemasitription polymerase chain reaction, or RT-PCGR, a
information technologies and optimize and integthtam into new processes. We expect to continestend the
capabilities of the various components of our pssde develop effective products. Our technologgva us to:

Extract RNA from FPE-tumor Biopsies

Our product development requires that we be abipitmtify the relative amounts of RNA in patierf®E
tissue specimens. We have developed proprietamptéagy, intellectual property and know-how for iopzed and
automated methods for extraction and analysis cARNM FPE tissue.

Amplify and Detect Diminished Amounts of RNA Contastly

We use RT-PCR as the basis for our quantitativeeoutér pathology assays. This technology uses poiyse
chain reaction, or PCR along with fluorescent détaanethods to quantify the relative amount of RMA&
biological specimen. We believe our technologyfplat has the following advantages:

« Sensitivity. We have developed protocols for extracting arahtjtying RNA utilizing RTPCR. Our metha
for amplifying small fragmented RNA is designedattow us in the future to conduct studies with huauts
to thousands of genes from 10 micron sections & #$3ue. The ability to amplify RNA allows us to
maintain a repository of RNA from limited tissuergales that can be used for later stud
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 Specificity. Our RT-PCR platform is highly specific becausedrks only when three different test reagents,
called DNA probes and primers, independently matnth target RNA sequence to be measured. In additio
we have designed and implemented proprietary sodtfeoa selecting optimal probe and primer sequeites
an automated, high-throughput process. The altditytilize these sequences allows us to designiyhigh
specific assays for closely related sequer

» Precision and Reproducibilitt The reagents, materials, instruments and coritxalsr processes are usec
trained personnel following validated standard aepeg procedures. Validation studies have showntttese
standard operating procedures precisely quantiigteRNA with minimal variability in the assay sst
across days, instruments and operators. This enableclinical reference laboratory to produce ipatly
precise and accurate gene expression results. @litygcontrol methods for our reagents and praegss
along with our software for automation, samplekiiag, data quality control and statistical analyaidd to
the reproducibility and precision of our te

» Dynamic Range Because our RT-PCR platform can amplify small ant® of RNA in proportion to the
amount present in the sample, we are able to me&MA levels across as much as a hundred thouséohd f
range of differing RNA expression. Having a broadge of high resolution testing capability incresatte
quality of our correlations with clinical outcomasd therefore the predictive power of our te

Analyze Hundreds of Genes

The methods and know-how we have developed allote egpand RT-PCR technology to a scale that esable
screening of hundreds of genes at a time whilegusimimal amounts of tissue. During our initial ygeaf operatior
we typically screened 48 to 96 genes from a stahBRE tissue sample using RNA from three 10 misegtions o
tissue. By 2003, we routinely screened 192 germes #ach sample and, by 2004, we screened 384 gensample
Today, we have the capability to screen up to 788rdnt genes per sample without sacrificing teesitivity,
specificity and reproducibility of RT-PCR. With cimued investment in miniaturization and automatioe believe
that our technology will be capable of continuecréases in throughput.

Employ Advanced Information Technology

We have developed computer programs to automatBBtRCR assay process. We have also developed a
laboratory information management system to tragkgene-specific reagents, instruments, assay gsesend the
data generated. Similarly, we have automated delysis, storage and process quality control. \\eestististical
methods to optimize and monitor assay performanda@analyze data from our early development and
development studies.

Competition
We believe that we compete primarily on the bakis o

« the value of the quantitative information OrtypeDX provides;

« the clinical validation of OnctypeDX’s ability to predict recurrence and survivaldathe demonstration of
OncotypeDX’s ability to predict the likelihood of chemotherapsnefit;

« our ability to perform clinical studies using angdiitissue as it is currently processed, handletstored.
« our ability to screen hundreds of genes ata t

* our ability to commercialize products through olimical development platforr

« our clinical collaborations with clinical study gnos;

« the quality of our clinical reference laboratorjhieh enables consistent, reproducible res

« the level of customer service we provide, bothatgmts and health care profession

« the level of reimbursement coverage for OtypeDX;

 our ability to obtain appropriate regulatory apmisvin a timely fashion; ar
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« the inclusion of OnctypeDX in clinical practice guideline:

We believe that we compete favorably with respecthése factors, although we cannot assure yowihatill
be able to continue to do so in the future or tleat products that perform better than Othgue DX will not be
introduced. We believe that our continued succeggilds on our ability to:

 continue to innovate and maintain scientificallyaced technology

« enhance OnctypeDX to provide information in response to additiomalications;
« continue to validate our products, especially wébspect to chemotherapy bene
 continue to obtain positive reimbursement decisfons payors

« expand OncitypeDX for use in other forms of cance

» expand outside of the United Stat

« attract and retain skilled scientific and salespenel;

« obtain patents or other protection for our prodagcts technology

 obtain and maintain our clinical reference labanatccreditations and licenses; ¢
 successfully market and sell OrntypeDX.

Our principal competition comes from existing diagtic methods used by pathologists and oncolodistsse
methods have been used for many years and arddreedifficult to change or supplement. In additicompanies
offering capital equipment and kits or reagenttal pathology laboratories represent anothercgoaf potential
competition. These kits are used directly by thiag@agist, which facilitates adoption more readhwan tests like
OncotypeDX that are performed outside the pathology latwyatin addition, few diagnostic methods are as
expensive as OndgpeDX.

We also face competition from many public and gewveompanies that offer products or have conducted
research to profile genes, gene expression oriprexpression in breast cancer, such as Celerao@aipn, Clarier
Diagnostic Services, Agendia B.V., Applied GenomhisTheranostics Incorporated, Exagen and Unitersi
Genomics. Commercial laboratories with strong diation networks for diagnostic tests, such as @amez
Corporation, Laboratory Corporation of America Holgs and Quest Diagnostics Incorporated, may become
competitors. Other potential competitors includmpanies that develop diagnostic tests such as Biggnostics,
a division of Siemens AG, Roche Diagnostics, agilivi of F. Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd, and Veridex LL&C,
Johnson & Johnson company. Our competitors mayniraed commercialize technology platforms that cetap
with ours. In addition, in December 2005, the faflgovernment allocated a significant amount ofiing to The
Cancer Genome Atlas, a project aimed at developiogmprehensive catalog of the genetic mutatiodsoémer
genomic changes that occur in cancers and maintathie information in a free public database. Asano
information regarding cancer genomics becomesaailto the public, we anticipate that more prosagined at
identifying targeted treatment options will be deped and these products may compete with outaddiition,
competitors may develop their own versions of @st in countries where we did not apply for patentehere our
patents have not issued and compete with us ire tbasntries, including encouraging the use of ttesit by
physicians or patients in other countries.

Our test is considered relatively expensive foragaostic test. We increased the price of ourftest $3,650
to $3,820 effective July 1, 2008, and we may rpisees in the future. This could impact reimbursatref and
demand for OnctypeDX. Many of our present and potential competitaasenwidespread brand recognition and
substantially greater financial and technical resesiand development, production and marketinglshipes than
we do. Others may develop lower-priced, less corasts that could be viewed by physicians and rsage
functionally equivalent to our test, which couldde us to lower the list price of our test and ictpaur operating
margins and our ability to achieve profitabilityorSe competitors have developed tests cleared fdtatiag by
FDA. There may be a marketing differentiation orgeption that an FDA-cleared test is more desirttida Onco
typeDX, and that could discourage adoption and reimdrment of our test. If we are unable to competeessfally
against current or future competitors, we may hablato increase market acceptance for and sales of
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our test, which could prevent us from increasingustaining our revenues or achieving or sustaipojtability
and could cause the market price of our commorkstodecline.

Commercial Operations

We believe our future success will depend in parbor ability to continue to build a strong domestles,
marketing and reimbursement effort by interactirgatly with medical and surgical oncologists, patigists and
payors. Because oncology is a concentrated spgaiatbelieve that a focused marketing organizadiodh
specialized sales force is necessary in orderféatafely serve the oncology community. We beliewe direct sale
approach, targeting oncologists and breast camnegesns, coupled with our plans to continue to cahdhultiple
clinical studies with the objective of having rdsyublished in peer-reviewed journals, is the Bpgroach to
increase patient and physician demand and the nuofiffi@vorable reimbursement coverage decisiongaypors. In
January 2009, we hired an additional 20 U.S. sajgiesentatives, increasing our domestic sales toy33% to a
total of 80 sales representatives. All OigpeDX assays are processed in our clinical referesmioerhtory facility i
Redwood City, California. For the year ended Decen®i, 2008, we delivered more than 39,600 testrtgfior us:
in treatment planning. As of December 2008, ounicdl reference laboratory had the capacity to @ssap to
15,000 tests per calendar quarter. In December,2008unched an online physician portal with erdearealtime
delivery of patient results to physicians and thpability for placing OnctypeDX orders online.

We believe our future success will also dependaint pn our ability to continue to expand internatitly. As of
February 2009, we had received test samples fronodftries and established exclusive distributigreaments for
OncotypeDX with partners in Israel, Greece, Turkey, thetddiKingdom, Australia, Japan, Taiwan and Hong
Kong. We have completed or initiated multiple int#ional studies, including the ATAC study of bitezencer
patients treated with aromatase inhibitors condlbtethe Royal Marsden Hospital in London and thgaing
clinical validation study of our colon cancer assaing samples from the QUASAR trial, of which thajority of
samples are from the United Kingdom. In SeptembB@82the Dutch Institute for Healthcare issued tgudialinical
practice guidelines that included the use of OiypeDX for breast cancer patients. In order to suppart
international efforts, we established a subsidiar@eneva, Switzerland in February 2009 and hapeiated lead
executives in Europe and in Asia. We do not expgetnational product revenues to become a sigmifiportion o
our total revenues for at least the next threesyear

Reimbursement

Revenues for clinical laboratory tests may comenfeeveral sources, including commercial third-pagyors,
such as insurance companies and health mainteoag@eizations, government payors, such as Medaade
Medicaid, patients and, in some cases, from hdsptareferring laboratories who, in turn, bill tthiparty payors fo
testing. Reimbursement of OntygpeDX by third-party payors is essential to our comerersuccess. In addition to
the inclusion of OnctypeDX in ASCO and NCCN breast cancer treatment guidsli we believe the key factors
that will drive broader adoption of OntgpeDX will be acceptance by healthcare providers ®tlinical benefits,
demonstration of the cost-effectiveness of usingtest, expanded reimbursement by thpatty payors, and targe!
increases in marketing and sales efforts.

Several large national commercial third-party payarnumber of regional payors, including manyaeai
Blue Cross and Blue Shield plans, and Palmetto owvent Benefits Administrators, or Palmetto GB/Ag thcal
Medicare carrier for California with jurisdictiooff claims submitted by us for Medicare patientsehiasued
positive coverage determinations for OngpeDX for patients with N-, ER+ disease. In Januar@@MMedi-Cal
became the first Medicaid agency to establish epabvering our test. As of February 2009, moentB0% of all
U.S. insured lives were covered by health planspghavide reimbursement for the use of OngeeDX for N-, ER+
patients through contracts, agreements or policjsams.

Where policies, contracts or agreements are nolice, we pursue case-by-case reimbursement. W bel
that it may take several years to achieve sucdessfuobursement with nearly all payors. However,caanot
predict whether, or under what circumstances, it reimburse for our tests. Payment amountsataa vary
across individual policies and coverage and paypelities, when adopted, are generally appliedgeotvely
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rather than retroactively. Denial of coverage byqua, or payment at inadequate levels, would havetzrial
adverse impact on market acceptance of our tests.

Commercial Third-party Payors and Patient PayWhere there is a payor policy, contract or agesrm
place, we bill the payor, the hospital or referriaigoratory as well as the patient (for deductilsled coinsurance or
copayments, where applicable) in accordance witetitablished policy. Where there is no payor pafiplace, wi
pursue reimbursement on behalf of each patienteasa-by-case basis. We request that physiciaresanhilling
conversation with patients prior to a test beinignsitted to discuss the patiest'esponsibility should their policy r
cover the test. We also request that the physinfanm the patient that we will take on the primaegponsibility fo
obtaining third-party reimbursement on behalf digras, including appeals for initial denials, prio billing a
patient. With this practice established, we belithat most patients receiving the OrigpeDX test have agreed to
the test knowing that they may be responsible farasome portion of the cost of the test shotleit medical
insurer deny or limit coverage. Our efforts on bebhpatients take a substantial amount of tinred kills may not
be paid for many months, if at all. Furthermoreg thirdparty payor denies coverage after final appeatay take .
substantial amount of time to collect from the @atj and we may not be successful.

Medicare and Medicaid.In determining whether or not Medicare will pay & test, the Centers for Medicare
and Medicaid Services, or CMS, which oversees Mediccan permit the contractors who process andjealycare
claims to make that determination or it can maketonal coverage determination, which will bintiM&dicare
contractors. To date, CMS has not issued a natmmadrage determination on OnigpeDX. As a result, whether
or not Medicare will cover the test when billedusyis the decision of the local Medicare carrierGalifornia with
jurisdiction to process claims submitted by usJanuary 2006, National Heritage Insurance CompaniHIC, the
California Medicare contractor with responsibilityr processing and paying claims submitted by s po
September 2008, released a local coverage detdranirmoviding coverage for OndgpeDX when used in
accordance with the terms of the determinatiorsdptember 2008, responsibility for processing Me@iclaims
submitted by us was transitioned from NHIC to Patm&BA. In June 2008, Palmetto GBA adopted a local
coverage determination for California that inclu@scotypeDX. This coverage decision follows identical criger
as those previously set forth by NHIC.

Under current Medicare billing rules, claims for@rypeDX tests performed on Medicare beneficiaries who
were hospital inpatients at the time the tumoutssamples were obtained and whose tests weresdrliess than
14 days from discharge must be incorporated ip#yenent that the hospital receives for the inpaservices
provided. Medicare billing rules also require haoaigito bill for the test when ordered for hospdatpatients less
than 14 days following the date of the hospitalcedure where the tumor tissue samples were obtained
Accordingly, we are required to bill individual hmals for tests performed on Medicare beneficedaring these
time frames. Because we generally do not have teewragreement in place with these hospitals, we moéabe pait
for our tests or may have to pursue payment frarhthspital on a case-by-case basis. We believentattoming
under this rule represent approximately 3% of otalttesting population. We believe these billintes may lead to
confusion regarding whether Medicare provides adtgjreimbursement for our test, and could discauhgdicare
patients from using our test. Although we are wogkivith Medicare and other diagnostic laborator@esevise or
reverse these billing rules, we have no assurdratéMedicare will do so, and we also cannot enthaehospitals
will agree to arrangements to pay us for testsgperéd on patients falling under these rules.

In addition, each state Medicaid program, whichspiay services furnished to the eligible medicaligigent,
will usually make its own decision whether or mmtbver OncdypeDX. In January 2008, Medi-Cal became the
first Medicaid payor to establish a policy coveridgcotypeDX. We have also received a limited number of
approvals from other state Medicaid programs.

We have conducted clinical studies to support #eeaf OncdypeDX in patients with N+, ER+ breast cancer
and have experienced an increase in usage for henpa While some payors provide coverage forube of Onco
typeDX in patients with lymph node micrometastasis &pee than 0.2mm, but not greater than 2.0 mm i) saur
existing reimbursement coverage is generally lichtewomen with early-stage N-, ER+ breast cang&r.may not
be able to obtain reimbursement coverage for QypeDX for breast cancer patients who are N+, ER+ ithat
similar to the coverage we have obtained for estdge N-, ER+ patients.
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The majority of our current international revengesme from two sources, patient self pay from vagiou
countries and payor reimbursement in Israel throughdistribution partner. We expect internatioseles of Onco
typeDX to be heavily dependent on reimbursement irfubhgre. In many countries, governments are primaril
responsible for reimbursing diagnostic tests. Gowemts often have significant discretion in detaimg whether a
test will be reimbursed at all, and if so, how mugh be paid. Although we have agreements withriisition
partners in several countries in addition to Israel have no direct existing contracts, agreemangmlicy decision
with international payors for reimbursement coveraffOncatypeDX. We expect that it will take several years to
establish coverage and reimbursement for QpueDX in countries outside of the U.S.

Payment

Clinical laboratory testing services, when covdrgdhird-party payors, are paid under various metthagies,
including prospective payment systems and fee sdegdUnder Medicare, payment is generally madeutio
Clinical Laboratory Fee Schedule with amounts amsigto specific procedure billing codes. Each Madicarrier
jurisdiction has a fee schedule that establisheptite for each specific laboratory billing cod@e Social Securit
Act establishes that these fee schedule amounts &eeincreased annually, subject to certain étians, by the
percentage increase in the consumer price indePdrfor the prior year. Congress has frequesrtydlated that
the CPI increase not be implemented. In the MediPaescription Drug, Improvement and Moderniza#ah of
2003, or MMA, Congress eliminated the CPI updateugh 2008. In addition, the National Limitation Ammt, or
NLA, which acts as a ceiling on Medicare reimbursaimis set at a percentage of the median of alt#urier fee
schedule amounts for each test code. In the pasgi€ss has frequently lowered the percentagesafitdian used
to calculate the NLA in order to achieve budgetisgs. Currently, the NLA ceiling is set at 74% bétmedians for
established tests and 100% of the median for dstgntests for which no limitation amount was elshed prior to
2001. Thus, no Medicare carrier can pay more tharNLA amount for any specific code.

There is no specific Current Procedural Termino|agyCPT, procedure code or group of codes to te&poco
typeDX. Therefore, the test generally must be repoutedier a non-specific, unlisted procedure code, lwhsc
subject to manual review of each claim. We wererimied by NHIC that, under the local coverage deiteation,
claims are to be paid consistent with the averdigeved reimbursement rate for OnggeDX claims that were
billed and processed to completion as of Septerd®e2005. This rate remains in effect at the datais report.

A Healthcare Common Procedure Coding System, orG&€ode has been issued effective January 1, 2006
that some private third-party payors may acceptlaims for the OnctypeDX test. Medicare will not accept this
HCPCS code, however. In the future, we may mowedad with plans to obtain specific CPT procedurdiag. If
we do move forward with plans to obtain specificfTG®ding, there is no assurance that specific gpdiii be
adopted. Whether or not we obtain a specific CR¥edor the test, there can be no assurance thedeguate
payment rate will continue to be assigned to tse te

On several occasions, including in 2003 duringrtbgotiations over the MMA, Congress has considered
imposing a 20% co-insurance amount on clinical latwy services, which would require beneficiatiepay a
portion of the cost of their clinical laboratonsting. Although that requirement has not been eubat this time,
Congress could decide to impose such an obligatidome point in the future. If so, it could makmore difficult
for us to collect co-insurance payments for OtyqeDX.

Regulation

Clinical Laboratory Improvement Amendments of 1988

As a clinical reference laboratory, we are requiretold certain federal, state and local licensesdjfications
and permits to conduct our business. Under CLIAavgerequired to hold a certificate applicablehms tiype of worl
we perform and to comply with standards covering@enel, facilities administration, quality systeamsl
proficiency testing.

We have a certificate of accreditation under CLdAperform testing and are accredited by CAP. Teweaur
CLIA certificate, we are subject to survey and exdjpn every two years to assess compliance wigram
standards. The standards applicable to the testinch we perform may change over time. We cannstir@syou
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that we will be able to operate profitably showdulatory compliance requirements become subslgntiare
costly in the future.

If our clinical reference laboratory is out of compce with CLIA requirements, we may be subjecsdaction
such as suspension, limitation or revocation of @QUIA certificate, as well as directed plan of aation, state
on-site monitoring, civil money penalties, civijumctive suit or criminal penalties. We must maimt&LIA
compliance and certification to be eligible to it services provided to Medicare beneficiariésve were to be
found out of compliance with CLIA program requiremeand subjected to sanction, our business caulthbmed.

U.S. Food and Drug Administration

FDA regulates the sale or distribution throughiisitete commerce of medical devices, including frovi
diagnostic test kits. Devices subject to FDA retiafamust undergo pre-market review prior to conueiadization
unless the device is of a type exempted from seeiew. In addition, manufacturers of medical degioauist
comply with various regulatory requirements under Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act and reguilati
promulgated under that Act, including quality systeeview regulations, unless exempted from thogairements
for particular types of devices. Entities that failcomply with FDA requirements can be liable éaminal or civil
penalties, such as recalls, detentions, ordereaeecmanufacturing and restrictions on labelingpaochotion.

Clinical laboratory tests like OndgpeDX are regulated under CLIA, as administered by ClkSwell as by
applicable state laws. Diagnostic kits that arel swid distributed through interstate commerce egalated as
medical devices by FDA. Clinical laboratory testattare developed and validated by a laboratoritfawn use ai
called laboratory developed tests, or LDTs. MosfsRurrently are not subject to FDA regulationhailtgh
reagents or software provided by third parties asetl to perform LDTs may be subject to regulative.believe
that OncatypeDX is not a diagnostic kit and also believe thas ian LDT. As a result, we believe Oriype DX
should not be subject to regulation under estabtigFDA policies. The container we provide for cciien and
transport of tumor samples from a pathology lalmgato our clinical reference laboratory may besidared a
medical device subject to FDA regulation but isrently exempt from pre-market review by FDA.

In January 2006, we received a letter from FDA rdig@ OncotypeDX inviting us to meet with FDA to
discuss the nature and appropriate regulatorysstdtand the least burdensome ways that we maill arfy FDA
pre-market review requirements that may apply.dpt8mber 2006, FDA issued draft guidance on a nass of
tests called “In Vitro Diagnostic Multivariate Indéssays”, or IVDMIAs. Under this draft guidancen&typeDX
could be classified as either a Class Il or a Clhseedical device, which may require varying lé&ssef FDA pre-
market review depending upon intended use andetettel of control necessary to assure the safety a
effectiveness of the test. In July 2007, FDA postadsed draft guidance that addressed some afdimenents
submitted in response to the September 2006 duafaigce. The revised draft guidance includes amdgth
transition period of FDA enforcement discretiondaling release of final guidance for currently dahle tests if th
laboratory submits a pre-market review submissighiw12 months of the publication of final guidandhe
comment period for this revised guidance expire@atober 2007.

In May 2007, FDA issued a guidance document “ClBSgecial Controls Guidance Document: Gene
Expression Profiling Test System for Breast Caregnosis.” This guidance document was developsdpport
the classification of gene expression profiling sstems for breast cancer prognosis into Clags Hddition, in
June 2007, FDA issued a guidance document “Phamgeaetic Tests and Genetic Tests for Heritable Matke
which provides recommendations to sponsors and FEDi&wers in preparing and reviewing pre-marketrapal
applications, or PMA, and pre-market naotification 510(k), submissions for pharmacogenetic andrdthman
genetic tests, whether testing is for single markerfor multiple markers simultaneously (multiptests).

In addition, the Secretary of the Department ofltheand Human Services, or HHS, requested thatdtssory
Committee on Genetics, Health and Society makememendations about the oversight of genetic testinfinal
report was published in April 2008. If the repsntecommendations for increased oversight of getesting were 1
result in further regulatory burdens it could havweegative impact on our business and could daky t
commercialization of tests in development.
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We are continuing our ongoing dialogue with FDA &#dS regarding the OndgpeDX breast cancer assay.
We cannot provide any assurance that FDA regulatimtuding pre-market review, will not be requiredthe
future for OncaypeDX, either through new enforcement policies adojftgdDA or new legislation enacted by
Congress. It is possible that legislation will beeted into law and may result in increased regojaturdens for us
to continue to offer the OndgpeDX assay.

If pre-market review is required, our business ddé negatively impacted until such review is coetgdd and
clearance to market or approval is obtained, and E@uld require that we stop selling our test pagdire-market
clearance or approval. If our test is allowed tma@ on the market but there is uncertainty aboutest, if it is
labeled investigational by FDA, or if labeling at@ FDA allows us to make are limited, orders amtmirsement
may decline. The regulatory approval process meglue, among other things, successfully complesidditional
clinical trials and submitting a pre-market clea@mnotice or filing a PMA application with FDA. pire-market
review is required by FDA, there can be no asswraimat our test will be cleared or approved omreely basis, if at
all. Ongoing compliance with FDA regulations woindrease the cost of conducting our business, abjgst us to
inspection by FDA and to the requirements of FDA penalties for failure to comply with these requients. We
may also decide voluntarily to pursue FDA pre-markeiew of OncaypeDX if we determine that doing so would
be appropriate.

Should any of the reagents obtained by us from @enand used in conducting our test be affecteflifoye
regulatory actions, our business could be adveafébgted by those actions, including increasirgdbst of testing
or delaying, limiting or prohibiting the purchaskreagents necessary to perform testing.

Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act

Under the federal Health Insurance Portability Acdountability Act of 1996, or HIPAA, HHS has isslie
regulations to protect the privacy and securitpratected health information used or discloseddmsith care
providers, such as us. HIPAA also regulates staliwhtion of data content, codes and formats uséeaith care
transactions and standardization of identifiershiealth plans and providers. Penalties for viotatiof HIPAA
regulations include civil and criminal penalties.

We developed policies and procedures to comply thiése regulations by the respective compliance
enforcement dates. The requirements under thes&tmms may change periodically and could haveféect on
our business operations if compliance becomes autistly more costly than under current requireraent

In addition to federal privacy regulations, there a number of state laws governing confidentiaditjealth
information that are applicable to our operatid#sw laws governing privacy may be adopted in therfuas well.
We have taken steps to comply with health infororaprrivacy requirements to which we are aware \weare
subject. However, we can provide no assurancenbatre or will remain in compliance with diversévpcy
requirements in all of the jurisdictions in whicke o business. Failure to comply with privacy regmients could
result in civil or criminal penalties, which coutdve a materially adverse impact on our business.

Federal and State Physician Self-referral Prohilotis

We are subject to the federal physician self-retegrohibitions commonly known as the Stark Lawd &m
similar restrictions under California’s Physiciaw@ership and Referral Act, commonly known as POR&gether
these restrictions generally prohibit us from hilia patient or any governmental or private pagoahy test when
the physician ordering the test, or any membeuohgphysiciars immediate family, has an investment interesti
compensation arrangement with us, unless the anaegt meets an exception to the prohibition.

Both the Stark Law and PORA contain an exceptiondterrals made by physicians who hold investment
interests in a publicly traded company that haskdtolders’ equity exceeding $75 million at the efidks most
recent fiscal year or on average during the presvibree fiscal years, and which satisfies certdierorequirements.
In addition, both the Stark Law and PORA contairegception for compensation paid to a physiciarpnsonal
services rendered by the physician. We have conatiensarrangements with a number of physicianpévsonal
services, such as speaking engagements and spddsienpreparation. We have structured these geraants
with terms intended to comply with the requiremesftthe personal services exception to Stark anRRO
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However, we can not be certain that regulators d/fintl these arrangements to be in compliance $f#nk, PORA
or similar state laws. We would be required to nefany payments we receive pursuant to a referodiilpited by
these laws to the patient, the payor or the Medipangram, as applicable.

Sanctions for a violation of the Stark Law inclutie following:

« denial of payment for the services provided inaian of the prohibition

» refunds of amounts collected by an entity in violatof the Stark Law

« acivil penalty of up to $15,000 for each servidsiag out of the prohibited referre

» possible exclusion from federal healthcare prograntduding Medicare and Medicaid; a

« a civil penalty of up to $100,000 against parthest enter into a scheme to circumvent the Stark$aw
prohibition.

These prohibitions apply regardless of the reagamthe financial relationship and the referral. ffaling of
intent to violate the Stark Law is required forialation. In addition, under an emerging legal tlyp&nowing
violations of the Stark Law may also serve as tmdfor liability under the Federal False Claint.A

Further, a violation of PORA is a misdemeanor amda result in civil penalties and criminal finésnally,
other states have self-referral restrictions wittiolh we have to comply that differ from those impad$y federal
and California law. While we have attempted to chnwath the Stark Law, PORA and similar laws of etlstates,
it is possible that some of our financial arrangetsavith physicians could be subject to regulasamutiny at some
point in the future, and we cannot provide an asste that we will be found to be in compliance wfitese laws
following any such regulatory review.

Federal and State Anti-kickback Laws

The Federal Anti-kickback Law makes it a felony éoprovider or supplier, including a laboratory, to
knowingly and willfully offer, pay, solicit or redee remuneration, directly or indirectly, in orderinduce business
that is reimbursable under any federal health pesgram. A violation of the Anti-kickback Law magsult in
imprisonment for up to five years and fines of a$250,000 in the case of individuals and $500j8GBe case of
organizations. Convictions under the Anti-kickbaglw result in mandatory exclusion from federal kieahre
programs for a minimum of five years. In additibtHlS has the authority to impose civil assessmemddiaes and
to exclude health care providers and others engageahibited activities from Medicare, Medicaidcaother
federal health care programs.

Actions which violate the Anti-kickback Law or silai laws may also involve liability under the Fealdfalse
Claims Act, which prohibits the knowing presentataf a false, fictitious or fraudulent claim forywaent to the
U.S. Government. Actions under the Federal Fals@l Act may be brought by the Department of Jasiichy a
private individual in the name of the government.

Although the Anti-kickback Law applies only to fedehealth care programs, a number of states, dimoju
California, have passed statutes substantiallyairto the Anti-kickback Law pursuant to which sianitypes of
prohibitions are made applicable to all other Heplans and third-party payors. Both Californigge{splitting
statute, Business and Professions Section 650tsahtkdi-Cal anti-kickback statute, Welfare andtitusions Code
Section 14107.2, have been interpreted by the@ald Attorney General and California courts instabtially the
same way as HHS and the courts have interpretefirttikickback Law. A violation of Section 650 ispishable
by imprisonment and fines of up to $50,000. A vilola of Section 14107.2 is punishable by imprisontrand fines
of up to $10,000.

Federal and state law enforcement authoritiesis@zatarrangements between health care providets an
potential referral sources to ensure that the geaents are not designed as a mechanism to incétieatcare
referrals and opportunities. The law enforcemettatities, the courts and Congress have also detnaded a
willingness to look behind the formalities of artsaction to determine the underlying purpose ofrpays between
health care providers and actual or potential rafeources. Generally, courts have taken a bnutadgretation of
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the scope of the Anti-kickback Law, holding thag #tatute may be violated if merely one purposz mdyment
arrangement is to induce future referrals.

In addition to statutory exceptions to the Akitkback Law, regulations provide for a number afiesharbors.
an arrangement meets the provisions of a safe hatlimdeemed not to violate the Anti-kickbackw.aAn
arrangement must fully comply with each elemerdrofipplicable safe harbor in order to qualify fastpction.
There are no regulatory safe harbors to Califosn&ection 650.

Among the safe harbors that may be relevant tg tisei discount safe harbor. The discount safe harbo
potentially applies to discounts provided by prevgland suppliers, including laboratories, to ptigsis or
institutions where the physician or institutionidthe payor for the test, not when the laboratuifg the payor
directly. If the terms of the discount safe harlg met, the discounts will not be considered itdd remuneratic
under the Anti-kickback Law. This safe harbor mlagrefore be potentially applicable to our agreemémsell tests
to hospitals where the hospital submits a claihéopayor.

California does not have a discount safe harbowéder, as noted above, Section 650 has generadly be
interpreted consistent with the Anti-kickback Law.

The personal services safe harbor to the Anti-kackllaw provides that remuneration paid to a refesource
for personal services will not violate the Antikiack Law provided all of the elements of that dadebor are met.
One element is that, if the agreement is intendqatavide for the services of the physician on @ggkc, sporadic
or part-time basis, rather than on a full-time bdsr the term of the agreement, the agreemenifsgzeexactly the
schedule of such intervals, their precise lengthl, the exact charge for such intervals. Our pelsseraices
arrangements with some physicians did not meegpkeific requirement of this safe harbor that tpeeament
specify exactly the schedule of the intervals wfetito be spent on the services because the ndttire services,
such as speaking engagements, does not lendtasthct scheduling and therefore meeting this efgrof the
personal services safe harbor is impractical. Fatla meet the terms of the safe harbor does nderean
arrangement illegal. Rather, such arrangements beustaluated under the language of the statliegtanto
account all facts and circumstances.

While we believe that we are in compliance with &rgi-kickback Law and Section 650, there can be no
assurance that our relationships with physiciaospltals and other customers will not be subjeatvestigation or
a successful challenge under such laws. If impésedny reason, sanctions under the Anti-kickbaalvland
Section 650 could have a negative effect on ouinkss.

Other Federal and State Fraud and Abuse Laws

In addition to the requirements that are discusdexve, there are several other health care fraddlbnse laws
that could have an impact on our business. For piamrovisions of the Social Security Act permiedidicare and
Medicaid to exclude an entity that charges ther@deealth care programs substantially in excests afsual
charges for its services. The terms “usual chaagel’“substantially in excess” are ambiguous angestibo varying
interpretations.

Further, the Federal False Claims Act prohibiteespn from knowingly submitting a claim or makintpise
record or statement in order to secure paymenhéyeaderal government. In addition to actions anéd by the
government itself, the statute authorizes actiortsetbrought on behalf of the federal governmenrd pyivate party
having knowledge of the alleged fraud. Becausetimeplaint is initially filed under seal, the actioray be pending
for some time before the defendant is even awatkeofction. If the government is ultimately sustekin
obtaining redress in the matter or if the plaingificceeds in obtaining redress without the goventimévolvement
then the plaintiff will receive a percentage of theovery. Finally, the Social Security Act inclsdes own
provisions that prohibit the filing of false claims submitting false statements in order to obggipment. Violation
of these provisions may result in fines, imprisontrar both, and possible exclusion from Medicar&ledicaid
programs. California has an analogous state fédsmg act applicable to all payors, as do manyroghees.
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California Laboratory Licensing

In addition to federal certification requiremenfdaboratories under CLIA, licensure is required amaintaine!
for our clinical reference laboratory under Califiarlaw. Such laws establish standards for thetdajay operation
of a clinical laboratory, including the trainingdskills required of personnel and quality conttoladdition,
California laws mandate proficiency testing, whiholves testing of specimens that have been dpaliyf
prepared for the laboratory.

If our clinical reference laboratory is out of coimpce with California standards, the Californiagagment of
Health Services, or DHS, may suspend, restrickwoke our license to operate our clinical referdaberatory,
assess substantial civil money penalties, or imgpseific corrective action plans. Any such actioosld materiall
affect our business. We maintain a current licengmod standing with DHS. However, we cannot padevi
assurance that DHS will at all times in the futfinel us to be in compliance with all such laws.

New York Laboratory Licensing

Because we receive specimens from New York Stateclmical reference laboratory is required tdibensed
by New York. We maintain such licensure for ounidal reference laboratory under New York statesland
regulations, which establish standards for:

 day-to-day operation of a clinical laboratory, indihg training and skill levels required of labangt
personnel

« physical requirements of a facilit
e equipment; ani
 quality control.

New York law also mandates proficiency testinglédioratories licensed under New York state lawarélgss
of whether or not such laboratories are locatddaw York. If a laboratory is out of compliance wittew York
statutory or regulatory standards, the New YorkeSEepartment of Health, or DOH, may suspend, Jimitoke or
annul the laboratory’s New York license, censurasithe holder of the license or assess civil mqesplties.
Statutory or regulatory noncompliance may resuét laboratory’s being found guilty of a misdemeamotder New
York law. Should we be found out of compliance witw York laboratory requirements, we could be sabjo
such sanctions, which could harm our business. \Alatain a current license in good standing with D®ldwever
we cannot provide assurance that DOH will at aliet find us to be in compliance with all such laws.

Other States’ Laboratory Testing

Florida, Maryland, Pennsylvania and Rhode Islamglire out-of-state laboratories which accept speaisn
from those states to be licensed. We have obtdicemases in those four states and believe we atenmpliance witl
applicable licensing laws.

From time to time, we may become aware of othdestdnat require out-cftate laboratories to obtain licens
in order to accept specimens from the state, aiscpibssible that other states do have such regaints or will have
such requirements in the future. If we identify antlyer state with such requirements or if we argacted by any
other state advising us of such requirements, temihto follow instructions from the state regutatas to how we
should comply with such requirements.

Environmental Laws

We are subject to regulation under federal, statel@cal laws and regulations governing environrakent
protection and the use, storage, handling and s&ms hazardous substances. The cost of compiyitigthese
laws and regulations may be significant. Our atiégicurrently require the controlled use of pdtdiyt harmful
biological materials, hazardous materials and chalsi We cannot eliminate the risk of accidentatamination or
injury to employees or third parties from the userage, handling or disposal of these materialthé event of
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contamination or injury, we could be held liable &my resulting damages, and any liability couldesd our
resources or any applicable insurance coverage ayehawe.

Regulation Outside of the United States

For marketing outside the United States, we argestito foreign regulatory requirements governingnian
clinical testing and marketing approval for ourguots. These requirements vary by jurisdictiorfedifrom those i
the United States and may require us to perfornitiaddl pre-clinical or clinical testing. In manypgntries outside
of the United States, coverage, pricing and reirsdnent approvals are also required.

Patents and Proprietary Technology

In order to remain competitive, we must develop araintain protection on the proprietary aspectsusf
technologies. To that end, we rely on a combinatiopatents, patent applications, copyrights aadeémarks, as
well as contracts, such as confidentiality, matetéa transfer, license and invention assignmgreeaments. We
also rely upon trade secret laws to protect sonpearements, know-how and continuing technologiicadavation.
In addition, we have what we consider to be reasiensecurity measures in place to maintain confidbty. Our
intellectual property strategy is intended to depednd maintain our competitive position.

As of December 31, 2008, we had two issued paterte U.S., one of which was issued jointly tcansl to
NSABP, and a number of pending U.S. patent apjdicat including provisional and n-provisional filings. Our
issued patents expire in 2023 and 2024, respegti8eime of these U.S. patent applications also haxesponding
pending or granted applications under the Patenp&ation Treaty in Canada, Europe, Japan, Austaald other
jurisdictions. In these patent applications, weehaither sole or joint ownership positions. In #theases where joil
ownership positions were created, we have negdt@iatractual provisions providing us with the ogipnity to
acquire exclusive rights under the patent appticeti Under three patent applications, we haveesldot allow
exclusive options to lapse without exercising tpgan. The joint ownership agreements generallyiratbe form of
material data transfer agreements that were exg:attie onset of our collaborations with thirdties:

Our patent applications relate to two main areasegexpression technology methods, and gene mdcdkers
cancer recurrence and drug response in certairsfofroancer. We intend to file additional patentlaations in the
United States and abroad to strengthen our intabiéproperty rights. Our patent applications maynesult in
issued patents, and we cannot assure you thataegtp that might issue will protect our technolo§gy patents
issued to us in the future may be challenged by tharties as being invalid or unenforceable, odtpharties may
independently develop similar or competing techgylthat is not covered by our patents. We cannaiebtin that
the steps we have taken will prevent the misappatipn of our intellectual property, particularly foreign
countries where the laws may not protect our petary rights as fully as in the United States.

We have received notices of claims of infringememsappropriation or misuse of other parties’ preary
rights in the past and may from time to time reeeidditional notices. Some of these claims may teditigation.
We cannot assure you that we will prevail in thesions, or that other actions alleging misappedjmn or misuse
by us of third-party trade secrets, infringemenubyof third-party patents and trademarks or tHielitya of patents
issued to us in the future, will not be assertedrosecuted against us, or that any assertionssafppropriation,
infringement or misuse or prosecutions seekingtaldish the validity of our patents will not maadly or adversel
affect our business, financial condition and ressaftoperations.

An adverse determination in litigation or interfece proceedings to which we may become a partginglto
any patents issued to us in the future or any patamned by third parties could subject us to sigant liabilities to
third parties or require us to seek licenses froimd tparties. Furthermore, if we are found to willy infringe these
patents, we could, in addition to other penaltiesrequired to pay treble damages. Although paedtintellectual
property disputes in this area have often beefteddtirough licensing or similar arrangements, £associated with
such arrangements may be substantial and coulddeangoing royalties. We may be unable to obtaaessary
licenses on satisfactory or commercially feasiblenss, if at all. If we do not obtain necessaryrimes, we may not
be able to redesign OntypeDX or other of our tests to avoid infringementsach redesign may take considerable
time, and force us to reassess our business @#ansrse determinations in a judicial or administet
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proceeding or failure to obtain necessary licemsesd prevent us from manufacturing and selling @ypeDX or
other of our tests, which would have a significaderse impact on our business.

All employees and technical consultants workingusmare required to execute confidentiality agragsi
connection with their employment and consultingtiehships with us. Confidentiality agreements jmevhat all
confidential information developed or made knowmtioers during the course of the employment, caimgubr
business relationship shall be kept confidentiakegx in specified circumstances. In addition, agrerts with
employees provide that all inventions conceivedhayindividual while employed by us are our exclegproperty.
We cannot provide any assurance that employeesarsiitants will abide by the confidentiality osagment
terms of these agreements. Despite measures t@lpeatect our intellectual property, unauthorizedtigs might
copy aspects of our technology or obtain and uernration that we regard as proprietary.

Roche License Agreement

We license from Roche Molecular Systems, Inc., aoraexclusive basis, a number of U.S. patentsnitej
nucleic acid amplification processes known as pelyase chain reaction, or PCR, homogeneous polymehasn
reaction, and RT-PCR. We use these processes mesesrch and development and in the processiogrdests.
The Roche license is limited to the performanceliofcal laboratory services within the United ®sand Puerto
Rico, and does not include the right to make drselducts using the patented processes. The koemistinues as
long as the underlying patent rights are in effbat,is subject to early termination by Roche urttierfollowing
circumstances:

« achange in our ownershi

 adeclaration of bankruptcy or insolvency, the mglof an assignment for the benefit of our creditbaving
a receiver appointed, or losing the federal oediaenses necessary for our operat

< achange in our status to a -profit entity or government institution; «
 our breach of or default under a material termheflicense

If the Roche license is terminated, we will be Uadb use the licensed processes to conduct résaact
development or to perform our tests. As paymentterlicenses granted to us, we make royalty paysrterRoche
consisting of a specified percentage of our netmeres.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses were $28.6rm#2.1 million and $12.8 million for the yearded
December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectivelin@@008, we continued to conduct research andlderent
studies in breast cancer, colon cancer and otmeecs. We began gene discovery work under ourlomitdion
agreement for the development of a genomic tesstimate the risk of recurrence following surgeyygatients
with Stage I-1ll renal carcinoma, clear cell typée also established collaborations and identifmatees of clinical
samples in connection with our prostate and lumgeaprograms.

Employees

As of December 31, 2008, we had 387 employeegqydivay 72 in clinical reference laboratory operasioh09
in research and development, 117 in sales and tiragkd9 in information technology, including biéémmatics,
and 40 in general and administrative functionsluiding finance, human resources and facilities. &Nohour
employees are covered by collective bargainingngements, and our management considers its redaifpswith
employees to be good.

Available Information

We were incorporated in Delaware in August 200@, @ website is located atvw.genomichealth.coriive
make available free of charge on our website onuahreports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on
Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8aKd amendments to those reports, as soon as réasprecticable after w
electronically file or furnish such materials t@t8ecurities and Exchange Commission. Our websdete

24




Table of Contents

information contained therein or connected theagtonot intended to be incorporated into this AhiRRegport on
Form 10-K.

ITEM 1A. Risk FACTORS.

We are an early stage company with a history of lestses, and we expect to incur net losses forftlieseeable
future.

We have incurred substantial net losses sincenmeption. For the year ended December 31, 200&cuered
net losses of $16.1 million. From our inceptiorAimgust 2000 through December 31, 2008, we had emnaulated
deficit of $168.5 million. To date, we have notdame may never, achieve revenues sufficient teebEgpenses.
We expect to devote substantially all of our resesito continue to invest in our product pipelineluding Onco
typeDX and future products, and our commercial and datooy infrastructure.

We expect to incur additional losses in the futumd we may never achieve profitability.

We expect to continue to incur significant researand development expenses, which may make it diffifor
us to achieve profitability.

In recent years, we have incurred significant cost®nnection with the development of OrtigpeDX. Our
research and development expenses were $28.6mfillidhe year ended December 31, 2008. We expgct o
research and development expense levels to rerighirahd to continue to increase for the foresechiblee as we
seek to expand the clinical utility of our existitggt and develop new tests. As a result, we e#idhto generate
significant revenues in order to achieve profitiahilOur failure to achieve profitability in thetfure could cause the
market price of our common stock to decline.

Declining general economic or business conditiongyrhave a negative impact on our business.

Concerns over inflation, deflation, energy cosenmplitical issues, the availability and cost addit, the
Federal stimulus package, Federal budget propdbal$).S. mortgage market and a declining reatestarket in
the U.S. have contributed to increased volatilitg diminished expectations for the global economy a
expectations of slower global economic growth gdiorgvard. These factors, combined with volatilepikes,
declining business and consumer confidence, ardeglstock market and increased unemployment, have
precipitated an economic slowdown and recessiaheleconomic climate in the U.S. does not impraveontinue:
to deteriorate, our business, including our patgulation, our suppliers and our third-party paycould be
negatively affected, resulting in a negative impatbur product revenues.

If third-party payors, including managed care orga@ations and Medicare, do not provide reimbursement
rescind their favorable reimbursement policies f@mcotype DX, its commercial success could be compsed.

Physicians and patients may decide not to orden®mpeDX unless third-party payors, such as managed care
organizations as well as government payors sudheaticare and Medicaid, pay a substantial portiotheftest
price. Reimbursement by a third-party payor mayetkepon a number of factors, including a payor'®duatnation
that tests using our technologies are:

« not experimental or investigation

« medically necessar

 appropriate for the specific patie
 cos-effective,

» supported by pe-reviewed publications, ar

« included in clinical practice guideline
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There is uncertainty concerning third-party paymmbursement of any test, including OrigpeDX. Several
entities conduct technology assessments of metgistd and devices and provide the results of #ssessments for
informational purposes to other parties. Thesesassents may be used by third-party payors andrheate
providers as grounds to deny coverage for a tegtamedure. Although there are a number of faveraskessments
of OncotypeDX, the test has received negative assessmertis paist and may receive additional negative
assessments in the future.

Since each payor makes its own decision as to whathestablish a policy to reimburse our testkisgethese
approvals is a time-consuming and costly processidake, we have secured policy-level reimburserapptoval
from a number of third-party payors. We cannot &gain that coverage for Ontgpe DX will be provided in the
future by additional third-party payors or thatsixig reimbursement policies will remain in place.

Under current Medicare billing rules, claims for@rypeDX tests performed on Medicare beneficiaries who
were hospital inpatients at the time the tumoutssamples were obtained and whose tests weresdrliess than
14 days from discharge must be incorporated ip#yenent that the hospital receives for the inpaservices
provided. Medicare billing rules also require haalsito bill for the test when ordered for hospdatpatients less
than 14 days following the date of the hospitalcedure where the tumor tissue samples were obtained
Accordingly, we are required to bill individual hpals for tests performed on Medicare beneficedaring these
time frames. Because we generally do not have tsewragreement in place with these hospitals, we moébe paid
for our tests or may have to pursue payment frerhtispital on a case-by-case basis. We believenpattoming
under this rule represent approximately 3% of otalttesting population. We believe these billintes may lead to
confusion regarding whether Medicare provides adtgreimbursement for our test, and could discauMgdicare
patients from using our test. Although we are wogkivith Medicare and other diagnostic laboratoriesevise or
reverse these billing rules, we have no assurdrateéMedicare will do so, and we also cannot enthathospitals
will agree to arrangements to pay us for testsogperéd on patients falling under these rules.

Insurers, including managed care organizationsedlsas government payors such as Medicare and Migklic
have increased their efforts to control the codlization and delivery of health care servicerfrtime to time,
Congress has considered and implemented changfes edicare fee schedules in conjunction with tatay
legislation. Further reductions of reimbursement\iedicare services may be implemented from timinte.
Reductions in the reimbursement rates of othed4party payors have occurred and may occur inuhed. These
measures have resulted in reduced payment ratedeaneiased test utilization for the clinical laltorg industry.

Following reporting of clinical studies to supptite use of OnctypeDX in patients with N+, ER+ breast
cancer, we experienced an increase in usage fgatents. While some payors provide coverage fense of
OncotypeDX in patients with lymph node micrometastasisqlésn 2mm in size), our existing reimbursement
coverage is generally limited to women with eatigge N-, ER+ breast cancer. We may not be ablétairo
reimbursement coverage for Oniype DX for breast cancer patients who are N+, ER+ ithaimilar to the coverag
we have obtained for early-stage, BR+ patients. In addition, we may not be ablelitain reimbursement covere
for any other new test or test enhancement we reagldp in the future.

If we are unable to obtain reimbursement appravahfprivate payors and Medicare and Medicaid progra
for OncotypeDX, or if the amount reimbursed is inadequate, ahility to generate revenues from Orgpe DX
could be limited. Even if we are being reimbursadurers may withdraw their coverage policies aroeh their
contracts with us at any time, stop paying fortest or reduce the payment rate for our test, wiighld reduce ot
revenue.

We depend on a limited number of payors for a sfigant portion of our product revenues and if these other
payors stop providing reimbursement or decreasedhgunt of reimbursement for our test, our revenuesuld
decline.

For the years ended December 31, 2008 and 200 haywe, Medicare, as administered by NHIC and Ptbtme
GBA, accounted for 22% and 23% of our product rexesn respectively. Another payor, United HealthCare
Insurance Company, accounted for 9% and 13% opmduct revenues for the years ended Decembel0O88, @nd
2007, respectively. NHIC was the local Medicareieafor California with jurisdiction
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for claims submitted by us for Medicare patientthi@ United States prior to September 2008, whepamsibility
for processing Medicare claims submitted by us treassitioned from NHIC to Palmetto GBA. In the frguit is
possible that Palmetto GBA or other third-party graythat provide reimbursement for our test mayend, revoke
or discontinue coverage at any time, or may redinbeeeimbursement rates payable to us. Any sucbrectould
have a negative impact on our revenues.

If FDA were to begin regulating our test, we coul forced to stop sales of Oncotype DX, we coutdiin
substantial costs and time delays associated wideting requirements for pre-market clearance or appal or
we could experience decreased demand for or reinsieanent of our test.

Clinical laboratory tests like OndgpeDX are regulated under CLIA, as administered thtoGH1S, as well as
by applicable state laws. Diagnostic kits thatsavel and distributed through interstate commeregegulated as
medical devices by FDA. Clinical laboratory testattare developed and validated by a laboratontSawn use ai
called laboratory developed tests, or LDTs. MosfTkre not currently subject to FDA regulationhaitgh
reagents or software provided by third parties asetl to perform LDTs may be subject to regulative.believe
that OncatypeDX is not a diagnostic kit and also believe thas ian LDT. As a result, we believe Oriype DX
should not be subject to regulation under estadtisFDA policies. The container we provide for cctien and
transport of tumor samples from a pathology lalmygato our clinical reference laboratory may be edinal device
subject to FDA regulation but is currently exenmpinfi pre-market review by FDA.

In January 2006, we received a letter from FDA réiyg OncotypeDX inviting us to meet with FDA to
discuss the nature and appropriate regulatorysstdtand the least burdensome ways that we maill iy FDA
pre-market review requirements that may apply.dpt&mber 2006, FDA issued draft guidance on a rass of
tests called “In Vitro Diagnostic Multivariate Indéssays”, or IVDMIAs. Under this draft guidancen€dtypeDX
could be classified as either a Class Il or a Clkssedical device, which may require varying lé&ssef FDA pre-
market review depending upon intended use andetettel of control necessary to assure the safety a
effectiveness of the test. In July 2007, FDA postadsed draft guidance that addressed some afdimenents
submitted in response to the September 2006 duaftigce. The revised draft guidance includes amdgth
transition period of FDA enforcement discretiondaling release of final guidance for currently metdd tests if
the laboratory submits a pre-market review submisgiithin 12 months of the publication of final gance. The
comment period for this revised guidance expire@datober 2007.

In May 2007, FDA issued a guidance document “ClBSgecial Controls Guidance Document: Gene
Expression Profiling Test System for Breast Caftegnosis.” This guidance document was developsdpport
the classification of gene expression profiling ®stems for breast cancer prognosis into Clags Hddition, in
June 2007, FDA issued a guidance document “Phamgeaetic Tests and Genetic Tests for Heritable Matke
which provides recommendations to sponsors and Fviewers in preparing and reviewing pre-marketayal
applications, or PMA, and pre-market notification 510(k), submissions for pharmacogenetic andrdthman
genetic tests, whether testing is for single markeifor multiple markers simultaneously (multipkests).

In addition, the Secretary of the Department oflthe@nd Human Services, or HHS, requested thatdigsory
Committee on Genetics, Health and Society makememendations about the oversight of genetic testinfinal
report was published in April 2008. If the repsntecommendations for increased oversight of getesting were 1
result in further regulatory burdens it could havweegative impact on our business and could dbky t
commercialization of tests in development.

We are continuing our ongoing dialogue with FDA &#dS regarding the OndgpeDX breast cancer assay.
We cannot provide any assurance that FDA regulatimmtuding pre-market review, will not be requirgedthe
future for OncaypeDX, either through new enforcement policies adoftgdDA or new legislation enacted by
Congress. It is possible that legislation will baeted into law and may result in increased regojaturdens for us
to continue to offer the OndgpeDX assay.

If pre-market review is required, our business ddé negatively impacted until such review is coetgd and
clearance to market or approval is obtained, and E@uld require that we stop selling our test pagdire-market
clearance or approval. If our test is allowed tmae on the market but there is uncertainty aboutest, if it is
labeled investigational by FDA, or if labeling at@s FDA allows us to make are very limited, ordars o
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reimbursement may decline. The regulatory apprpx@tess may involve, among other things, succdgsful
completing additional clinical trials and submigia pre-market clearance notice or filing a PMAl&ggion with
FDA. If preimarket review is required by FDA, there can be ssugance that our test will be cleared or appravre
a timely basis, if at all. Ongoing compliance WRBA regulations would increase the cost of conahgctur
business, and subject us to inspection by FDA artld requirements of FDA and penalties for failareomply
with these requirements. We may also decide voliyta pursue FDA pre-market review of OntypeDX if we
determine that doing so would be appropriate.

Should any of the reagents obtained by us from @enand used in conducting our test be affecteflifoye
regulatory actions, our business could be adveafébgted by those actions, including increasirgdbst of testing
or delaying, limiting or prohibiting the purchaskreagents necessary to perform testing.

If we were required to conduct additional clinic#iials prior to continuing to sell Oncotype DX or anketing
any new test, those trials could lead to delaydailure to obtain necessary regulatory approval, iwh could
cause significant delays in commercializing any fwé products and harm our ability to become profitie.

If FDA decides to regulate our tests, it may reguaidditional pre-market clinical testing prior tdmitting a
regulatory application for commercial sales. If are required to conduct pre-market clinical trialgether using
prospectively acquired samples or archival samplelsys in the commencement or completion of dihiesting
could significantly increase our test developmersts and delay commercialization. Many of the fexctbat may
cause or lead to a delay in the commencement oplebion of clinical trials may also ultimately leéaldelay or
denial of regulatory clearance or approval. The m@mcement of clinical trials may be delayed dumsafficient
patient enrollment, which is a function of manytéas, including the size of the patient populatittre nature of the
protocol, the proximity of patients to clinicalestand the eligibility criteria for the clinicaldat. We may find it
necessary to engage contract research organizédigresform data collection and analysis and o#ispects of our
clinical trials, which might increase the cost aodnplexity of our trials. We may also depend onichl
investigators, medical institutions and contrasesgch organizations to perform the trials propéflthese parties
do not successfully carry out their contractuaieiior obligations or meet expected deadlined, tbeiquality,
completeness or accuracy of the clinical data thiegin is compromised due to the failure to adiemur clinical
protocols or for other reasons, our clinical trieday have to be extended, delayed or terminatedyMéathese
factors would be beyond our control. We may noable to enter into replacement arrangements withodtie
delays or considerable expenditures. If there alayd in testing or approvals as a result of tilarfato perform by
third parties, our research and development costddrincrease, and we may not be able to obtainlasgyy
clearance or approval for our test. In addition,maey not be able to establish or maintain relatigpswith these
parties on favorable terms, if at all. Each of theatcomes would harm our ability to market out, tessto become
profitable.

Complying with numerous regulations pertaining taiobusiness is an expensive and time-consuming |Bx;
and any failure to comply could result in substaatipenalties.

We are subject to CLIA, a federal law that regidaténical laboratories that perform testing oncpens
derived from humans for the purpose of providingimation for the diagnosis, prevention or treattredfrdisease.
CLIA is intended to ensure the quality and religpibf clinical laboratories in the United Statgsrinandating
specific standards in the areas of personnel deaiibns, administration, and participation in peafncy testing,
patient test management, quality control, qualitsusiance and inspections. We have a current catéfof
accreditation under CLIA to perform testing. Toaerthis certificate, we are subject to survey argpéction every
two years. Moreover, CLIA inspectors may make randospections of our clinical reference laboratory.

We are also required to maintain a license to contsting in California. California laws establistandards
for day-to-day operation of our clinical referenaboratory, including the training and skills reigaal of personnel
and quality control. Moreover, several states negthiat we hold licenses to test specimens fronemiastin those
states. Other states may have similar requirenoentsay adopt similar requirements in the futuraaly, we may
be subject to regulation in foreign jurisdictiorssvee seek to expand international distribution wftest.
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If we were to lose our CLIA accreditation or Catifa license, whether as a result of a revocasaspension
or limitation, we would no longer be able to sefiddtypeDX, which would limit our revenues and harm our
business. If we were to lose our license in otketes where we are required to hold licenses, wddwwot be able
to test specimens from those states.

We are subject to other regulation by both the fgldgovernment and the states in which we conduct o
business, including:

» Medicare billing and payment regulations applicablelinical laboratories

« the federal Medicare and Medicaid A-kickback Law and state a-kickback prohibitions

« the federal physician sereferral prohibition, commonly known as the Stadwl, and the state equivaler
« the federal Health Insurance Portability and Acdahbility Act of 1996;

« the Medicare civil money penalty and exclusion fegaents; an

« the federal civil and criminal False Claims Act astdte equivalent:

We have adopted policies and procedures designeahtply with these laws, including policies andqedures
relating to financial arrangements between us daydipians who refer patients to us. In the ordir@yrse of our
business, we conduct internal reviews of our coamgié with these laws. Our compliance is also stibjec
governmental review. The growth of our businesssaids organization may increase the potentialaiéiting these
laws or our internal policies and procedures. Tisleaf our being found in violation of these lawsdaegulations is
further increased by the fact that many of themehast been fully interpreted by the regulatory atities or the
courts, and their provisions are open to a vaéinterpretations. Any action brought againstarsviolation of
these laws or regulations, even if we successtidfgnd against it, could cause us to incur sigaifidegal expenses
and divert our management’s attention from the ajg@m of our business. If our operations are fotmie in
violation of any of these laws and regulations,may be subject to any applicable penalty associaitdthe
violation, including civil and criminal penaltiedamages and fines, we could be required to refagchpnts
received by us, and we could be required to custaikkase our operations. Any of the foregoing equences could
seriously harm our business and our financial tesul

Our financial results depend on sales of one te&3hcotype DX, and we will need to generate suffidieevenues
from this and other tests to run our business.

For the foreseeable future, we expect to derivstsuiially all of our revenues from sales of orst, t®ncatype
DX. We have been selling this test since Janua®2®/e are in various stages of research and dewvelot for
other tests that we may offer as well as for enbarents to our existing test. We do not currentjyeex to
commercialize a test for colon cancer until 201@] there can be no assurance that we will be ssitdés doing
so. We are not currently able to estimate when \ag be able to commercialize tests for other canmevehether
we will be successful in doing so. If we are unablincrease sales of OntgpeDX or to successfully develop and
commercialize other tests or enhancements, ounumgeand our ability to achieve profitability woudd impaired,
and the market price of our common stock couldidecl

New test development involves a lengthy and compl@cess, and we may be unable to commercialize @ny
the tests we are currently developing.

We have multiple tests in various stages of devakmt and devote considerable resources to resaadch
development. For example, we are currently in thedation phase of the application of our techngltgpredict
recurrence and the therapeutic benefit of chemagyein colon cancer, and we are conducting researehrly
development studies in prostate, renal cell and kancers and melanoma. There can be no assutetat
technologies will be capable of reliably predictihg recurrence of other types of cancer, suclolas cancer, with
the sensitivity and specificity necessary to beictilly and commercially useful, or that our coltancer assay will
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succeed in meeting one or more clinical endpolntaddition, before we can develop diagnostic testaew
cancers and commercialize any new products, weneéd to:

» conduct substantial research and developn

» conduct validation studie

« expend significant funds; ar

 develop and scale our laboratory processes to ancaiate different test

The product development process involves a highedegf risk and takes several years. Our product
development efforts may fail for many reasons,uduig:

« failure of the product at the research or develagrstage
« difficulty in accessing archival tissue samplegeesally tissue samples with known clinical resutts
« lack of clinical validation data to support theesffiveness of the produt

Few research and development projects result imeeneial products, and success in early clinicalgroften i
not replicated in later studies. At any point, waynabandon development of a product candidate anayebe
required to expend considerable resources repedtmgal trials, which would adversely impact tting for
generating potential revenues from those produndidates. In addition, as we develop products, viehave to
make significant investments in product developmenairketing and selling resources. If a clinicdldetion study
fails to demonstrate the prospectively defined enup of the study, we would likely abandon thealepment of
the product or product feature that was the sulgjettte clinical trial, which could harm our busése

If we are unable to support demand for our testsyrdusiness may suffer.

We have added a second shift at our clinical ref@daboratory facility and will need to ramp up testing
capacity as our test volume grows. We will needdistinue to implement increases in scale and tfatecessing,
customer service, billing and systems process imgnents, and to expand our internal quality assgr@nogram t
support testing on a larger scale. We will alsodregditional certified laboratory scientists andavtscientific and
technical personnel to process higher volumes pfesis. We cannot assure you that any increasasla, related
improvements and quality assurance will be sucaéigsimplemented or that appropriate personnel hdlavailable
As additional products are commercialized, we néled to bring new equipment on-line, implement sgstems,
controls and procedures and hire personnel wiflerdifit qualifications. Failure to implement neceggaocedures
or to hire the necessary personnel could restiigher cost of processing or an inability to mearket demand.
There can be no assurance that we will be ablerioimn tests on a timely basis at a level consisidth demand,
that our efforts to scale our commercial operatioilsnot negatively affect the quality of test wits, or that we will
be successful in responding to the growing compfeodi our testing operations. If we encounter diffty meeting
market demand or quality standards for Otyg@ DX or future products, our reputation could be hadrand our
future prospects and our business could suffer.

We may experience limits on our revenues if phyais decide not to order our test.

If medical practitioners do not order OnigpeDX or any future tests developed by us, we wileliknot be
able to create demand for our products in sufficieume for us to become profitable. To generatmand, we wil
need to continue to make oncologists, surgeongatitblogists aware of the benefits of Omgoe DX and any
products we may develop in the future through @igld papers, presentations at scientific confeseacd
one-on-one education by our sales force. In additice will need to demonstrate our ability to obtadequate
reimbursement coverage from third-party payors.

Prior to the inclusion of OnciypeDX in clinical guidelines, guidelines and practicegarding the treatment of
breast cancer often recommended that chemothempgrsidered in most cases, including many casehich our
test might indicate that, based on our clinicalltréesults, chemotherapy would be of little or mméfit. Accordingly
physicians may be reluctant to order a test that snggest recommending against chemotherapy itirtgelareast
cancer. Moreover, our test provides quantitatifermation not currently provided by pathologists
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and it is performed at our facility rather thanthg pathologist in a local laboratory, so pathadtgmay be reluctant
to support our test. These facts may make it diffifor us to convince medical practitioners toer@®ncotypeDX
for their patients, which could limit our abilitp generate revenues and our ability to achievetphulity.

We may experience limits on our revenues if patedecide not to use our test.

Some patients may decide not to use our test dite poice, part or all of which may be payablesdity by the
patient if the applicable payor denies reimbursenrefull or in part. Even if medical practitionerscommend that
their patients use our test, patients may stilldkeoot to use OnctypeDX, either because they do not want to be
made aware of the likelihood of recurrence or twésh to pursue a particular course of therapy migas of test
results. Additionally, the current economic slowdaogould negatively impact patients, resulting issl@f healthcar
coverage, delayed medical checkups or inabilityap for a relatively expensive test. If only a shpalrtion of the
patient population decides to use our test, weexitlerience limits on our revenues and our akititgchieve
profitability.

If we are unable to develop products to keep padh wapid technological, medical and scientific chge, our
operating results and competitive position would termed.

In recent years, there have been numerous advantahnologies relating to the diagnosis and tneaitt of
cancer. For example, technologies in addition & mww reportedly permit measurement of gene esesn fixec
paraffin embedded, or FPE, tissue specimens. Nemotherapeutic or biologic strategies are beinglbg@ed that
may increase survival time and reduce toxic siflecef. These advances require us to continuousiglde new
products and enhance existing products to keeppilseevolving standards of care. Our test coulddmee obsolet
unless we continually innovate and expand our prottudemonstrate recurrence and treatment bengfdtients
treated with new therapies. New treatment therapiasally have only a few years of clinical datsaciated with
them, which limits our ability to perform clinicatudies and correlate sets of genes to a new tegdsn
effectiveness. If we are unable to demonstrateipdicability of our test to new treatments, thales of our test
could decline, which would harm our revenues.

Our rights to use technologies licensed from thipdrties are not within our control, and we may nbé¢ able to
sell our products if we lose our existing rights oannot obtain new rights on reasonable terms.

We license from third parties technology necestadevelop our products. For example, we licenskrtelogy
from Roche that we use to analyze genes for passiblusion in our tests and that we use in ouniadil reference
laboratory to conduct our test. In return for tise of a third party’s technology, we may agreeay the licensor
royalties based on sales of our products. Royadtiesa component of cost of product revenues apddirthe
margin on our test. We may need to license otlemialogy to commercialize future products. Our bass may
suffer if these licenses terminate, if the licesdail to abide by the terms of the license or taiprevent
infringement by third parties, if the licensed pasgeor other rights are found to be invalid or & are unable to ent
into necessary licenses on acceptable terms. Caagptmat attempt to replicate our tests could beigén countries
that do not recognize our intellectual propertyctsaompanies could send test results into the Ur8tates and
therefore reduce sales of our tests.

Our competitive position depends on maintainingetiectual property protection.

Our ability to compete and to achieve and mainpaofitability depends on our ability to protect quoprietary
discoveries and technologies. We currently reha@ombination of patents, patent applications, aghys,
trademarks, and confidentiality, material datagfan license and invention assignment agreemergsotect our
intellectual property rights. We also rely upordeasecret laws to protect unpatented know-how antirwing
technological innovation. Our intellectual propestyategy is intended to develop and maintain oonpetitive
position. Patents may be granted to us jointly witier organizations, and while we may have a rmdffirst refusal
we cannot guarantee that a joint owner will natrise rights to another party, and cannot guardnée joint
owner will cooperate with us in the enforcemenpatent rights.
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As of December 31, 2008, we had two issued patertke U.S. covering genes and methods that are
components of the OnagpeDX assay, one of which was issued jointly to us tnthe National Surgical Adjuvant
Breast and Bowel Project, or NSABP. Our pending@piapplications may not result in issued pateartd,we
cannot assure you that our issued patent or aepizathat might ultimately be issued by the U.Seaand
Trademark Office will protect our technology. Angtpnts that may be issued to us might be challebgedird
parties as being invalid or unenforceable, or tpacties may independently develop similar or cainge
technology that avoids our patents. We cannot kaioghat the steps we have taken will prevent the
misappropriation and use of our intellectual propgrarticularly in foreign countries where the lmay not prote
our proprietary rights as fully as in the Unite@tss.

From time to time, the United States Supreme Cotiner federal courts, the U.S. Congress or the Bagent
and Trademark Office may change the standardstehfability and any such changes could have a ivegatpact
on our business. In addition, competitors may dgv#heir own versions of our test in countries vehee did not
apply for patents or where our patents have naegsnd compete with us in those countries, innlyieéncouraging
the use of their test by physicians or patientstier countries.

We may face intellectual property infringement chas that could be time-consuming and costly to defemd
could result in our loss of significant rights anthe assessment of treble damages.

We have received notices of claims of infringenmntisuse of other parties’ proprietary rightshe past and
may from time to time receive additional noticesir® of these claims may lead to litigation. We @arassure you
that we will prevail in such actions, or that otletions alleging misappropriation or misuse bypiuthird-party
trade secrets, infringement by us of third-partiepts and trademarks or the validity of our patenil not be
asserted or prosecuted against us. We may alsténilaims to defend our intellectual propertyeliectual
property litigation, regardless of outcome, is exgiee and time-consuming, could divert managemexit&ntion
from our business and have a material negativetafi®e our business, operating results or finaraalition. If
there is a successful claim of infringement agaisstve may be required to pay substantial dam@gesding
treble damages if we were to be found to have uiijffinfringed a third party’s patent) to the padiaiming
infringement, develop non-infringing technologytselling our test or using technology that caorgdhe allegedly
infringing intellectual property or enter into rdgeor license agreements that may not be availablacceptable or
commercially practical terms, if at all. Our faduro develop non-infringing technologies or licettse proprietary
rights on a timely basis could harm our businessddition, revising our test to include the nofritging
technologies would require us to re-validate oat,t&hich would be costly and time-consuming. Alse,may be
unaware of pending patent applications that retataur test. Parties making infringement claimdwtaore issued
patents may be able to obtain an injunction thaild/prevent us from selling our test or using testbgy that
contains the allegedly infringing intellectual pesfy, which could harm our business.

It is possible that a third party or patent offin@ht take the position that one or more patenisabent
applications constitute prior art in the field erpmicbased diagnostics. In such a case, we might béreelio pay
royalties, damages and costs to firms who ownitités to these patents, or we might be restriateih fusing any ¢
the inventions claimed in those patents.

If we are unable to compete successfully, we maybable to increase or sustain our revenues or aole
profitability.

Our principal competition comes from existing diagtic methods used by pathologists and oncolodistsse
methods have been used for many years and arddreedifficult to change or supplement. In additicompanies
offering capital equipment and kits or reagenttal pathology laboratories represent anotherceoaf potential
competition. These kits are used directly by thiagagist, which facilitates adoption more readhwgn tests like
OncotypeDX that are performed outside the pathology latwyatin addition, few diagnostic methods are as
expensive as OndgpeDX.

We also face competition from many public and gewveompanies that offer products or have conducted
research to profile genes, gene expression oriprexpression in breast cancer, such as Celerao@aipn, Clarier
Diagnostic Services, Agendia B.V., Applied GenomhisTheranostics Incorporated, Exagen and
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University Genomics. Commercial laboratories wittosg distribution networks for diagnostic testsls as
Genzyme Corporation, Laboratory Corporation of AiceeiHoldings and Quest Diagnostics Incorporated; ma
become competitors. Other potential competitorkioiee companies that develop diagnostic tests ssi@ager
Diagnostics, a division of Siemens AG, Roche Diagies, a division of F. Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd, areridex
LLC, a Johnson & Johnson company, as well as atbepanies and academic and research institutiams. O
competitors may invent and commercialize technololgyforms that compete with ours. In additionDiecember
2005, the federal government allocated a signifieamount of funding to The Cancer Genome Atlag,ogept aimec
at developing a comprehensive catalog of the genatkations and other genomic changes that ocatariners and
maintaining the information in a free public datséaAs more information regarding cancer genomécoimnes
available to the public, we anticipate that moredoicts aimed at identifying targeted treatmentarstiwill be
developed and these products may compete with uagldition, competitors may develop their ownsi@ns of
our test in countries where we did not apply falepés or where our patents have not issued and eemyith us in
those countries, including encouraging the uséeif test by physicians or patients in other caaatr

Our test is considered relatively expensive foragdostic test. We increased the list price ofteat from
$3,650 to $3,820 effective July 1, 2008, and we naése prices in the future. This could impact faimsement of
and demand for OndypeDX. Many of our present and potential competitaasdrwidespread brand recognition
and substantially greater financial and technieaburces and development, production and markeéipgbilities
than we do. Others may develop lower-priced, lessplex tests that could be viewed by physiciansgaybrs as
functionally equivalent to our test, which couldde us to lower the list price of our test and ictpaur operating
margins and our ability to achieve profitabilityorSe competitors have developed tests cleared fdtatiag by
FDA. There may be a marketing differentiation orgeption that an FDA-cleared test is more desirttida Onco
typeDX, and that may discourage adoption and reimbues¢f our test. If we are unable to compete sisfubg
against current or future competitors, we may kablato increase market acceptance for and salagr @ést,
which could prevent us from increasing or sustajronr revenues or achieving or sustaining profitgtand could
cause the market price of our common stock to decli

Our research and development efforts will be hinddrif we are not able to contract with third paridor acces:
to archival tissue samples.

Under standard clinical practice in the United &atumor biopsies removed from patients are ctediyic
preserved and embedded in paraffin wax and st@edclinical development relies on our ability &care access"
these archived tumor biopsy samples, as well asrirdtion pertaining to their associated clinicaicomes. Others
have demonstrated their ability to study archiaahples and often compete with us for access. Axditly, the
process of negotiating access to archived sampleagthy since it typically involves numerous fEsriand approval
levels to resolve complex issues such as usagts rigistitutional review board approval, privacghts, publication
rights, intellectual property ownership and reskararameters. If we are not able to negotiate adcearchival
tumor tissue samples with hospitals and collabesatur if other laboratories or our competitorsusea@ccess to
these samples before us, our ability to reseameldp and commercialize future products will lmaited or
delayed.

If we cannot maintain our current clinical collabaations and enter into new collaborations, our prociu
development could be delayed.

We rely on and expect to continue to rely on chihiwollaborators to perform a substantial portibour clinical
trial functions. If any of our collaborators werelireach or terminate its agreement with us orretise fail to
conduct its collaborative activities successfullgdén a timely manner, the research, development or
commercialization of the products contemplatedhegydollaboration could be delayed or terminatednif of our
collaboration agreements are terminated, or if keeuaable to renew those collaborations on accéptabms, we
would be required to seek alternative collaboraidie may not be able to negotiate additional boliations on
acceptable terms, if at all, and these collabonatibay not be successful.

In the past, we have entered into clinical tridlatmorations with highly regarded organizationshia cancer
field including, for example, NSABP. Our successhia future depends in part on our ability to eiries
agreements with other leading cancer organizatibis. can be difficult due to internal and exteroahstraints
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placed on these organizations. Some organizati@yslimit the number of collaborations they havehnany one
company so as to not be perceived as biased dliatedf Organizations may also have insufficiennadstrative
and related infrastructure to enable collaboratisits many companies at once, which can extendithe it takes
to develop, negotiate and implement a collaboratialditionally, organizations often insist on retiaig the rights to
publish the clinical data resulting from the cobiadition. The publication of clinical data in peexiewed journals is
a crucial step in commercializing and obtainingnieiirsement for a test such as ours, and our ibatblicontrol
when, if ever, results are published may delaymoit lour ability to derive sufficient revenues fraany product that
may result from a collaboration.

From time to time we expect to engage in discusswith potential clinical collaborators which mayroay not
lead to collaborations. However, we cannot guagatitat any discussions will result in clinical edlbrations or that
any clinical studies which may result will be etedlor completed in a reasonable time frame or wittcessful
outcomes. Once news of discussions regarding dessibiaborations are known in the medical commynit
regardless of whether the news is accurate, faituesanounce a collaborative agreement or theyéntit
announcement of a collaboration with an entity pthan us may result in adverse speculation ab®ubwr product
or our technology, resulting in harm to our repotatind our business.

The loss of key members of our senior managemeatrter our inability to retain highly skilled scients,
clinicians and salespeople could adversely affegt business.

Our success depends largely on the skills, expegiand performance of key members of our executive
management team and others in key managementgmssifihe efforts of each of these persons togetiticne
critical to us as we continue to develop our tedbgies and testing processes and as we attemgarisition to a
company with more than one commercialized prodéiete were to lose one or more of these key emmeywe
may experience difficulties in competing effectivaleveloping our technologies and implementinglmusiness
strategies.

Our research and development programs and comrhiafotmatory operations depend on our ability tosat
and retain highly skilled scientists and technisiancluding geneticists, licensed laboratory técins, chemists,
biostatisticians and engineers. We may not betabd¢tract or retain qualified scientists and téciams in the future
due to the intense competition for qualified perssiramong life science businesses, particularthén
San Francisco Bay Area. We also face competitiomfuniversities and public and private researctitin®ons in
recruiting and retaining highly qualified scientifiersonnel. In addition, our success depends palblity to attract
and retain salespeople with extensive experiencadology and close relationships with medical dogists,
surgeons, pathologists and other hospital persoeimay have difficulties locating, recruitingretaining
qualified salespeople, which could cause a delaeoline in the rate of adoption of our produdtsvé are not able
to attract and retain the necessary personnelcangalish our business objectives, we may experienostraints
that will adversely affect our ability to supporiraliscovery, development and sales programs. fAdLio employees
are at-will employees, which means that either wihe employee may terminate their employment gittimne.

If our sole laboratory facility becomes inoperablee will be unable to perform our test and our bosis will be
harmed.

We do not have redundant clinical reference laloydacilities outside of Redwood City, CalifornlRedwood
City is situated near earthquake fault lines. Guility and the equipment we use to perform outstesuld be
costly to replace and could require substantial teéae to repair or replace. The facility may berhed or rendered
inoperable by natural or man-made disasters, imujudarthquakes, flooding and power outages, winaj render
it difficult or impossible for us to perform ourstis for some period of time. The inability to penfioour tests or the
backlog of tests that could develop if our faciigyinoperable for even a short period of time mesult in the loss ¢
customers or harm our reputation, and we may bblerta regain those customers in the future. Algiowe
possess insurance for damage to our property andishuption of our business, this insurance maybercsufficient
to cover all of our potential losses and may nattiome to be available to us on acceptable termat all.
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In order to rely on a third party to perform oustte we could only use another facility with esti#d state
licensure and CLIA accreditation under the scopelith OncatypeDX could be performed following validation
and other required procedures. We cannot assuréhgbwe would be able to find another CLIA-ceddifacility
willing to adopt OncdypeDX and comply with the required procedures, thi kiboratory would be willing to
perform the tests for us on commercially reasontdstas, or that it would be able to meet our qualiandards. In
order to establish a redundant clinical refereab®iatory facility, we would have to spend consaddés time and
money securing adequate space, constructing tiiyfa@cruiting and training employees, and e$siting the
additional operational and administrative infrastane necessary to support a second facility. Wy mad be able, «
it may take time, to replicate our testing processeresults in a new facility. Additionally, angw clinical
reference laboratory facility opened by us wouldsbbject to certification under CLIA and licenseddeveral
states, including California and New York, whicmdake a significant amount of time and resultétags in our
ability to begin operations.

We are dependent on our information technology atetecommunications systems, and any failure of thes
systems could harm our business.

We depend on information technology, or IT, anédemmunications systems for significant aspectsuof
operations. In addition, our third-party billingdanollections provider is dependent upon telecompations and
data systems provided by outside vendors and irgtiom it receives from us on a regular basis. Th€snd
telecommunications systems support a variety oftfans, including test processing, sample trackingglity
control, customer service and support, billing egichbursement, research and development activéies$our
general and administrative activities. Failuresignificant downtime of our IT or telecommunicatsosystems or
those used by our third-party service providerda&puevent us from processing tests, providing rtestilts to
physicians, billing payors, processing reimburseta@peals, handling patient or physician inquire@syducting
research and development activities, and managmgdministrative aspects of our business. Anygtgn or loss
of IT or telecommunications systems on which cait@spects of our operations depend could havehearse effect
on our business and our product revenues.

Changes in healthcare policy could subject us tad@@nal regulatory requirements that may interrugiales of
Oncotype DX and increase our costs.

Healthcare policy has been a subject of extensa@udsion in the executive and legislative branaidse
federal and many state governments. We developedomumercialization strategy for OntgpeDX based on
existing healthcare policies. Changes in healthpaliey, such as changes in the FDA regulatoryqydior LDTS,
the creation of broad limits for diagnostic produict general or requirements that Medicare patigaysfor portions
of clinical laboratory tests or services receivealyld substantially interrupt the sales of OhgueDX, increase
costs and divert management’s attention. For exanpll 989, the U.S. Congress passed federal efelfral
prohibitions commonly known as the Stark Law, digantly restricting, regulating and changing ladnories’
relationships with physicians. In addition, sellimgr tests outside of the United States makes ljeiLto applicabl
foreign regulatory requirements, which may alsongfgaover time. We cannot predict what changes)if will be
proposed or adopted or the effect that such prédpesadoption may have on our business, finarn@atition and
results of operations.

We rely on a limited number of suppliers or, in sensases, a sole supplier, for some of our laborgtor
instruments and materials and may not be able tadfireplacements in the event our suppliers no longapply
that equipment or those materials.

We rely solely on Applied Biosystems, a divisionLife Technologies Corporation, to supply somehaf t
laboratory equipment on which we perform our tédts.periodically forecast our needs for laboratguipment
and enter into standard purchase orders with AgBiesystems based on these forecasts. We behevéhere are
relatively few equipment manufacturers other thaplled Biosystems that are currently capable opstipg the
equipment necessary for OntypeDX. Even if we were to identify other suppliersetla can be no assurance that
we will be able to enter into agreements with ssighpliers on a timely basis on acceptable terna, afl. If we
should encounter delays or difficulties in secuffirgn Applied Biosystems the quality and quantityequipment
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we require for OnctypeDX, we may need to reconfigure our test process;iwmvould result in delays in
commercialization or an interruption in sales.ry@f these events occur, our business and opgnasults could
be harmed. Additionally, if Applied Biosystems deeus to have become uncreditworthy, it has the tmhequire
alternative payment terms from us, including paynmemdvance. We are also required to indemnify lisgp
Biosystems against any damages caused by anydetiah or proceeding brought by a third party agipplied
Biosystems for damages caused by our failure taiobéquired approval with any regulatory agency.

We also rely on several sole suppliers for cerfadoratory materials which we use to perform ostseWhile
we have developed alternate sourcing strategighése materials, we cannot be certain that thesegies will be
effective. If we should encounter delays or diffi@s in securing these laboratory materials, delay
commercialization or an interruption in sales coutdur.

We may be unable to manage our future growth effeety, which would make it difficult to execute our
business strategy.

Future growth will impose significant added respbitises on management, including the need to idgn
recruit, train and integrate additional employdesaddition, rapid and significant growth will piastrain on our
administrative and operational infrastructure, idiithg customer service and our clinical referead®tatory. Our
ability to manage our operations and growth widjuige us to continue to improve our operationalaficial and
management controls, reporting systems and proesdlitwe are unable to manage our growth effelgtivemay
be difficult for us to execute our business strateg

If we were sued for product liability or professiahliability, we could face substantial liabilitiethat exceed ou
resources.

The marketing, sale and use of our test could tedle filing of product liability claims if someernwere to
allege that our test failed to perform as it wasigieed. We may also be subject to liability foroesrin the test
results we provide to physicians or for a misun@deding of, or inappropriate reliance upon, thelinfation we
provide. For example, physicians sometimes ordexo@®peDX for patients who do not have the same specific
clinical attributes indicated on the Ontype DX report form as those for which the test providisical experience
information from validation studies. It is our ptige to offer medical consultation to physiciandering Oncdype
DX for such patients, including ER- patients andentaeast cancer patients. A product liability cofpssional
liability claim could result in substantial damagesl be costly and time consuming for us to defé&fttough we
believe that our existing product and professidiability insurance is adequate, we cannot assatetlat our
insurance would fully protect us from the finandrapact of defending against product liability gofessional
liability claims. Any product liability or professnal liability claim brought against us, with orthdut merit, could
increase our insurance rates or prevent us fronrisgcinsurance coverage in the future. Additionadiny product
liability lawsuit could cause injury to our repuitat, result in the recall of our products, or caogeent
collaborators to terminate existing agreementspanential collaborators to seek other partners,airwhich could
impact our results of operations.

If we use biological and hazardous materials in aanmer that causes injury, we could be liable formdages.

Our activities currently require the controlled ugotentially harmful biological materials, hadaus
materials and chemicals and may in the future regbe use of radioactive compounds. We cannoiredita the
risk of accidental contamination or injury to emysdes or third parties from the use, storage, hagdir disposal of
these materials. In the event of contaminatiompury, we could be held liable for any resultingrdages, and any
liability could exceed our resources or any applieansurance coverage we may have. Additionally ane subject
on an ongoing basis to federal, state and locas kvd regulations governing the use, storage, imanahd disposal
of these materials and specified waste products.cbist of compliance with these laws and regulatioay be
significant and could negatively affect our opergtiesults.
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International expansion of our business may expaseto business, regulatory, political, operationéihancial
and economic risks associated with doing businestsime of the United States.

Our business strategy contemplates internationzdmesion, including establishing direct sales angsigiian
outreach and education capabilities outside ofthiged States and expanding our relationship wigtributors. In
February 2009, we established a subsidiary in Gergwitzerland and we may establish operationshiaro
countries in the future. Doing business internatlilyninvolves a number of risks, including:

» multiple, conflicting and changing laws and regialias such as tax laws, export and import restmstjo
employment laws, regulatory requirements and agogernmental approvals, permits and licen

« failure by us or our distributors to obtain regatgtapprovals for the use of our test in variougntaes;
« difficulties in staffing and managing foreign optoas;
« complexities associated with managing multiple pagombursement regimes or ¢pay systems

« logistics and regulations associated with shippisgue samples, including infrastructure conditiand
transportation delay:

« financial risks, such as longer payment cyclesiatlifty collecting accounts receivable and expogare
foreign currency exchange rate fluctuatic

« political and economic instability, including waterrorism, and political unrest, outbreak of ds®a
boycaotts, curtailment of trade and other businesgictions; ant

« regulatory and compliance risks that relate to ma@iing accurate information and control over saled
distributors’ activities that may fall within thaipriew of the Foreign Corrupt Practice Act, its ke@nd
records provisions or its a-bribery provisions

Any of these factors could significantly harm outure international expansion and operations and,
consequently, our revenues and results of opesation

Our dependence on distributors for sales of OncaypX outside of the U.S. could limit or prevent frem
selling our test in other markets and from realizjfong-term international revenue growth.

We do not have sales personnel outside of thehuitSnstead rely on distributors. As of Februar@20we hac
exclusive distribution agreements for Origpe DX in several countries outside of the U.S., andway enter into
other similar arrangements in other countries éfthiure. We intend to grow our business intermeatily, and to do
so we may need to attract additional distributorexpand the territories in which we sell Ornigpe DX. Distributor:
may not commit the necessary resources to markieselhOncaypeDX to the level of our expectations. If current
or future distributors do not perform adequatelywve are unable to locate distributors in particgl@ographic aree
we may not realize lonterm international revenue growth. Regulatory resjaents, costs of doing business out
of the United States and the reimbursement prandsseign markets may also impact our revenuesifro
international sales or impact our ability to in@eanternational sales in the future.

We may acquire other businesses or form joint venesithat could harm our operating results, diluteio
stockholders’ ownership, increase our debt or cawseto incur significant expense.

As part of our business strategy, we may pursuaisitigns of complementary businesses and assetgelhas
technology licensing arrangements. We also mayueustrategic alliances that leverage our core oy and
industry experience to expand our product offerioigdistribution. We have no experience with respe@cquiring
other companies and limited experience with resfettte formation of collaborations, strategicaailies and joint
ventures. If we make any acquisitions, we may moalle to integrate these acquisitions successhityour
existing business, and we could assume unknownrdgingent liabilities. Any future acquisitions bg also could
result in significant write-offs or the incurrenckdebt and contingent liabilities, any of whichutdbharm our
operating results. Integration of an acquired camyEso may require management resources thatvagewould
be available for ongoing development of our exgtinisiness. We may not identify or complete themastactions
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in a timely manner, on a cost-effective basis,t@laand we may not realize the anticipated bigsef any
acquisition, technology license, strategic alliancgint venture.

To finance any acquisitions, we may choose to isbiages of our common stock as consideration, whiatid
dilute the ownership of our stockholders. If thegof our common stock is low or volatile, we nrayt be able to
acquire other companies for stock. The market mfaar common stock has been particularly volatiieing the
recent period of upheaval in the capital marketswaorld economy, and this excessive volatility ncayptinue for a
extended period of time. Alternatively, it may becassary for us to raise additional funds for aitjons through
public or private financings. Additional funds magt be available on terms that are favorable t@uaf all.

Our marketable securities are subject to risks tizatuld adversely affect our overall financial posih.

We invest our cash in accordance with an estaldigtiternal policy in instruments which historicaligve bee
highly liquid and carried relatively low risk. Hower, with recent credit market conditions, similgres of
investments have experienced losses in value widity issues which differ from their historicaltpern. Should a
portion of our marketable securities lose valubare their liquidity impaired, it could adversele&t our overall
financial position by imperiling our ability to fahour operations and forcing us to seek additifinahcing sooner
than we would otherwise. Such financing, if avdialmay not be available on commercially attractemns.

Our inability to raise additional capital on accegile terms in the future may limit our ability toedvelop and
commercialize new tests and technologies.

We expect capital outlays and operating expendittoéncrease over the next several years as wanexqur
infrastructure, commercial operations and reseanthdevelopment activities. Specifically, we magdéo raise
capital to, among other things:

 sustain commercialization of our initial test, enb@ments to that test or any future tests we magldp;
* increase our selling and marketing efforts to drmarket adoption and address competitive developsr
« further expand our clinical reference laboratorgmpions;

« expand our technologies into other areas of ca

« fund our clinical validation study activitie

« expand our research and development activi

 acquire or license technologies; ¢

« finance capital expenditures and our general antdrastrative expense

Our present and future funding requirements wifleted on many factors, including:

« the level of research and development investmeptired to maintain and improve our technology posit
« costs of filing, prosecuting, defending and enfioggbatent claims and other intellectual propergints;
 our need or decision to acquire or license compieang technologies or acquire complementary buses
» changes in product development plans needed t@sgldny difficulties in commercializatic

« changes in the regulatory environment, including @ecision by FDA to regulate our activitie

» competing technological and market developme

« the rate of progress in establishing reimburseragangements with thi-party payors; an

« changes in regulatory policies or laws that aftaatoperations
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If we raise funds by issuing equity securitiesytidn to our stockholders could result. Any equiécurities
issued also may provide for rights, preferencgzrioileges senior to those of holders of our commstutk. If we
raise funds by issuing debt securities, these siahirities would have rights, preferences andlpges senior to
those of holders of our common stock, and the terintise debt securities issued could impose sicpuifi
restrictions on our operations. If we raise furtdetigh collaborations and licensing arrangemengsmight be
required to relinquish significant rights to oucti@ologies or products, or grant licenses on tehasare not
favorable to us. The credit markets and the firgregrvices industry have been experiencing a geifio
unprecedented turmoil and upheaval characterizetidobankruptcy, failure, collapse or sale of vasidinancial
institutions and an unprecedented level of intetiearfrom the United States federal government.sehevents hay
generally made equity and debt financing moreadliffito obtain. Accordingly, additional equity oelat financing
might not be available on reasonable terms, iflatfaadequate funds are not available, we mayehtavscale back
our operations or limit our research and develograetivities.

We must implement additional finance and accountisgstems, procedures and controls as we grow our
business and organization and to satisfy public quany reporting requirements, which will increase ooosts
and require additional management resources.

As a public reporting company, we are requiredaimply with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and #lated
rules and regulations of the Securities and Exca&@gmmission. Compliance with Section 404 of theb&aes-
Oxley Act and other requirements has increaseatostis and required additional management resoléesvill
need to continue to implement additional finance accounting systems, procedures and controls agaveour
business and organization and to satisfy exiseépgnting requirements. If we fail to maintain omi@ment adequa
controls, if we are unable to complete the requBedtion 404 assessment as to the adequacy aifteanal control
over financial reporting in future Form 10fKings, or if our independent registered publicagnting firm is unabl
to provide us with an unqualified report as to éfffectiveness of our internal control over finaheeporting in
future Form 10-K filings, our ability to obtain aitidnal financing could be impaired. In additionyestors could
lose confidence in the reliability of our interrwantrol over financial reporting and in the accyratour periodic
reports filed under the Exchange Act. A lack ofastor confidence in the reliability and accuracyof public
reporting could cause our stock price to decline.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS .

None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES.

At December 31, 2008, we occupied approximatelp@® square feet of laboratory and office space in
Redwood City, California under operating leases ¢ixgire in February 2012. We believe that thesdifi@s are
adequate to meet our business requirements farethieterm and that additional space, when needédyen
available on commercially reasonable terms.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.

We were not a party to any legal proceedings, dtier immaterial proceedings in the ordinary cowfsaur
business, at December 31, 2008, or at the datesofeport.

ITEM 4. SuBMmIssION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS.

No matters were submitted to a vote of securitgéd during the fourth quarter of 2008.
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Executive Officers of the Registrani

The names of our executive officers and their agesf March 1, 2009, are as follows:

Name Age Position

Randal W. Scott, Ph.C 51 Executive Chairman of the Boa

Kimberly J. Popovit: 50 President and Chief Executive Officer and Dire:

G. Bradley Cole 53 Chief Operating Officer and Chief Financial Officer
Secretary

Steven Shak, M.D 58 Chief Medical Officel

Joffre B. Baker, Ph.D 61 Chief Scientific Officel

Randal W. Scott, Ph.Dhas served as our Executive Chairman of the Bsiam January 2009, Chairman of
the Board and Chief Executive Officer since ouejtion in August 2000 until December 2008, Presifiem
August 2000 until February 2002, Chief Financiali€f from December 2000 until April 2004, and Ssary from
August 2000 until December 2000 and from May 200 &ebruary 2005. Dr. Scott was a founder of becy
Corporation, a genomic information company, angegincyte in various roles, including Chairmarttef Board
from August 2000 to December 2001, President franudry 1997 to August 2000, and Chief Scientifiticef
from March 1995 to August 2000. Dr. Scott holds.&.Bn Chemistry from Emporia State University anéh.D. in
Biochemistry from the University of Kansas.

Kimberly J. Popovithias served as our President and Chief Executivieddfince January 2009, President and
Chief Operating Officer since February 2002 and d&ector since March 2002. From November 1987eforuary
2002, Ms. Popovits served in various roles at Gedm Inc., a biotechnology company, most recesglying as
Senior Vice President, Marketing and Sales fronraty 2001 to February 2002, and as Vice Presidgailgs from
October 1994 to February 2001. Prior to joining &#rch, she served as Division Manager, SoutheagbR for
American Critical Care, a division of American HaapSupply, a supplier of health care producthdspitals.

Ms. Popovits holds a B.A. in Business from Michigatate University.

G. Bradley Coléhas served as our Chief Operating Officer and Gfiigdincial Officer since January 2009,
Executive Vice President, Operations from Janu@882ntil December 2008, Executive Vice Presidewtt @hief
Financial Officer from July 2004 until December 80ind Secretary since February 2005. From Decefr8$5t to
May 2004, he served in various positions at Guidrporation, a medical device company, most régaetving
as Vice President, Finance and Business Developfoetite Endovascular Solutions Group from Jan28@1 unti
May 2004. From July 1994 to December 1997, Mr. @ads Vice President, Finance and Chief Financifite&f of
Endovascular Technologies, Inc., a medical devicepany that was acquired by Guidant Corporatioantr
December 1988 to February 1994, he served as Vasdent, Finance and Chief Financial Officer ofof\gd
Biosystems Incorporated, a life sciences systemgpeay. Mr. Cole holds a B.S. in Business from Bidtaversity
and an M.B.A. from San Jose State University.

Steven Shak, M.Dhas served as our Chief Medical Officer sincedbauer 2000. From July 1996 to October
2000, Dr. Shak served in various roles in Medictihids at Genentech, most recently as Senior Direshd Staff
Clinical Scientist. From November 1989 to July 19B86. Shak served as a Director of Discovery Raseat
Genentech, where he was responsible for Pulmonesgdtch, Immunology, and Pathology. Prior to janin
Genentech, Dr. Shak was an Assistant Professoredidhe and Pharmacology at the New York UniverSithool
of Medicine. Dr. Shak holds a B.A. in Chemistryrfrddmherst College and an M.D. from the New York msity
School of Medicine, and completed his post-doctteahing at the University of California, San Fcésto.

Joffre B. Baker, Ph.D.has served as our Chief Scientific Officer siDezember 2000. From March 1997 to
October 2000, Dr. Baker served as the Vice PresidefResearch Discovery at Genentech. From Magg81o0
October 2000, Dr. Baker oversaw Research Discoae@enentech, which included the departments of
Cardiovascular Research, Oncology, Immunology, Eridology, and Pathology. From July 1991 to Octati293,
he served as Genentech'’s Director of Cardiovas&®#eaearch. Prior to joining Genentech, Dr. Bakes avanember
of the faculty of the Department of Biochemistntte University of Kansas. He holds a B.S. in Bigi@and
Chemistry from the University of California, Sane@o and a Ph.D. in Biochemistry from the University{awaii.
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PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT S COMMON EQuUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND | SSUERPURCHASES
OF EQUITY SECURITIES .

Our common stock, par value $0.0001, is tradecherNASDAQ Global Market under the symbol “GHDX.”
The following table sets forth the range of higld & sales prices for our common stock for theqekyr indicated:

2008

First Second Third Fourth

Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter

Stock price— high $27.02  $22.47 $25.5( $22.9]

Stock price— low $16.4t $16.5¢ $18.8¢ $16.0(
2007

First Second Third Fourth

Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter

Stock price— high $24.6¢  $19.7C $22.2f  $26.1i

Stock price— low $16.47 $14.8C $18.2¢ $19.1-

According to the records of our transfer agenthae 115 stockholders of record as of February @892

Dividends

We have never declared or paid any cash dividendsio capital stock, and we do not currently intemgay
any cash dividends on our common stock in the &mable future. We expect to retain future earniiigs)y, to
fund the development and growth of our business.l@ard of directors will determine future cashidénds, if
any. There are currently no contractual restriction our ability to pay dividends.
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Stock Performance Graph

The following information is not deemed to be “silng material” or to be “filed” with the Securits and
Exchange Commission or subject to Regulation 1424@ under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 dhé
liabilities of Section 18 of the Securities Excharfgt of 1934, and will not be deemed to be incomped by
reference into any filing under the Securities 8t 933 or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934epk¢o the
extent we specifically incorporate it by refereit® such a filing.

Set forth below is a line graph showing the cunwuatotal stockholder return (change in stock pphtes
reinvested dividends) assuming the investment 60%in September 29, 2005 (the day of our initiddlipwffering)
in each of our common stock, the NASDAQ Market dad the NASDAQ Biotechnology Index for the period
commencing on September 29, 2005 and ending onnlmre31, 2008. The comparisons in the table anginex by
the Securities and Exchange Commission and armteoided to forecast or be indicative of futurefpenance of
our common stock.

COMPARISON OF CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN
AMONG GENOMIC HEALTH INC.,
NASDAQ MARKET INDEX AND PEER GROUP INDEX
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA.

The following selected consolidated financial dsttauld be read together with “Management’s Disausand
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Cqiiems” and our consolidated financial statementsralated
notes included elsewhere in this report. The seteconsolidated balance sheets data at Decemb2033 ,and
2007 and the selected consolidated statementseoftipns data for each year ended December 31, 2008 and
2006 have been derived from our audited consolitfi@ncial statements that are included elsewinetieis report.
The selected consolidated balance sheets datecatriber 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 and the selectesbldated
statements of operations data for each year endedrbber 31, 2005 and 2004 have been derived frorauslited
consolidated financial statements not includedis teport. Historical results are not necessanidljcative of the
results to be expected in the future.

Year Ended December 31
2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
(In thousands, except share and per share dat

Consolidated Statements of Operations Dat:

Revenues

Product revenue $ 108,65¢ $ 62,74t $ 27,006 $ 482: $ 227

Contract revenue 1,921 1,282 2,16¢ 37¢ 10C
Total revenue 110,57! 64,02" 29,17 5,20 327
Operating expenses(]

Cost of product revenut 27,18t 17,33 9,90¢ 6,24¢ 1,82¢

Research and developm 28,62« 22,05 12,84: 9,46t 10,04(

Selling and marketin 46,66¢ 36,45¢ 24,62¢ 15,34¢ 9,85¢

General and administrati 25,61" 17,84¢ 12,76¢ 6,48¢ 3,86¢
Total operating expens 128,09: 93,68¢ 60,13¢ 37,54, 25,59:¢
Loss from operation (17,519 (29,667) (30,965 (32,349 (25,26¢)
Interest and other income, r 1,36¢ 2,37( 2,04¢ 984 271
Loss before income tax bene (16,150 (27,297 (28,92() (31,369 (24,999
Income tax benef 61 — — —
Net loss $ (16,089% (27,299 % (28,920 % (31,36) $ (24,999
Basic and diluted net loss per sh $ (0.57) $ (1.02) $ (1.1 $ (415 $ (13.8%
Weighted-average shares used in computing

basic and diluted net loss per sh 28,297,70 26,759,79 24,508,84 7,557,101 1,808,02.

(1) Includes no-cash charges for employee st-based compensation expense as follc

Year Ended December 31,
2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
(In thousands)

Cost of product revenut $ 491 $ 37t $ 167 $ 53 $ 5
Research and developmt 2,91 1,88- 821 323 42
Selling and marketin 2,62z 1,87¢ 77¢ 274 38
General and administrati 3,112 2,15z 1,13i 42€ 10¢€
Total $9,13¢ $6,28: $2,90¢ $1,07¢ $191
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On January 1, 2006, we adopted Statement of FiabActounting Standard No. 123Bhare-based Payment
using the modified prospective method. Prior to@Gfock-based compensation was recognized in @acoe with
Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25.

At December 31,
2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
(In thousands)

Consolidated Balance Sheets Dati
Cash, cash equivalents and s-term investment  $ 56,66¢ $ 68,36( $ 44,21¢ $69,527 $ 38,27t

Working capital 52,69: 63,94¢ 37,51¢ 65,80: 36,771
Total asset 86,68¢ 87,92¢ 58,02 75,79¢ 41,53¢
Notes payable, current portit 1,81¢ 2,681 2,547 1,052 —
Notes payable, lor-term portion 22E 2,03¢ 4,72¢ 2,621 —
Convertible preferred stoc — — — — 103,21.
Accumulated defici (168,489 (152,39H (125,10) (96,187 (64,827
Total stockholder equity (deficit) 66,17¢ 71,16¢ 41,82¢ 67,517 (64,159

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSIONAND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS .

The following discussion of our financial conditiand results of operations should be read in cocijiam with
our consolidated financial statements and the edatotes included in Item 8 of this report. Histafiresults are
not necessarily indicative of future results.

Business Overview

We are a life science company focused on the dpredat and commercialization of genomic-based dinic
diagnostic tests for cancer that allow physiciams gatients to make individualized treatment deaisi Our
diagnostic test, OnciypeDX, is used for breast cancer patients to pretietikelihood of cancer recurrence and
likelihood of chemotherapy benefit and is condu@edur clinical reference laboratory in RedwootyOCalifornia
Effective July 1, 2008, we increased the list pn€eur test from $3,650 to $3,820. Substantiallp&our historical
revenues have been derived from the sale of @pEDX ordered by physicians in the United States.

Adoption and Reimbursement

For the year ended December 31, 2008, more th&03%est reports were delivered for use in treatmen
planning, compared to more than 24,450 and more 2142500 test reports delivered for the years ended
December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. As oeBdoer 31, 2008, more than 85,000 tests had beam for
use in treatment planning by more than 7,500 phasic We believe increased demand resulted frormttgsion
of OncotypeDX in the clinical practice guidelines of the Anean Society of Clinical Oncologists, or ASCO, and
the National Comprehensive Cancer Network, or NC@Mblication of peer-reviewed articles on studies w
sponsored, conducted or collaborated on that stffpouse and reimbursement of OmygoeDX, clinical
presentations at major symposia, and our ongoingercial efforts. However, this increased demanubis
necessarily indicative of future demand, and wenoaassure you that this level of increased dencancbe
sustained or that publication of articles, futuppearances or presentations at medical conferemdasreased
commercial efforts will have a similar impact omund for OncdypeDX. We believe that each year we may
experience slower demand for our test in the seemddthird calendar quarters, which may be atteitbud
physicians, surgeons and patients scheduling vasaturing this time.

We depend upon third-party payors to provide reirebonent for our test. Accordingly, we have focused
substantial resources on obtaining reimbursemerdrage from third-party payors. As of February 2008re than
90% of all U.S. insured lives were covered by leplans that provide reimbursement for OfymeDX for patients
with N-, ER+ disease through contracts, agreemamslicy decisions.
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In order to enhance the clinical utility of Ontgpe DX, we introduced quantitative gene expression i
for estrogen receptor, or ER, and progesterongtecer PR, genes with the OntypeDX report in February 200
and for the human epidermal growth factor receptar HER2, gene in September 2008. In the secali®h2008,
we experienced an increase in usage of QyeDX for N+ patients. While some payors provide caggr for the
use of OncdypeDX in patients with lymph node micrometastasis éfee than 0.2mm, but not greater than 2.0 mm
in size), substantially all of our existing reimbement coverage is limited to women with early-stilg ER+ breas
cancer. We may not be able to obtain reimbursecmrdrage for OnctypeDX for breast cancer patients with N+,
ER+ disease.

Our domestic sales, marketing and reimbursemeaottsfare focused on direct interaction with medasad
surgical oncologists, pathologists and payorsahudry 2009, we hired an additional 20 U.S. salpsesentatives,
increasing our domestic sales force to a totalDodd@les representatives. We have also continuexii@nd
internationally. As of February 2009, we had reeditest samples from 40 countries, completed Gaiad multiple
international studies and established exclusiveibligion agreements for OngppeDX with partners in eight
countries outside of the U.S. We established aigialng in Geneva, Switzerland in February 2009 hade
appointed lead executives in Europe and in Asiufport our international efforts. We do not expetdrnational
product revenues to comprise a significant portibaur total revenues for at least the next thregry.

Product Pipeline

We are investigating the utility of Ont¢ygpeDX in patients with ductal carcinoma in situ, or BCwhich
generally refers to a pre-invasive tumor with restlidsk of recurrence. We plan to evaluate theofiske Oncaype
DX gene panel and also seek to identify other gémtsmay be used for treatment planning in DCI®. & also
conducting studies of OndgpeDX with clinical samples from breast cancer pasemho were treated with
aromatase inhibitors.

Outside of breast cancer, we are conducting arpgr#ent clinical validation study in stage Il coltancer for
our 18gene colon cancer assay, utilizing more than 1p2@@nt samples from an international trial whizamined
the benefit associated with 5-fluorouracil/leucamathemotherapy. We anticipate reporting resultthisf validation
study in the second half of 2009. We do not cutyesmpect to commercialize a test for colon canaoil 2010.

Economic Environment

Continuing concerns over inflation, deflation, emecosts, geopolitical issues, the availability aodt of
credit, the Federal stimulus plan, Federal budgepgsals, the U.S. mortgage market and a declidabestate
market in the U.S. have contributed to increasddiiity and diminished expectations for the glokabnomy and
expectations of slower global economic growth gdiorgvard. These factors, combined with volatilepices,
declining business and consumer confidence, ardeglstock market and increased unemployment, have
precipitated an economic slowdown and recessioneVduated the impact of this environment on oshca
management, cash collection activities and volufrtesis delivered.

As of the date of this report, we have not expeeena loss of principal on any of our investmeats] we
expect that we will continue to be able to accedignidate these investments as needed to suppottusiness
activities. From time to time, we monitor the fircéad position of our significant third-party payeomhich include
Medicare and managed care companies. As of theofl#tiés report, we do not expect the current ecoino
environment to have a material negative impactwradility to collect payments from our third-papsyors in the
foreseeable future. The economic slowdown couldatiegly impact the volume of tests we deliver ifipats lose
healthcare coverage, delay medical checkups arreakle to pay for our test.

We intend to continue to assess the impact of tbe@mic environment on our business activitiethéf
economic climate in the U.S. does not improve attiooies to deteriorate, our cash position, caslectidn
activities and volume of tests delivered could bgatively impacted and we could experience loweemaes.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Judgmats and Estimates

This discussion and analysis of our financial ctadiand results of operations is based on ouraateed
financial statements, which have been prepareddardance with accounting principles generally pteg in the
United States. The preparation of these finant@éments requires management to make estimatgadgments
that affect the reported amounts of assets, ltasliand expenses and the disclosure of contiragsats and
liabilities at the date of the financial statemeatswell as revenues and expenses during thetirgpperiods. We
evaluate our estimates and judgments on an ongpaisig. We base our estimates on historical expzriand on
various other factors we believe are reasonableruh@ circumstances, the results of which formbiss for
making judgments about the carrying value of asmedsliabilities that are not readily apparent frother sources.
Actual results could therefore differ materiallpifn those estimates under different assumptionsmuitons.

We believe the following critical accounting poésireflect our more significant estimates and apsioms
used in the preparation of our financial statements

Revenue Recognition

We exercise judgment in determining whether revésuecognized on an accrual basis when test searst
delivered or on a cash basis when cash is recéigedthe payor. Our revenues for tests performed@cognized
when the following criteria are met: (1) persuagvaence that an arrangement exists; (2) delitaias/occurred or
services rendered; (3) the fee is fixed or deteafvlizy and (4) collectibility is reasonably assuMtt assess wheth
the fee is fixed or determinable based on the raifithe fee charged for the products or serviediseted and
existing contractual agreements. When evaluatitigatility, we consider whether we have suffididrstory to
reliably estimate a payor’s individual payment pats. Based upon at least several months of payhignoty, we
review the number of tests paid against the nurobessts billed and the payor’s outstanding baléoncenpaid
tests to determine whether payments are being miaaleonsistently high percentage of tests biltedl at
appropriate amounts given the contracted paymeotamTo the extent all criteria set forth above ant met,
including where there is no evidence of paymertbhysat the time test results are delivered, prodenenues are
recognized on a cash basis when cash is receigadtfre payor.

Contract revenues are generally derived from ssuciimducted with biopharmaceutical and pharmacautic
companies and are recognized on a contract-spéeifis. Under certain contracts, revenues are negajas costs
are incurred or assays are processed. We may sxgucigment when estimating full-time equivalentlef effort,
costs incurred and time to project completion. ¢entain contracts, we utilize the performance-basethod of
revenue recognition, which requires that we esenlag total amount of costs to be expended fobgegrrthen
recognize revenue equal to the portion of costerded to date. The estimated total costs to benebgpkeare
necessarily subject to revision from time-to-tinsetlae underlying facts and circumstances change.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

We accrue an allowance for doubtful accounts agamsaccounts receivable based on estimates tensis
with historical payment experience. Our allowanmedoubtful accounts is evaluated quarterly andstdd when
trends or significant events indicate that a changsstimate is appropriate. As of December 31828¢d 2007, our
allowance for doubtful accounts was $881,000 ar88%I00, respectively. The year over year increaseii
allowance for doubtful accounts reflected the imtpdenoving several third-party payors from a chskis to an
accrual basis.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses are comprisieel fofllowing types of costs incurred in performing
research and development activities: salaries andfiis, allocated overhead and facility occupasusts, contract
services and other outside costs, and costs tdradqeprocess research and development project$emmnologies
that have no alternative future use. Research anelopment expenses also include costs relatectitatiees
performed under contracts with biopharmaceuticdl marmaceutical companies. Research and develdmosts
are expensed as incurred.
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Prior to January 1, 2008, we recognized non-refaoledadvance payments for goods and services tedut for
future research and development activities as perese when payments were made. Beginning Janu2nog,
these payments are deferred and capitalized andmzed as an expense as the goods are delivethd mlated
services are performed in accordance with Emerigisiges Task Force Issue No. 07ABcounting for Non-
Refundable Payments for Goods or Services Reclivétse in Future Research and Development A, or
EITF 07-3. As a result of our adoption of EITF 0,768r research and development collaboration exggeasd net
loss decreased by $258,000 for the year ended Deedi, 2008. Our net loss per share decrease@.bg $or the
year ended December 31, 2008. We expect to recogimise deferred and capitalized amounts as expefgere
periods as the related services are delivered.

We enter into collaboration and clinical trial agmeents with clinical collaborators and record thessts as
research and development expenses. We record &cfouastimated study costs comprised of workgrened by
our collaborators under contract terms.

All potential future product programs outside ofdst and colon cancer are in the research or @evigiopmer
phase. The expected time frame in which a testrierof these other cancers can be brought to miarkecertain
given the technical challenges and clinical vagalihat exist between different types of cancer2008, we began
maintaining information regarding costs incurreddotivities performed under certain contracts with
biopharmaceutical and pharmaceutical companies.edew we do not generally record or maintain infation
regarding costs incurred in research and developorea program-specific basis. Our research andldpment
staff and associated infrastructure resourceseplged across several programs. Many of our @stshus not
attributable to individual programs. As a resulg are unable to determine the duration and conopletsts of our
research and development programs or when, if @nerfo what extent we will receive cash inflonanfirthe
commercialization and sale of a product.

Stock-based Compensation Expense

On January 1, 2006, we adopted Statement of FiabActounting Standards No. 123 (Revised 208#pgre-
Based Paymer, or SFAS 123R, which addresses the accountingtfmk-based payment transactions whereby an
entity receives employee services in exchangedoitginstruments, including stock options. Und® provisions
of SFAS 123R, our employee stock-based compenstiestimated at the date of grant based on thedhie of
the award using the Black-Scholes option-pricinglei@nd is recognized as expense ratably oveletiggite
service period. The application of SFAS 123R rezpisignificant judgment and the use of estimat@gicoalarly
surrounding assumptions used in determining fdirezarhe Black-Scholes valuation method requiresuise of
estimates such as stock price volatility and exgmkoption lives, as well as expected option foufeitrates, to value
stock-based compensation. As of January 2008, ssumaptions regarding expected volatility are basethe
historical volatility of our common stock. Prior danuary 2008, our assumptions regarding expectetility were
based primarily on comparable peer data becauseooumon stock had been publicly traded for less the years
The expected life of options is estimated baseHistorical option exercise data and assumptiorsedlto unsettle
options. Expected option forfeiture rates are baselistorical data, and compensation expensejustad for actu:
results.

As required under SFAS 123R, we review our valuséissumptions on an ongoing basis, and, as a,reault
valuation assumptions used to value employee dtaskd awards granted in future periods may chS@uge.
Note 10,"Stock-Based Compensation,” in the Notes to Codsddid Financial Statements in Part Il, Item 8 &f th
Annual Report on Form 10-K for more information.

Results of Operations
Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2008, 20@y 2006

We recorded net loss for the years ended Decemh&0®8, 2007 and 2006 of $16.1 million, $27.3 imrillanc
$28.9 million, respectively. On a basic and diluped share basis, net loss was $0.57, $1.02 ad@ $dr. the years
ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respeactivel
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Revenues

We derive our revenues primarily from product saled, to a lesser extent, from contract research
arrangements. We operate in one industry segmemtp@duct revenues are derived solely from the sabur
OncotypeDX test. Payors are billed upon generation andzdsliof a Recurrence Score report to the physician.
Product revenues are recorded on a cash basisantesitract or policy is in place with the paybthe time of
billing and collectibility is reasonably assurear@ract revenues are derived from studies condueiid
biopharmaceutical and pharmaceutical companiesendecorded as contractual obligations are coexgblet

Year Ended December 31,

2008 2007 2006
(In thousands)
Product revenue $108,65¢  $62,74t  $27,00¢
Contract revenue 1,921 1,282 2,16¢
Total revenue $110,57¢ $64,027  $29,17:
Year over year dollar increase in product revetr $ 45,917  $35,73¢
Year over year percentage increase in product t@s 73% 132%

The year over year increases in product revensestee from increased adoption, as evidenced (326 6
increase in test volume for 2008 compared to 20@7aa61% increase in test volume for 2007 comptr@d06,
expanded reimbursement coverage, resulting inase®in the amount paid per test, and increagesémues
recorded on an accrual basis. Approximately $55lliom or 51%, of product revenues for the yeadeah
December 31, 2008 were recorded on an accrual dadisecognized at the time the test results welieetted,
compared to $23.0 million, or 37%, and $10.8 miljior 40%, of product revenues for the years ended
December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Of this tdelivered, 42% were on an accrual basis foy¢lae ended
December 31, 2008, compared to 26% and 21% ofdetiteered for the years ended December 31, 20672806,
respectively. For all periods, the balance of pobtdevenues was recognized upon cash collectigaaments were
received.

Product revenues from Medicare payments for the geded December 31, 2008 were $23.7 million, &6 2
product revenues, compared to $14.3 million, or 2886 $12.7 million, or 47%, for the years endedédeber 31,
2007 and 2006, respectively. Medicare revenuehi@ryear ended December 31, 2006 included $4.7omidif
payments for services provided to Medicare patiprits to Medicare’s February 27, 2006 effectivee@ge date
for OncotypeDX. Product revenues from United HealthCare InsceaDompany payments were $9.8 million, or
9% of product revenues, for the year ended Deceihe2008 compared to $8.2 million, or 13% of prctdu
revenues, for the year ended December 31, 200Te There no product revenues from United Health@ssarance
Company payments for the year ended December 88, 20

Contract revenues were $1.9 million, $1.3 milliod&2.2 million for the years ended December 30820
2007 and 2006, respectively. Contract revenueesepted studies assessing our gene expressiomlagppior
collaborative work in gene selection and protoasign with our pharmaceutical partners. The in@éasontract
revenues for 2008 compared to 2007 included thegration of $1.4 million in 2008 related to the cpletion of a
contract. The decrease in contract revenues for 26fpared to 2006 was due to project timing fayaamg
research and development collaboration activitiés.expect that our contract revenues will contitwiuctuate
based on the number and timing of studies beingucted.
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Cost of Product Revenues

Year Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006
(In thousands)
Tissue sample processing cc $18,99¢  $12,07:  $7,56¢
Employee stoc-based compensatic 491 37¢ 167
Total tissue sample processing cc 19,48¢ 12,44¢ 7,73¢
License fee: 7,69¢ 4,88t 2,17¢
Total cost of product revenu $27,18¢ $17,33.  $9,90¢
Year over year dollar increa $ 9,85/ § 7,42
Year over year percentage incre 57% 75%

Cost of product revenues represents the cost adriabs, direct labor, equipment and infrastruceexpenses
associated with processing tissue samples (induidistopathology, anatomical pathology, paraffitrastion,
reverse transcription polymerase chain reactioRPCR, quality control analyses and shipping gbaito
transport tissue samples) and license fees. Infictste expenses include allocated facility occeyaand
information technology costs. Costs associated péttiorming our test are recorded as tests areepsad. Costs
recorded for tissue sample processing represermpteof all the tests processed during the pesgdrdless of
whether revenue was recognized with respect tai¢isatRoyalties for licensed technology calculas@
percentage of product revenues and fixed annuahpais relating to the launch and commercializatib®ncotype
DX are recorded as license fees in cost of prodnwenues at the time product revenues are recatjnizie
accordance with other contractual obligations. hemefees represent a significant component of ostraf product
revenues and are expected to remain so for thedeable future.

Test volume increased 62% from 2007 to 2008 and B&fb 2006 to 2007, driving the $6.9 million, or%sy
and $4.5 million, or 60%, year over year increasdssue sample processing costs. The $2.8 mjlbos7%, and
$2.7 million, or 125%, year over year increaseliciense fees included higher royalties primariliven by year ove
year increases in product revenues of 73% and 1828pectively. We expect the cost of product reeerta
increase to the extent we process more tests.

Research and Development Expenses

Year Ended December 31,

2008 2007 2006
(In thousands)
Personne-related expense $16,53¢  $11,48° $ 6,211
Employee stoc-based compensatic 2,91: 1,88: 821
Collaboration expenst 1,43: 1,32( 1,48¢
Reagents and laboratory supp! 1,972 1,70¢ 773
Infrastructure and all other co: 5,77: 5,65t 3,55(
Total research and development expel $28,62¢  $22,05!  $12,84:
Year over year dollar increa $ 6,571 $ 9,21
Year over year percentage incre 30% 72%

Research and development expenses representrasted to develop our technology and carry ounicdil
studies and include personnel-related expensegeméaand supplies used in research and developafematory
work, infrastructure expenses, including allocaigdrhead and facility occupancy costs, contractices and other
outside costs. Research and development expersseimelude costs related to activities performedenrcontracts
with biopharmaceutical and pharmaceutical companies

The $6.6 million increase in research and developragpenses for 2008 compared to 2007 included a
$5.0 million increase in personnel-related expeusesprimarily to an increase in headcount year gear, a
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$1.0 million increase in stock-based compensatimhaa$263,000 increase in costs incurred for reagemd
laboratory supplies. The $9.2 million increasedsearch and development expenses for 2007 comua?&96
included a $5.3 million increase in personnel-edagxpenses due primarily to an increase in headg®ar over
year, a $2.1 million increase in infrastructure exges, including allocations for laboratory fambtexpansion ar
improvements, a $1.1 million increase in employteelsbased compensation and a $936,000 increasesis
incurred for reagents and lab supplies. We expexdttdur research and development expenses wilintanto
increase as we increase investment in our prodpetipe for a variety of cancers, including cancattser than
breast and colon.

Selling and Marketing Expenses

Year Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006
(In thousands)
Personnerelated expense $21,20¢  $17,22F  $11,37:
Employee stoc-based compensatic 2,622 1,87¢ 77¢
Promotional and marketing materi 10,96: 8,97 7,431
Travel, meetings and semin: 6,08¢ 5,29¢ 2,91C
Infrastructure and all other co: 5,791 3,08¢ 2,12¢
Total selling and marketing expen: $46,66¢  $36,45¢  $24,62¢
Year over year dollar increa $10,21:  $11,83:
Year over year percentage incre 28% 48%

Our selling and marketing expenses consist primafipersonnel-related expenses, education andqgifonal
expenses associated with OrigpeDX and infrastructure expenses, including allocdéaility occupancy and
information technology costs. These expenses iredhé costs of educating physicians, laboratorgqerel and
other healthcare professionals regarding our genteshnologies, how our OnégpeDX test was developed and
validated and the value of the quantitative infaiiorathat OncdypeDX provides. Selling and marketing expenses
also include the costs of sponsoring continuingingdducation, medical meeting participation ars$emination
of our scientific and economic publications relatedncotype DX.

The $10.2 million increase in selling and markegxgenses for 2008 compared to 2007 was primauiytd a
$4.0 million increase in personnel-related expensfkecting our investment in our field sales augport
organization, a $2.7 million increase in infrastwe and other expenses, including allocationddoaitities
expansion and improvements and medical affairs@tiipr breast cancer product enhancements, ari#lién
increase in promotional field and marketing expeasg792,000 increase in travel-related expensesaply
associated with field sales personnel, and a $006r:rease in stock-based compensation. Of theigdlion
increase in personnel-related expenses, $3.5 millias attributable to increases in salaries armde@lexpenses and
$528,000 was attributable to higher commissionskamdis payments related to increased product regenu

The $11.8 million increase in selling and marketxgenses in 2007 compared to 2006 was due to a
$5.9 million increase in personnel-related expensegely due to the expansion of our domestidfsles and
support organization in the second half of 20064 $2illion in higher travel-related expenses priityesissociated
with field sales personnel, a $1.5 million increaspromotional field and marketing expense, a $iillion
increase in stock-based compensation expense, $h@ anillion increase in infrastructure expensesuding
facilities expansion and improvements. Of the $Bilfion increase in personnel-related expensed, Bdllion was
attributable to increases in salaries and relatpemses, including the expansion of our domestid Bales force in
July 2006, and, $1.2 million was attributable tgher commissions and bonus payments related teased produt
revenues.

We expect that selling and marketing expensescaiitinue to increase in future periods as we castio
invest in our domestic field sales force and suppaganization and expand our commercial effortimiarnational
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markets. In January 2009, we hired an additiondl) Z) sales representatives, increasing our doonessies force t
33% to a total of 80 sales representatives.

General and Administrative Expenses

Year Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006
(In thousands)
Personne-related expense $9,18 $6,05: $ 4,53
Employee stoc-based compensatic 3,112 2,152 1,135
Professional fees and all other cc 13,32! 9,64/ 7,09¢
Total general and administrative expen $25,617  $17,84¢  $12,76¢
Year over year dollar increa $ 7,76¢ $ 5,08/
Year over year percentage incre 44% 40%

Our general and administrative expenses consisigpily of personnel-related expenses and profeakiees
and other costs, including legal fees, advisoryaunditing expenses, billing and collection costs] bebt expense
and other professional and administrative costsraladed infrastructure expenses, including alleddacility
occupancy and information technology costs.

The $7.8 million increase in general and administesexpenses for 2008 compared to 2007 included a
$3.1 million increase in personnel-related expensesprimarily to an increase in headcount year gear, a
$1.4 million increase in bad debt expense relaiegtdwth in our aged accounts receivable balarec&4,1 million
increase in billing and collections expense reldbean increase in the number of tests processgdash collected,
a $960,000 increase in stobksed compensation expense and a $768,000 inéngaséessional fees, due prima
to legal fees related to regulatory and other matnd a $406,000 increase in infrastructure afeded costs.

The $5.1 million increase in general and administesexpenses for 2007 compared to 2006 included a
$1.5 million increase in personnel-related expehgeprimarily to an increase in headcount year gear, a
$1.0 million increase in stock-based compensati@h&966,000 in higher billing and collection feesdoto third-
party billing and collection vendors. These incesagere partially offset by a decrease in bad erpénse due to
changes in our estimate of allowance for doubtfgbants, which resulted in a $115,000 credit to dhelot expense
for the year ended December 31, 2007.

We expect general and administrative expensestease as we hire additional staff and incur oghveenses
to support the growth of our business and to therdxve spend more on fees for billing and colatdias we
process more tests.

Interest and Other Income

Interest and other income was $1.8 million foryear ended December 31, 2008 compared to $3.0mdind
$2.5 million for the years ended December 31, 28@F 2006, respectively. The decrease in interekbérer
income for 2008 compared to 2007 reflected decteaderest income due to lower average cash and-sfrn
investment balances compared to the prior yeamhwgflected the investment of a portion of thecpexls from our
May 2007 common stock offering, and lower marketds on our investments in 2008. The increaseterést and
other income for 2007 compared to 2006 was dued@ased interest income from higher average seort-
investment balances, resulting from our investnoémat portion of the cash proceeds from our May 200iGlic
offering of common stock, and higher market yieddsour investments in 2007.

We expect our interest and other income may coettouwecrease if the overall decline in the interat®
environment related to the current economic casigtinues.

Interest Expense

Interest expense was $386,000 for the year endedrlger 31, 2008 compared to $678,000 and $44600 f
the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, rasgectWe incur interest expense on our equipmerarfcing
established in March 2005. The $292,000 decreasedrest expense in 2008 compared to 2007 wasodiogver
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average balances on these borrowings as we paiddben. The $232,000 increase in interest expeng2607
compared to 2006 was due to higher average balamctsese borrowings reflecting draws made on quipgnent
financing line in January 2007.

We expect our interest expense to decline as wincento make payments on our equipment finandivig.do
not anticipate using additional equipment financsga funding source in the next twelve months.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of December 31, 2008, we had an accumulatedidefi$168.5 million. We have not yet achieved
profitability and anticipate that we will likely @ur net losses for at least the next year. Howavergannot provide
assurance as to when, if ever, we will achieveitadoifity. We expect that our research and develepinselling an
marketing and general and administrative expendesamtinue to increase and, as a result, we mékd to genera
significant product revenues to achieve profitéili

2008 2007 2006
(In thousands,

As of December 31

Cash, cash equivalents and s-term investment $56,66¢ $ 68,36( $44,21¢
Working capital 52,69: 63,94¢ 37,51¢
For the year ended December 31

Cash provided by (used ir

Operating activitie: (81¢) (18,70¢6) (20,737
Investing activities (26,167 (4,749 13,04:
Financing activitie: (1,009 47,68¢ 3,77¢
Capital expenditures (included in investing acitbgtabove (20,059 (4,88)) (8,429

Sources of Liquidity

At December 31, 2008, we had cash, cash equivactshort-term investments of $56.7 million conepatio
$68.4 million at December 31, 2007. In accordanitk aur investment policy, available cash is ineelsin short-
term, low-risk, investment-grade debt instrume®tgr cash and short-term investments are held ariety of
interest-bearing instruments including money madcoebunts, obligations of U.S. government-sponsergities,
high-grade corporate bonds and commercial papebegember 31, 2008, our holdings of obligations of
U.S. government-sponsored entities consisted gnofalebt securities issued by the Federal HomanLBank, the
Federal National Mortgage Association and the Feddéome Loan Mortgage Corporation.

Historically we have financed our operations priitgahrough sales of our equity securities and aasieived
in payment for our tests. In May 2007, we completgmlblic offering of our common stock, resultimgniet
proceeds of $49.7 million. At December 31, 2008 had approximately $46.5 million of securities &afale for
issuance under a shelf registration statementh@aes of equipment and leasehold improvementstiesre
partially financed through capital equipment finimgcarrangements. At December 31, 2008 and Dece&1het007
we had notes payable under these equipment finguachrangements of $2.0 million and $4.7 milliorsgectively.
Our existing notes payable under these arrangeraemtscheduled to be fully paid by November 2010.

Cash Flows

Net cash used in operating activities was $818,808,7 million and $20.7 million for the years edde
December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectivelychlg#t used in operating activities includes net &mjusted for
certain non-cash items and changes in assetsabilitiés. The $17.9 million decrease in net casédlin operating
activities from 2008 to 2007 was primarily due t$1&%.1 million decrease in net loss excluding dejpt®n and
stockbased compensation expense, a $2.6 million decieas cash used related to increases in defeerathues
a $489,000 decrease in net cash used relateddarg#sgayable and a $1.3 million increase in actex@enses and
other liabilities, partially offset by a $491,000lllon increase in net cash used related to in@sas accounts
receivable and a $1.3 million increase in net aas#d related to decreases in accrued compensakien.
$2.0 million decrease in net cash used in operatatigities from 2007 to 2006 was primarily dueat$6.4 million
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decrease in net loss excluding depreciation arekdtased compensation expense and a $489,000 sedneaet
cash used related to increases in accrued expandesther liabilities, partially offset by a $3.1llian increase in
net cash used related to increases in accountyabt® prepaid expenses and other assets and arfiion
increase in cash used due to a decrease in acquayable.

Net cash used in investing activities was $26.Zonilfor the year ended December 31, 2008, compiareet
cash used in investing activities of $4.7 millian the year ended December 31, 2007 and net casfded by
investing activities of $13.0 million for the yeanded December 31, 2006. Our investing activitesetconsisted
predominately of purchases and maturities of matketsecurities and capital expenditures. The $2ullbn
increase in net cash used in investing activitiemf2007 to 2008 was due to a $16.3 million incegamet
purchases of shoterm investments as we invested a portion of tisb paoceeds from our May 2007 public offe
of common stock as well as a $5.2 million increiaseapital expenditures for facility expansion amgrovements.
The $17.7 million increase in net cash used instiag activities from 2006 to 2007 was due to a.$2illion
increase in net purchases of shertn investments as we invested a portion of tisé paoceeds from our May 20
public offering of common stock, partially offset b $3.5 million decrease in capital expendituesdcility
expansion and improvements.

Net cash used in financing activities was $1.0iorilfor the year ended December 31, 2008, comparadt
cash provided by financing activities of $47.7 roifland $3.8 million for the years ended Decemiier2B07 and
2006, respectively. Our financing activities inaushles of our equity securities and capital egaigrfinancing
arrangements. The $48.7 million decrease in nét pesvided by financing activities from 2007 to 300as
primarily due to a decrease in proceeds from isseiaf common stock. The $43.9 million increaseahagash
provided by financing activities from 2006 to 20@¢luded net proceeds of $49.7 million from our M2807 public
offering of common stock, partially offset by a $@énillion decrease in cash provided by capital poant
financing.

Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes our significant cantual obligations as of December 31, 2008 ance:tfest
those obligations are expected to have on ourdityuand cash flows in future periods:

Payments Due by Perioc

Less Thar More Than
Total 1 Year 1-3 Years 3-5 Years 5 Years
(In thousands)
Notes payable obligatior $2,17: $ 193¢ $ 23 $ — % —
Non-cancelable operating lease obligati 5,167 1,52( 3,357 29C —
Total $7,33¢ $ 345/ $ 359 $ 29C $ —

Our notes payable obligations are for principal enterest payments on capital equipment finandim@4arch
2005, we entered into an arrangement to financadhaisition of laboratory equipment, computer s and
software, leasehold improvements and office equigina connection with this arrangement, we grantediender
a security interest in the assets purchased witbetborrowings. Beginning in April 2006, we coutdpay all, but
not part, of any amounts owing under the arrangéseiong as we also paid a 6% premium on the mangi
outstanding principal balance. This premium wasiced to 5% in April 2007 and was further reduced%oin
April 2008. As of December 31, 2008, the outstagdinincipal balance under this arrangement was $@lln at
annual interest rates ranging from 10.23% to 11.,3@8pending upon the applicable note.

Our non-cancelable operating lease obligationgaarkaboratory and office space. In September 20@5,
entered into a nonancelable lease for 48,000 square feet of labigyratad office space in Redwood City, Califor
In January 2007, we entered into a non-cancelablgel for an additional 48,000 square feet of laborand office
space in a nearby location. Both leases expirebriary 2012.

We are required to make a series of fixed annuaheats under one of our collaboration agreemergmhbang
on the date that we commercially launched OiypeDX. We made payments of $300,000, $300,000 and,$805
in January 2006, 2007 and 2008, respectively. Weequired to make additional payments of $475,000
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in each of 2009 through 2011. However, becausermrithrty may terminate the agreement upon 30 gai@’
written notice, these payments are not includetiéntable above.

We have also committed to make potential futurenpents to third parties as part of our collaboration
agreements. Payments under these agreements g§ehecame due and payable only upon achievemespexdific
project milestones. Because the achievement oé timiestones is generally neither probable norawraisly
estimable, such commitments have not been inclird#éte table above.

Off-Balance Sheet Activities

As of December 31, 2008, we had no material of&dved sheet arrangements other than the leasetabiga
and collaboration payments discussed above.

Operating Capital and Capital Expenditure Requiremts

We expect to continue to incur operating lossestfemext 12 months and to make capital expenditior&eep
pace with the expansion of our research and der@apprograms and to scale our commercial opemation
However, we cannot provide assurance as to whenegif, we will achieve profitability. We expectgpend
approximately $5.0 million over the next 12 moniisplanned laboratory equipment and other capitplenditures
in order to support the growth of our businesmaly take years to move any one of a number of tozhndidates
in research through development and validatiorotaroercialization. We expect that our cash and egslivalents
will be used to fund working capital and for capéapenditures and other general corporate purpsses as
licensing technology rights, partnering arrangemént our tests outside the U.S., establishingctisales
capabilities outside of the U.S. or reduction dbtdebligations. We may also use cash to acquiievast in
complementary businesses, technologies, servicgoducts. We have no current plans, agreements or
commitments with respect to any such acquisitiomeestment, and we are not currently engagedyn an
negotiations with respect to any such transaction.

The amount and timing of actual expenditures may s@nificantly depending upon a number of factersch
as the progress of our product development, regylaequirements, commercialization efforts, theoant of cash
used by operations, progress in reimbursementrangdce of international expansion.

We currently anticipate that our cash, cash eqgeitaland short-term investments, together witrectns
from OncotypeDX, will be sufficient to fund our operations aratilities expansion plans for at least the next
12 months. We cannot be certain that our developofefature products will be successful or thatwi# be able tc
raise sufficient additional funds to see these g through to a successful commercial product.

Our future funding requirements will depend on méastors, including the following:

« the rate of progress in establishing reimburseragangements with thi-party payors
« the cost of expanding our commercial and laboradggrations, including our selling and marketinipes;

« the rate of progress and cost of research and @@weint activities associated with expansion of Gyipe
DX for breast cance

« the rate of progress and cost of research and @j@wveint activities associated with products in tdye
development and validation phase focused on camwntees than breast canc

« the cost of acquiring or achieving access to tissumples and technologie

« the cost of filing, prosecuting, defending and eciftg any patent claims and other intellectual prop
rights;

« the effect of competing technological and marketettgoments
« costs related to international expansi

« the cost and delays in product development asuit &fsany changes in regulatory oversight applieab oul
products or operations; ai
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« the economic and other terms and timing of anyabaliations, licensing or other arrangements intzhvive
may enter

Until we can generate a sufficient amount of pradagenues to finance our cash requirements, whiEmay
never do, we expect to finance future cash neadspty through public or private equity offeringdebt financings
borrowings or strategic collaborations. The isseamicequity securities may result in dilution togtholders, or
may provide for rights, preferences or privilegesisr to those of our holders of common stock. éfraise funds by
issuing debt securities, these debt securitiesdvioale rights, preferences and privileges senitivdse of holders
of our common stock. The terms of debt securitidsosrowings could impose significant restrictiansour
operations. We do not know whether additional fagduill be available on acceptable terms, if atR#cently, the
credit markets and the financial services industye been experiencing a period of unprecedentetbtland
upheaval characterized by the bankruptcy, failcofiapse or sale of various financial instituticrsl an
unprecedented level of intervention from the Udslefral government. These events have generally stadty and
debt financing difficult to obtain. If we are ndila to secure additional funding when needed, we maae to delay,
reduce the scope of or eliminate one or more rekemrd development programs or selling and marfatitiatives.
In addition, we may have to work with a partneroo@ or more of our product or market developmeog@ms,
which would lower the economic value of those pangs to our company.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2008, Financial Accounting StandardarBpor FASB issued FASB Staff Position 157 Effective
Date of FASB Statement No. 157(SFAS |, or FSP 157-2. FSP 157-2 delays the effective ofla8~AS 157 for all
non-financial assets and non-financial liabilitiegcept for items that are recognized or discl@éddir value in the
financial statements on a recurring basis (at leasually), until fiscal years beginning after Nouvger 15, 2008. W
have elected a partial deferral of SFAS 157 urnldeptovisions of FSP 157-2. We do not expect tipdicgtion of
SFAS 157 to our non-financial assets and non-firguliabilities to have a material impact on ourdncial
condition or results of operations.

In November 2007, FASB ratified Emerging IssuesKTrearce Issue No. 07-Bccounting for Collaborative
Arrangementsor EITF 07-1, which defines collaborative arrangateeind establishes reporting requirements for
transactions between participants in a collabogadgivangement and between participants in a cotidive
arrangement and third parties. EITF 07-1 is effector fiscal years beginning after December 10&@&nd is to be
applied retrospectively to all prior periods preserfor all collaborative arrangements existingathe effective
date. We do not expect the adoption of EITF 07eDiadve a material impact on our financial conditomesults of
operations.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURESABOUT MARKET RISK.

Our exposure to market risk is confined to our caghivalents and marketable securities. The prirobjgctive
of our investment activities is to preserve ourizdpo fund operations. We also seek to maximmmmime from our
investments without assuming significant risk. @westment policy provides for investments in skertn, low-
risk, investment-grade debt instruments. Our irmesits in marketable securities, which are comprnsedarily of
money market funds, obligations of U.S. Governnagr@ncies and government-sponsored entities, higthegr
corporate bonds and commercial paper, are sulgetgfault, changes in credit rating and changesarket value.
Due to recent financial and economic conditionsilsir investments have experienced losses in vatadiquidity
constraints which differ from historical patteriiiese investments are also subject to interestisktand will
decrease in value if market rate interest ratesase.

Our cash, cash equivalents and marketable sesytitialing $56.7 million at December 31, 2008, i
include any auction preferred stock, auction ratsties or mortgage-backed investments. We ctlyrdo not
hedge interest rate exposure, and we do not haveexign currency or other derivative financiadiruments. The
securities in our investment portfolio are clagsifas available for sale and are, due to theirt-g¢bon nature,
subject to minimal interest rate risk. To date,h@@e not experienced a loss of principal on anyupfinvestments.
Although we currently expect that our ability tacass or liquidate these investments as needegpmswour
business activities will continue, we cannot enghat this will not change. We believe that, if ketrinterest rates
were to change immediately and uniformly by 10%fievels at December 31, 2008, the impact on thevédue of
these securities or our cash flows or income waoolthe material.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Genomic Health, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of Genomic Health, Inc. as of December 31
2008 and 2007, and the related consolidated statsmé&operations, stockholders’ equity, and céshd for each
of the three years in the period ended Decembe2@®18. Our audits also included the financial steset schedule
included under Item 15(a)(2). These consolidatedritial statements and schedule are the respadtysidfithe
Companys management. Our responsibility is to expresspaman on these consolidated financial statemeaset
on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting Oversighargio
(United States). Those standards require that ame ghd perform the audit to obtain reasonable assarabout
whether the financial statements are free of materisstatement. An audit includes examining, ¢esa basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosurerifinancial statements. An audit also includeessing the
accounting principles used and significant estismatade by management, as well as evaluating thralbfieancial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetaeaferred to above present fairly, in all matenéspects, the
consolidated financial position of Genomic Healttt. at December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the cataell results
of its operations and its cash flows for each efttiree years in the period ended December 31, 20@8nformity
with U.S. generally accepted accounting principhdso, in our opinion, the related financial statathschedule,
when considered in relation to the basic finansiatements taken as a whole, presents fairly imaterial respects
the information set forth therein.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Boar
(United States), the effectiveness of Genomic Hed#lic.’s internal control over financial reportiag of
December 31, 2008, based on criteria establisheédemal Control — Integrated Framework issuedhsy
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Tremgd@ommission and our report dated March 12, 2009
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP
Palo Alto, California

March 12, 2009
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GENOMIC HEALTH, INC.

Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31
2008 2007
(In thousands, except shar
and per share amounts)

ASSETS
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivale $ 11,177 $ 39,16«
Shor-term investment 45,49¢ 29,19¢
Accounts receivable (net of allowance for doub#fetounts; 2008 — $881, 2007 —
$133) 8,801 5,08¢
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 4,781 3,10¢
Total current asse 70,25¢ 76,55¢
Property and equipment, r 15,56 10,41
Restricted cas 50C 50C
Other asset 36¢ 468
Total asset $ 86,68¢ $ 87,92¢

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Accounts payabl $ 189 $ 1,96¢
Accrued compensatic 4,157 3,672
Accrued license fee 2,55:¢ 1,79¢
Accrued expenses and other current liabili 4,39¢ 1,94¢
Notes payabl— current portior 1,814 2,681
Deferred revenue— current portior 2,381 337
Lease incentive obligatior— current portior 364 19¢
Total current liabilities 17,56¢ 12,60¢
Notes payabl— long-term portion 22E 2,03¢
Deferred revenue— long-term portion 1,417 671
Lease incentive obligatior— long-term portion 78¢ 62¢
Other liabilities 51¢ 81¢

Commitments (Note ¢

Stockholder' equity:
Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value, 5,000,000 sharthorized, none issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2008 and Z — —
Common stock, $0.0001 par value; 100,000,000 slarwrized, 28,461,327 and

28,181,859 shares issued and outstanding at Dec&hp2008 and 2007 respectiv 2 2
Additional paic¢-in capital 234,41 223,50°
Accumulated other comprehensive incc 24k 52
Accumulated defici (168,484 (152,399

Total stockholdel' equity 66,17t 71,16¢
Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity $ 86,68¢ $ 87,92¢

See accompanying notes.
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Revenues
Product revenue
Contract revenue
Total revenue
Operating expense
Cost of product revenut
Research and developm:
Selling and marketin
General and administrati
Total operating expens
Loss from operation
Interest and other incon
Interest expens
Loss before income tax bene
Income tax benef
Net loss

Basic and diluted net loss per sh

Shares used in computing basic and diluted netdesshar

GENOMIC HEALTH, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Operations

Year Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006
(In thousands, except share and per shai
amounts)

$ 108,65¢ $ 62,74t $  27,00¢
1,921 1,282 2,16¢
110,57¢ 64,027 29,17«
27,18¢ 17,33 9,90¢
28,62 22,05 12,841
46,66¢ 36,45¢ 24,62°¢
25,617 17,84¢ 12,76¢
128,09 93,68¢ 60,13¢
(17,515 (29,662 (30,965
1,751 3,04¢ 2,491
(38€) (67€) (44€)
(16,150 (27,292 (28,920
61 — —
$ (16,089 $ (27,29) $ (28,920
$ (057 $ (1.02) $ (1.19)
28,297,70  26,759,79  24,508,84

See accompanying notes.
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GENOMIC HEALTH, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity

Accumulated

Additional Deferred Other Total
Common Stock Paid-In Stock-Based Comprehensive Accumulated Stockholders’
Shares  Amount Capital Compensatior Income (Loss) Deficit Equity
(In thousands, except share and per share amount

Balance at December 31, 2005 24,470,98 $ 2 $167,05. $ (3,297 $ 58)$ (96,189 % 67,517
Deferred stock-based compensation reclassified upon

adoption of SFAS 123R on January 1, 2! — — (3,297) 3,291 — — —
Issuance of common stock to employees upon

exercise of stock options for ca 74,82¢ — 178 — — — 178
Issuance of common stock to consultants upon

exercise of stock options for ca 2,25¢ — 6 — — — 6
Stock-based compensation expense related to

employee stock optior — — 2,904 — — — 2,904
Stock-based compensation expense related to

consultant stock optior — — 83 — — — 83
Comprehensive los
Net loss — — — — — (28,92() (28,92()
Change in unrealized gain on investme — — — — 66 — 66
Comprehensive los (28,854)
Balance at December 31, 2006 24,548,06! 2 166,92: 8 (125,109 41,82¢
Issuance of common stock for cash, net of issuance

costs 3,450,001 —  49,66¢ — — — 49,66¢
Issuance of common stock to employees upon

exercise of stock options for ca 174,28° — 552 — — — 552
Issuance of common stock to consultants upon

exercise of stock options for ca 9,512 — 15 — — — 15
Stock-based compensation expense related to

employee stock optior — — 6,28t — — — 6,28t
Stock-based compensation expense related to

consultant stock optior — — 65 — — — 65
Comprehensive los
Net loss — — — — — (27,29)) (27,297)
Change in unrealized gain on investme — — — — 44 — 44
Comprehensive los (27,249
Balance at December 31, 20C 28,181,85' 2 223,50° 52 (152,39} 71,16¢
Issuance of common stock to employees upon

exercise of stock options for ca 245,03! — 1,42t — — — 1,42t
Issuance of common stock to consultants upon

exercise of stock options for ca 34,43: — 254 — — — 254
Stock-based compensation expense related to

employee stock optior — — 9,13¢ — — — 9,13¢
Stock-based compensation expense related to

consultant stock optior — — 88 — — — 88
Comprehensive los
Net loss — — — — — (16,08¢) (16,08¢)
Change in unrealized gain on investme — — — — 19z — 19z
Comprehensive los (15,899
Balance at December 31, 20C 28,461,32 $ 2$23441. $ —$ 24t $ (168,48)%  66,17¢

See accompanying notes.
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GENOMIC HEALTH, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

December 31
2008 2007 2006
(In thousands)

Operating activities

Net loss $ (16,089 $(27,297) $(28,92()
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating activities
Depreciation and amortizatic 5,012 3,99¢ 2,62¢
Employee stoc-based compensatic 9,13¢ 6,28t 2,904
Non-employee stoc-based compensatic 88 65 83
Gain on disposal of property and equipm — — (©)
Changes in assets and liabiliti
Accounts receivabl (3,719 (3,227%) (1,549
Employee note receivab — — 37
Prepaid expenses and other as (1,687 (1,647 (22¢)
Accounts payabl (68) (557) 1,13C
Accrued expenses and other liabilit 2,90t 1,60¢ 93¢
Accrued compensatic 48E 1,80¢ 913
Deferred revenue 2,79( 161 60¢
Lease incentive obligatior 32€ 99 72€
Net cash used in operating activit (81€) (18,706 (20,737
Investing activities
Purchase of property and equipm (20,057 (4,887) (8,429
Purchase of shc-term investment (112,109 (66,027) (40,009
Maturities of shorterm investment 95,99¢ 66,15¢ 61,465
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activi (26,167 (4,744 13,041

Financing activities

Proceeds from notes payal — — 4,917
Principal payments of notes paya (2,687 (2,549 (1,317
Proceeds from issuance of common stock upon exeofistock option 1,67¢ 56& 17¢
Net proceeds from issuance of common stock in putifering — 49,67( —
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activi (1,008  47,68¢ 3,77¢
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis (27,999  24,23¢ (3,919
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of¢ 39,16¢ 14,92¢ 18,83¢
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of pi $ 11,17 $39,16¢ $ 14,92¢
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow informatior

Cash paid for intere: $ 38€E $ 67¢ $ 44¢

See accompanying notes.
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GENOMIC HEALTH, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2008

Note 1. Organization and Summary of Significant AccountingPolicies
The Company

Genomic Health, Inc. (the “Company”) is a life saie company focused on the development and
commercialization of genomic-based clinical diagimotests for cancer that allow physicians andgras to make
individualized treatment decisions. The Company inasrporated in Delaware in August 2000. The Comyfsa
first test, OncdypeDX, was launched in 2004 and is used for earlyestagast cancer patients to predict the
likelihood of breast cancer recurrence and thdiliked of chemotherapy benefit. The Company hagrired
significant losses and expects to incur additidmsdes for at least the next year as commerciatlamdlopment
efforts continue. However, the Company cannot mtewssurance as to when, if ever, it will achienddifability.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements includehaldaccounts of the Company and its wholly-ownedsisiidory.
The Company has one wholly-owned subsidiary, QppelLaboratories, Inc., which was established in 2003 ia
inactive.

Basis of Presentation and Use of Estimates

The accompanying consolidated financial statemiesng been prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United Stt8&AP”). The preparation of financial statememscionformity
with generally accepted accounting principles respimanagement to make judgments, assumptionsséinthtes
that affect the amounts reported in the Compaghsolidated financial statements and accompgmgtes. Actue
results could differ materially from those estinsate

Certain reclassifications of prior period amourdasénbeen made to the Company’s consolidated finhnci
statements to conform to the current period predient

Cash Equivalents and Short-term Investments

The Company considers all highly liquid investmenih maturities of three months or less when paseh to
be cash equivalents.

The Company invests in marketable securities, pilynaoney market securities, obligations of
U.S. Government agencies and government-sponsatiigé® corporate bonds and commercial paper. The
Company considers all investments with a maturitiedess than one year as of the balance sheetiodageshort-
term investments. These securities are carriedtamated fair value with unrealized gains and lssaeluded in
stockholders’ equity. Those investments with a migtalate greater than one year as of the balaneetslate are
considered to be long-term investments. As of Ddma81, 2008, all investments were classified aslavle for
sale.

Realized gains and losses and declines in valagyif judged to be other than temporary on avaitidal-sale
securities are reported in other income or expaien securities are sold, any associated unreajjai or loss
recorded as a separate component of stockholdgugtyds reclassified out of stockholders’ equity @ specific-
identification basis and recorded in earnings ffierperiod.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of certain of the Companyiatfficial instruments, including cash and cash etgrits,
short-term investments, trade receivables and ats@ayable, approximate fair value due to theartsimaturities.
Based on borrowing rates currently available toGbenpany for loans and capital lease obligatiorth similar
terms, the carrying value of the Company’s debigaliions approximates fair value.
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In September 2006, the Financial Accounting Stasel&oard (“FASB”) issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 157air Value Measuremen{§SFAS 157"). SFAS 157 defines fair value, estdisis a
framework for measuring fair value and expandslasoes about fair value measurements. SFAS 15lfeapp
whenever standards require (or permit) assetabilities to be measured at fair value, and do¢®rpand the use
of fair value in any new circumstances.

The Company adopted SFAS 157 as of January 1, 0@ ancial assets and liabilities measured atvfalue.
There was no financial statement impact as a re$alloption. The Company will adopt SFAS 157 fonn
financial assets and liabilities as of JanuaryOD® See Note 3 for more information.

In February 2007, the FASB issued Statement ofrféiiah Accounting Standards No. 15%e Fair Value
Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabiis — Including an amendment of FASB Statement1$o. 1
(“SFAS 159"). SFAS 159 expands the use of fair gaacounting but does not affect existing standgralsrequire
assets or liabilities to be carried at fair valdader SFAS 159, a company may elect to use faireved measure
accounts and loans receivable, available-for-gadeheeld-to-maturity securities, equity method irtwents,
accounts payable, issued debt and other finanssata and liabilities. SFAS 159 is effective fecél years
beginning after November 15, 2007.

The Company adopted SFAS 159 effective Januar®08 2nd did not elect fair value as an alternative
measurement for any financial instruments not nesly carried at fair value.

In October 2008, FASB issued Staff Position No.-B5Determining the Fair Value of a Financial Asset \Whe
the Market for That Asset Is Not ActiVESP 157-3") which clarifies the application of 8% 157 in an inactive
market and illustrates how an entity would deteerfair value when the market for a financial assebt active.
The Company adopted FSP 157-3 as of SeptembefB8, Zhere was no financial impact as a resultofption.

Concentration of Risk

Cash equivalents, short-term investments and atsoeoeivable are financial instruments which ptitdiy
subject the Company to concentrations of credit itie Company invests in money market securitiesugh a
major U.S. bank and is exposed to credit risk aekient of default by the financial institutionth@ extent of
amounts recorded on the consolidated balance sfAdwtsCompany invests in short-term, investmentigmdebt
instruments and by policy limits the amount in @ame type of investment, except for securities idsareguaranteed
by the U.S. Government. Through December 31, 2008naterial losses had been incurred.

As of December 31, 2008, all of the Company’s pobdevenues have been derived from sales of orduptp
the OncaypeDX test. Substantially all of the Company’s testslate have been delivered to physicians in the
United States. All OnctypeDX assays are processed in the Company’s clingfatence laboratory facility in
Redwood City, California. One third-party payor @anted for approximately 22%, 23% and 47% of then@any's
product revenues for the years ended December088, 2007 and 2006, respectively. This payor repriesl 42%
and 55% of the Company’s net accounts receivabiémba as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, respegctivel
Another third-party payor accounted for approxirha89o, 13% and 5% of the Company’s product reverines
2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. This payor sspred 14% and 10% of the Company’s accounts rauleiv
balance as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, resphctiv

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Company accrues an allowance for doubtful attsoagainst its accounts receivable consistent with
historical payment experience. Bad debt expenseiisded in general and administrative expensénerCtompanye
consolidated statements of operations. Accountsivable are written off against the allowance witenappeals
process is exhausted, when an unfavorable coveleasion is received or when there is other subisevidence
that the account will not be paid. As of DecemhbkrZ008 and 2007, the Company’s allowance for daubt
accounts was $881,000 and $133,000, respectivaiye\ffs for doubtful accounts of $595,000 and $260 were
recorded against the allowance during the yearscebacember 31, 2008 and 2007,
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respectively. Bad debt expense was $1.3 millioh15$000) and $510,000 for the years ended DeceBihex008,
2007 and 2006, respectively. Changes in the Conipastimate of allowance for doubtful accounts lteslin the
reduction of bad debt expense for the year endesgiber 31, 2007.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost. Depia@tia calculated using the straight-line methedrahe
estimated useful lives of the assets, which ranga three to five years. Leasehold improvementsaarertized
using the straight-line method over the estimatezful lives of the assets or the remaining terrtheflease,
whichever is shorter.

Internal-Use Software

The Company accounts for software developed ofirddefor internal use in accordance with Statenoént
Position 98-1Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Dopasd or Obtained for Internal Us&he
statement requires capitalization of certain costsrred in the development of internal-use sofeyarcluding
external direct material and service costs and eyeg payroll and payroll-related costs. Capitalirgdrnal-use
software costs, which are included in property egdipment, are generally depreciated over threesyea

Leases

The Company enters into lease agreements fortitsaddory and office facilities. These leases aassified as
operating leases. Rent expense is recognized waighd-line basis over the term of the lease. mtiges granted
under the Company’s facilities leases, includirigvednces to fund leasehold improvements and reliddys, are
capitalized and are recognized as reductions talrerpense on a straight-line basis over the tdrthe lease.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are meleal at cost, less accumulated amortization. Aratitin is
recognized over the estimated useful lives of Ssets.

Impairment of Long-lived Assets

The Company reviews long-lived assets, which inelptbperty and equipment and intangible assets, for
impairment whenever events or changes in busirissgwstances indicate that the carrying amounth®fssets
may not be fully recoverable. An impairment losandobe recognized when estimated discounted fudtasé flows
expected to result from the use of the asset arel/gntual disposition are less than its carryimgunt. Impairment,
if any, is assessed using discounted cash flowsteTiwere no impairment losses for the years endegmber 31,
2008, 2007 and 2006.

Guarantees and Indemnifications

The Company, as permitted under Delaware law amagdordance with its bylaws, indemnifies its off&cand
directors for certain events or occurrences, stigecertain limits, while the officer or direct or was serving at
the Company’s request in such capacity. The terthefndemnification period is for the officer’s director’s
lifetime. The maximum amount of potential futureémnification is unlimited; however, the Companyg ha
director and officer insurance policy that limits @xposure and may enable it to recover a podi@my future
amounts paid. The Company believes the fair valukese indemnification agreements is minimal. Adawgly, the
Company has not recorded any liabilities for theegeements as of December 31, 2008 and 2007.

Income Taxes

The Company uses the liability method for incometa whereby deferred income taxes are providateors
recognized for financial reporting purposes ovéfiedent periods than for income tax purposes. idna
allowances are provided when the expected realizati tax assets does not meet a more-likely-thareriterion.
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The Company adopted FASB Interpretation A8;ounting for Uncertainty in Income TaxgBIN 48”), as of
January 1, 2007. FIN 48 clarifies the accountinguftcertainty in income taxes by prescribing theogmition
threshold a tax position is required to meet bebmiag recognized in the financial statementslst arovides
guidance on derecognition, classification, inteegst penalties, accounting in interim periods, Idsare, and
transition. FASB Staff Position FIN 48-1 (“FSP F48-1"), which provides guidance on determining wieeta tax
position is effectively settled for purposes ofaguizing previously unrecognized tax benefits, vgased in May
2007 and is effective upon the Company’s initiabatibn of FIN 48. The adoption of FIN 48 and FSR BB-1 had
no impact on the Company’s financial condition ulessof operations or cash flows. See Note 12,dine Taxes,”
for additional FIN 48 disclosures.

Comprehensive Gain or Loss

The Company displays comprehensive gain or losstamdmponents within its consolidated statements
stockholders’ equity. Other comprehensive gaiross lconsists entirely of unrealized gains and ®eseavailable-
for-sale investments.

Revenue Recognition

The Company derives its revenues from product saldscontract research arrangements. The Company
operates in one industry segment. Product revesmgederived solely from the sale of the OhgueDX test for
breast cancer. The Company generally bills thirdypaayors for OncdypeDX upon generation and delivery of a
Recurrence Score report to the physician. As ghehCompany takes assignment of benefits and sheofi
collection with the third-party payor. The Comparsually bills the patient directly for amounts owafter multiple
requests for payment have been denied or onlyafigirtiaid by the insurance carrier. As a relativiedyv test, Onco
typeDX may be considered investigational by some pagatstherefore not covered under their reimbursémen
policies. Consequently, the Company pursues casmbgreimbursement where policies are not in place gmaa
history has not been established.

The Company’s product revenues for tests perforanedecognized when the following revenue recogmiti
criteria are met: (1) persuasive evidence thatremgement exists; (2) delivery has occurred orises have been
rendered; (3) the fee is fixed or determinable; @)dollectibility is reasonably assured. Criterid) is satisfied
when the Company has an agreement or contractikétpayor in place, or when the payor has issyzaliay
addressing reimbursement for the Ogme DX test. Criterion (2) is satisfied when the Compaerforms the test
and generates and delivers a Recurrence Scord tefbe physician. Determination of criteria (8)Jda4) is based
on management’s judgments regarding whether theHfarmyed for products or services delivered isfize
determinable, contractual agreements enteredantbthe collectibility of those fees under any cacitor
agreement. When evaluating collectibility, the Camp considers whether it has sufficient historyetably
estimate a payas’individual payment patterns. Based upon at astral months of payment history, the Comg
reviews the number of tests paid against the numbiests billed and the payor’s outstanding badafioc unpaid
tests to determine whether payments are being miaaleonsistently high percentage of tests biltedi at
appropriate amounts given the contracted paymeotamTo the extent all criteria set forth above aot met whe
test results are delivered, product revenues aagrézed when cash is received from the payor.

Prior to 2008, product revenues had largely beeogrized on a cash basis because the Companylimaiteal
number of contracts or agreements with third-ppéyors and limited collections experience. The Camyp
recognizes a portion of its product revenue fromdtparty payors, including some private payors Rtedlicare, on
an accrual basis prospectively when the critergzdieed in the preceding paragraph are satisfiedttfe year ende
December 31, 2008, approximately half of total pi@idevenue recognized was recorded on an accasa.b

Contract revenues are generally derived from stuciimducted with biopharmaceutical and pharmacautic
companies. The specific methodology for revenuegasition is determined on a case-by-case basigdiocpto
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the facts and circumstances applicable to a gieatract. Under certain contracts, the Comparigput, measured
terms of fulltime equivalent level of effort or running a setagkays through its clinical reference laboratarnyeu &
contractual protocaol, triggers payment obligaticars] revenues are recognized as costs are incurassays are
processed. Certain contracts have payments th&tiggered as milestones are completed, such apletion of a
successful set of experiments. Milestones are ssdam an individual basis and revenue is recognigeen these
milestones are achieved, as evidenced by acknowlexigfrom collaborators, provided that (1) the stibme event
is substantive and its achievability was not reabgnassured at the inception of the agreemen{nithe mileston
payment is nomefundable. Where separate milestones do not hese tcriteria, the Company typically defaults
performance-based model, such as revenue recagfiliowing delivery of effort as compared to atimsite of
total expected effort.

Advance payments received in excess of revenuegmnéred are classified as deferred revenue urth sitme
as the revenue recognition criteria have been met.

Stock-based Compensation

On January 1, 2006, the Company adopted Staterhé&irtancial Accounting Standards No. 123 (Revised
2004),Share-Based PaymefiSFAS 123R"). SFAS 123R addresses the accountingtbck-based payment
transactions whereby an entity receives employaeéces in exchange for equity instruments, inclgdétock
options. SFAS 123R eliminates the ability to ace¢danstock-based payment transactions using ttimgic value
method under Accounting Principles Board Opinion R (“APB 25"), and instead requires that suchgeations
be accounted for using a fair-value based methbd.application of SFAS 123R requires significamigonent and
the use of estimates, particularly surrounding mggions used in determining fair value. The Compasgs the
Black-Scholes valuation method, which requiresube of estimates such as stock price volatility exmpected
option lives, as well as expected option forfeittates, to value stock-based compensation, andjméxes stock-
based compensation expense on a straight-line. basis

The Company elected the modified prospective ttimmsimethod as permitted under SFAS 123R, which
requires that stock-based compensation expensxbeded for all new and unvested stock optionsdtet
ultimately expected to vest as the requisite seridaendered beginning on January 1, 2006. Staskd
compensation expense resulting from the adopti@®F#S 123R represents expense related to stoakngpgrante:
on or after January 1, 2006, as well as stock optgranted prior to, but not yet vested as of, dgnii, 2006. As of
December 31, 2008, total unrecognized compensatipanse related to unvested stock options, nettimhated
forfeitures, was $18.2 million. The Company expéetsecognize this expense over a weighted-avgraged of
46 months.

Equity instruments granted to non-employees argedhtising the Black-Scholes method and accounteaisfo
prescribed by SFAS 123R and Emerging Issues TasleRtEITF”) Issue No. 96-18\ccounting for Equity
Instruments That Are Issued to Other Than Emplofee&cquiring, or in Conjunction with Selling, Gd® or
Serviceq“EITF 96-18"), and will be subject to periodic rduation over their vesting terms.

On November 10, 2005, the FASB issued FASB Staditlm No. FAS 123(R)-3Transition Election Related
to Accounting for Tax Effects of Share-Based Paymesmards(“FSP 123R-3"). The Company elected to adopt the
alternative transition method provided in FSP 123#f calculating the tax effects (if any) of stelehsed
compensation expense pursuant to SFAS 123R. Témalfive transition method includes simplified noeth to
establish the beginning balance of the additioa#&4n capital pool, or APIC pool, related to tlag effects of
employee stock-based compensation (if any), anétermine the subsequent impact to the APIC podltlae
consolidated statements of operations and casls ftduhe tax effects (if any) of employee stockdhs
compensation awards that are outstanding upon iadopt SFAS 123R.
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401(k) Plan

Substantially all of the Company’s employees areeced by its defined contribution plan qualifiecden
Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. Omidgnl, 2007, the Company began dollar for dollatahing of
employee contributions up to a maximum of $1,000sfch employee per year. The match is funded coerdly
with a participant’'s semi-monthly contributionstie 401(k) Plan. The Company recorded expense2d,$80 and
$246,000 for the years ended December 31, 2002@®id for its contributions under the Plan. Thereen®
employer match contributions to the 401(k) Plantfer year ended December 31, 2006.

Cost of Product Revenues

Cost of product revenues includes the cost of risd¢edirect labor, equipment and infrastructurpenses
associated with processing tissue samples (induidistopathology, anatomical pathology, paraffitr&stion, RT-
PCR and quality control analyses), shipping chatgesansport tissue samples and license feesadmircture
expenses include allocated facility occupancy afatination technology costs. Costs associated pétforming
the Company'’s tests are recorded as tests aregsexteCosts recorded for tissue sample processhghapping
charges represent the cost of all the tests predehsring the period regardless of whether revevagerecognized
with respect to that test. License fees for rogaltiue on product revenues and contractual oldigmtre recorded
in cost of product revenues at the time productmees are recognized or in accordance with otharactual
obligations.

Research and Development

Research and development expenses are comprisieel fofllowing types of costs incurred in performing
research and development activities: salaries andfiis, allocated overhead and facility occupasasts, contract
services, reagents and laboratory supplies, arnd tmacquire in-process research and developnmejggbs and
technologies that have no alternative future usseBrch and development expenses also includeretated to
activities performed under contracts with biophacewdical and pharmaceutical companies. Research and
development costs are expensed as incurred.

The Company enters into collaboration and clinfidal agreements with clinical collaborators andarels thes
costs as research and development expenses. Thea@pmecords accruals for estimated study costpdeed of
work performed by its collaborators under conttaains.

In June 2007, FASB ratified EITF Issue No. 07A8¢counting for Non-Refundable Payments for Goods or
Services Received for Use in Future Research anglbpment Activitie§'EITF 07-3"). EITF 07-3 requires that
non-refundable advance payments for goods or it will be used or rendered for future redearn
development activities be deferred and capitalezedirecognized as an expense as the goods arerddlior the
related services are performed.

The Company adopted EITF 07-03 effective JanuaB0Q8 for arrangements that were entered into Hfter
date. Prior to January 1, 2008, the Company rezednion-refundable advance payments for goodseanitss to
be used for future research and development detviis an expense when payments were made. Aglaafethe
adoption of EITF 07-3, the Company’s research ancbpment expenses decreased by $258,000 aret itsss
per share decreased by $0.01 for the year endeehfier 31, 2008. The Company expects to recognizeth
deferred and capitalized amounts as expense irefperiods as the related services are delivered.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2008, FASB issued FASB Staff Positibi-2, Effective Date of FASB Statement No. 157
(“FSP 157-2"). FSP 157-2 delays the effective @dt8FAS 157 for all non-financial assets and nawdficial
liabilities, except for items that are recognizedlisclosed at fair value in the financial statetsam a recurring
basis (at least annually), until fiscal years begig after November 15, 2008. The Company hasedeztpartial
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deferral of SFAS 157 under the provisions of FSP-25The Company does not expect the application of SE&&
to its non-financial assets and nfamancial liabilities to have a material impact it financial condition or results
operations when the standard is applied

In November 2007, FASB ratified EITF No. 07Accounting for Collaborative Arrangemert&lTF 07-1").
EITF 07-1 defines collaborative arrangements atabéishes reporting requirements for transacticets/ben
participants in a collaborative arrangement an@éen participants in a collaborative arrangemedtthind parties.
EITF 07-1 is effective for fiscal years beginnirftea December 15, 2008, and is to be applied rp&ctively to all
prior periods presented for all collaborative agaments existing as of the effective date. The Goppgloes not
expect the adoption of EITF 07-01 to have a mdtaripact on its financial condition or results gfeyations.

Note 2. Net Loss Per Share

Basic net loss per share is calculated by dividiegloss for the period by the weighted-averagebarrof
common shares outstanding for the period withonsizteration for potential common shares. Dilutetloss per
share is computed by dividing net loss by the wieidglverage number of common shares outstanding fqudtied
and dilutive potential common shares for the pedetérmined using the treasury-stock method. Foptirposes of
this calculation, options to purchase common stayekconsidered to be potential common shares @&nacar
included in the calculation of diluted net loss peare because their effect is anti-dilutive.

Year Ended December 31,

2008 2007 2006
(In thousands, except share and per share dat.
Net loss $ (16,089 $ (27,299 $ (28,920
Weighted-average net common shares outstandirtgafic and
diluted loss per common she 28,297,70 26,759,79 24,508,84
Basic and diluted net loss per sh $ (059 % (1.02 % (1.1¢)
Outstanding dilutive securities not included irutild net loss pr
share calculation (at end of perio
Options to purchase common st¢ 4,665,03 3,919,72 2,940,80:

Note 3. Fair Value Measurements

On January 1, 2008, the Company adopted the pomgsif SFAS 157 for its financial assets and liaed. As
permitted by FSP 157-2, the Company elected tordleéeadoption of SFAS 157 for all non-financiadets and
non-financial liabilities, except those that areagnized or disclosed at fair value in its finahsiatements on a
recurring basis (at least annually), until Janugrg009. SFAS 157 provides a framework for meaguiair value
under GAAP and requires expanded disclosures regpfair value measurements. SFAS 157 defines/tdire as
the exchange price that would be received for aataw paid to transfer a liability, or an exitqari in the principal
or most advantageous market for that asset ofitialvi an orderly transaction between market g§ptnts on the
measurement date. SFAS 157 also establishes\afae hierarchy which requires an entity to maxartize use of
observable inputs, where available, and minimizeube of unobservable inputs when measuring faieva he
standard describes three levels of inputs thatlmeaysed to measure fair value:

Level 1. Quoted prices in active markets for identicabtssr liabilities.

Level 2. Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices, sischuoted prices for similar assets or liabiljties
guoted prices in markets that are not active, loeinputs that are observable or can be corrobdtag observable
market data for substantially the full term of #esets or liabilities.
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Level 3: Unobservable inputs that are supported by littlao market activity and that are significanthe fait
value of the assets or liabilities.

The following table sets forth the Company’s fin@hnstruments that were measured at fair valua on
recurring basis at December 31, 2008 by level withe fair value hierarchy. The Company did notehamy non-
financial assets or liabilities that were measumedisclosed at fair value on a recurring basidetember 31, 2008.
As required by SFAS 157, assets and liabilitiessaead at fair value are classified in their enyiteased on the
lowest level of input that is significant to therfaalue measurement. The Company’s assessmen¢ aignificance
of a particular input to the fair value measuremaiits entirety requires management to make judgsand
considers factors specific to the asset or lighilit

Actively Quoted Significant Other Significant
Markets for Observable Unobservable Balance at
Identical Assets Inputs Inputs December 31
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2008

(In thousands)

As of December 31, 200¢

Assets
Money market deposi $ 592¢ $ — 3 — $ 592¢
U.S. Treasury securitie 1,004 — — 1,004
Debt securities of U.S. government-sponsored

agencies — 37,35( — 37,35(
Commercial pape — 8,14¢ — 8,14¢
Corporate bond — 1,00¢ — 1,00

Note 4. Commercial Technology Licensing Agreement

The Company is a party to various agreements unbigh it licenses technology on a nonexclusive dasthe
field of human diagnostics. Access to these licemsmbles the Company to process its laborataty fimsOnco
typeDX. While certain agreements contain provisionsfiiced annual payments, license fees are generally
calculated as a percentage of product revenuds raties that vary by agreement and may be tieretpayments
that may be capped at annual minimum or maximumuaso The Company recognized costs recorded uhdset
agreements for the years ended December 31, 2008,ghd 2006 of $7.7 million, $4.9 million and $2nflion,
respectively, which were included in cost of pradewenues.

Note 5. Short-term Investments

The following tables illustrate the Company’s aahle-for-sale securities as of the dates indicated:

December 31, 200:
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Estimated

Cost Gains Losses Fair Value

(In thousands)
Debt securities of U.S. governm-sponsored entitie $37,14: $ 20¢ $ (3 $ 37,35(
Corporate debt securitii 8,11( 42 (3) 8,14¢
Total $4525¢ $ 251 $ (6) $ 45,49¢
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December 31, 200
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Estimated

Cost Gains Losses Fair Value

(In thousands)
Debt securities of U.S. governm-sponsored entitie $ 2,84¢ $ 1 $ — $ 2,84¢
Corporate debt securiti 26,29¢ 53 (2 26,34
Total $29,14: $ 54 $ (2) $ 29,19¢

The Company had no realized gains or losses @v#iable-for-sale securities for the years ended
December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

The amortized cost and estimated fair value oflalsbe-for-sale securities by contractual maturity a
December 31, 2008 was as follows:

December 31, 2008

Cost Market Value
(In thousands)
Due in one year or le: $45,25:  $  45,49¢

Note 6. Property and Equipment
The following table summarizes the Company'’s prgpand equipment as of the dates indicated:

December 31

2008 2007
(In thousands)

Laboratory equipmer $12,23¢ $ 9,881
Computer equipment and inter-use softwart 2,931 1,52C
Furniture and fixture 2,351 1,73¢
Leasehold improvemen 12,48¢ 7,291
Construction in progres — 27€

30,01 20,71¢(
Less accumulated depreciation and amortize (14,457 (10,299
Total $ 15,56: $10,41:

For the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 arfi] #8Company recorded depreciation and amortizati
expense of $4.9 million, $3.9 million and $2.6 ioil, respectively.

Note 7. Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities

The following table summarizes the Company’s aatmgpenses and other current liabilities as ofittes

indicated:

December 31

2008 2007

(In thousands)
Accrued expense $2,022  $1,10¢
Accrued refund: 1,35¢ 60
Accrued professional and other service 1 91€ 69¢
Other current liabilitie: 101 85
Total $4,39¢  $1,94¢
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Accrued refunds includes overpayments due to théndy payors. Accrued professional and other serfges
includes third-party billing and collections codegal expenses, accounting and audit fees andtimveelations
expenses.

Note 8. Commitments
Notes Payable

In March 2005, the Company entered into an arraegéno finance the acquisition of laboratory arfitef
equipment, computer hardware and software andHe&dsénprovements. In connection with this arrangamthe
Company granted the lender a security interedtérassets purchased with the borrowed amountsnBiegiin
April 2006, the Company could prepay all, but nattpf, the amounts outstanding under the arrangestelong a
the Company also paid a 6% premium on the outstgrtincipal balance. This premium was reducedtarb
April 2007 and further reduced to 4% in April 20@& of December 31, 2008, the outstanding notealgay
principal balance under this arrangement was $2l®mat annual interest rates ranging from 10.2@%41.30%,
depending on the applicable note. According ta¢ims of the arrangement, the Company is requirenbtify the
lender if there is a material adverse change ifingmcial condition, business or operations. Tlen@any believes
has complied with all the material covenants offthancing arrangement during the years ended DbeeBil,
2008, 2007 and 2006.

As of December 31, 2008, the Company’s aggregateritments under its financing arrangement were as
follows:

Annual
Payment
Amounts

(In thousands’
Years Ending December 2

2009 $ 1,93¢
2010 23¢
Total minimum payment 2,172
Less: interest portio (139
Present value of net minimum payme 2,03¢
Less: current portion of obligatiol (1,819
Long-term obligations $ 22t

Lease Obligations

In September 2005, the Company entered into a aonetable lease directly with the facility owner fo
48,000 square feet of laboratory and office sphatthe Company currently occupies in Redwood @sljfornia.
The lease expires in February 2012 and includess |gaentive obligations of $834,000 that are beimgrtized on
a straight-line basis over the life of the leasecdnnection with this lease, the Company was redqub secure a
$500,000 letter of credit, which is classified astricted cash on the consolidated balance sheets.

In January 2007, the Company entered into a nonetable lease for an additional 48,000 squarediet
laboratory and office space in a nearby locatidre lease expires in February 2012 and includes lieagntive
obligations totaling $283,000 that are being armaedion a straight-line basis over the life of #eesk. In connection
with this lease, the Company paid a $151,000 cesbrity deposit, which is included in other assetshe
consolidated balance sheets.
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Rent expense under all operating leases amountgt tamillion, $1.2 million and $810,000 for theaye ende
December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Future non-cancelable commitments under these tipgiaases at December 31, 2008 were as follaws (i
thousands):

Annual
Payment
Amounts

(In thousands'

Years Ending December 2

2009 $ 1,52(
2010 1,63¢
2011 1,72:
2012 29C
Total minimum payment $ 5,167

Clinical Collaborator Costs

The Company has entered into a variety of collaimmaand specimen transfer agreements relating to i
development efforts. The Company recorded collaimraxpenses of $1.4 million, $1.3 million and % illion
for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 angl, 286pectively, relating to services providedanmection witl
these agreements. In addition to these expengggincagreements contain provisions for royaltres inventions
resulting from these collaborations. The Comparg/datain options and rights relating to joint intiens arising
out of the collaborations.

At December 31, 2008, future fixed annual paymesslusive of royalty payments, relating to thenlelu and
commercialization of OnctypeDX totaled $1.4 million and are payable as follows:

Annual

Payments
(In thousands’

Payment Due:

January 200! $ 47t
January 201! 47¢%
January 201 47¢
Total payment: $ 1,42¢

These payments are recorded in cost of produchtesgeas license fees. Expense is recorded ratabiytie
year before the relevant payment is made. If attiamg the Company discontinues the sale of comrakpcoducts
or services resulting from the collaboration, ntufa annual payments will be payable and the Compalhhave
no further obligation under the agreement. If tlwenPany’s cash balance is less than $5.0 milliotherdue date of
any of the annual payments, the Company may betaldefer any current annual payment due for sodest up to
12 months.
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Note 9. Capital Stock
Common Stock

As of December 31, 2008, the Company had 28,461sBares of common stock outstanding. Shares of
common stock reserved for future issuance as oémber 31, 2008 were as follows:

Shares to be issued upon exercise of outstandicg sptions 4,665,03
Shares available for future stock option gr: 1,055,47.
Shares of common stock reserved for future issu 5,720,50!

Public Offering of Common Stock

On May 25, 2007, the Company closed an underwrjitéslic offering of 3,450,000 shares of common lstatc
a price to the public of $15.50 per share purstattie Company’s shelf registration statement omF8-3. Net
proceeds from the offering, after deducting theamuliting discounts and offering expenses, were B4éllion.
Entities affiliated with Julian Baker, an outsideedtor and a principal stockholder of the Companychased
1,000,000 shares of the Company’s common stodkisnofffering. As of December 31, 2008, the Complaag
approximately $46.5 million of securities availabbe sale under a shelf registration statement.Ngzte 11 for
further information on related parties.

Note 10. Stock-based Compensatiot
2005 Stock Incentive Plan

On September 8, 2005, the Board of Directors amatdfie 2005 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2005 Planfjich
was later approved by the Company’s stockholddrs. Gompany has reserved 5,000,000 shares of thp&ois
common stock for issuance under the 2005 Plan2008 Plan became effective upon the closing oQbepany’s
initial public offering on October 4, 2005. Pursutmthe 2005 Plan, stock options, restricted shastck units, and
stock appreciation rights may be granted to emm@syeonsultants, and outside directors of the Comp@ptions
granted may be either incentive stock options mistatutory stock options.

Stock options are governed by stock option agret¢srimtween the Company and recipients of stocloogti
Incentive stock options may be granted under ti¥ Zlan at an exercise price of not less than 160fte fair
market value of the common stock on the date aftgdetermined by the Compensation Committee oBibard of
Directors. Nonstatutory stock options may be grduteder the 2005 Plan at an exercise price ofesst than 80%
of the fair market value of the common stock ondh& of grant, determined by the Compensation Cittesrof the
Board of Directors. Options become exercisableexpire as determined by the Compensation Commitresjdec
that the term of incentive stock options may nateed 10 years from the date of grant. Stock o@greements m:
provide for accelerated exercisability in the evefirdin optionee’s death, disability, or retiremenbther events.

Under the 2005 Plan, each outside director whasjtie board after the effective date of the 20@H il
receive an automatic nonstatutory stock option tgftzat vests at a rate of 25% at the end of tls¢ yiear, with the
remaining balance vesting monthly over the nexadhrears. On the first business day following tieual meeting
of the Company’s stockholders, each outside diregtm is continuing board service and who was nibigily
elected to the board at the annual meeting wikirecan additional nonstatutory stock option gratich will vest
in full on the first anniversary of the date of grar, if earlier, immediately prior to the nextraral meeting of the
Companys stockholders. Nonstatutory stock options gratdgezlitside directors must have an exercise pricaldc
100% of the fair market value of the common stogkle date of grant. Nonstatutory stock optionsiteate on the
earlier of the day before the tenth anniversarthefdate of grant or the date twelve months aftlenination of the
outside director’s service as a member of the boadirectors.
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Restricted shares, stock appreciation rights, soaksinits granted under the 2005 Plan are goveged
restricted stock agreements, SAR agreements, aokl ghit agreements between the Company and retspid the
awards. Terms of the agreements are determineldeb@ dmpensation Committee.

2001 Stock Incentive Plan

The Company’s 2001 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2PGiIn") was terminated upon completion of the
Company’s initial public offering on October 4, Z200No shares of common stock are available unde2@®1 Plan
other than to satisfy exercises of stock optiomstgd under the 2001 Plan prior to its terminatidgmder the 2001
Plan, incentive stock options and nonstatutorykstgtions were granted to employees, officers, direttors of, or
consultants to, the Company and its affiliates.i@yt granted under the 2001 Plan expire no later fl0 years froi
the date of grant.

Employee Stock-Based Compensation Expense

Employee stock-based compensation expense forets gnded December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 was
calculated based on awards ultimately expecte@$band has been reduced for estimated forfeit@eaS 123R
requires forfeitures to be estimated at the timgraht and revised, if necessary, in subsequeitgif actual
forfeitures differ from those estimates. Employ®xk-based compensation expense includes expeasedréo
options granted to outside directors of the Compahg Company recorded employee stock-based comafemns
expense of $9.1 million, $6.3 million and $2.9 il for the years ended December 31, 2008, 20026606,
respectively. The following table presents the intgd employee stock-based compensation expenseleated
statements of operations line items for the yeaded December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006:

Year Ended December 31,

2008 2007 2006
(In thousands)
Cost of product revenus $ 491 $ 37t $ 167
Research and developmt 2,91z 1,88 821
Selling and marketin 2,622 1,87¢ 77¢
General and administratiy 3,112 2,152 1,13
Total $9,13¢  $6,28t  $2,90¢

Employee stock-based compensation expense resfritimgthe adoption of SFAS 123R represents expense
related to stock options granted on or after JanLiaR006, as well as stock options granted papbtit not yet
vested as of, January 1, 2006. As of December(8,2otal unrecognized compensation expense delate
unvested stock options, net of estimated forfegtuweas $18.2 million. The Company expects to reizegthis
expense over a weighted-average period of 46 months

Valuation Assumptions

The employee stock-based compensation expensenigedginder SFAS 123R was determined using the
Black-Scholes option valuation model. Option valuatmodels require the input of highly subjectigsamptions
that can vary over time. As of January 2008, then@any’s assumptions regarding expected volatiligyleased on
the historical volatility of the Company’s commaoak. Prior to January 2008, the Company’s assumsti
regarding expected volatility were based primasilycomparable peer data because the Company’s corstock
had been publicly traded for less than two yeal& @xpected life of options granted is estimatestdan historical
option exercise data and assumptions related tettled options. The risk-free interest rate ismeated using
published rates for U.S. Treasury securities witBraaining term approximating the expected liféhef options
granted. The Company uses a dividend yield of asrib has never paid cash dividends and does not
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anticipate paying cash dividends in the foreseefaire. The weighted-average fair values and apsions used in
calculating such values during each fiscal yeaaar®llows:

Year Ended December 31

2008 2007 2006
Expected volatility 58% 61% 68%
Risk-free interest rat 1.9&% 3.9%  4.7¢%
Expected life of options in yea 5.8 5.8 h.5
Weightec-average fair valu $9.7¢  $12.77  $10.27

Stock Options Granted to Non-employees

The Company grants stock options to consultanta time to time in exchange for services perfornmadlie
Company. During the years ended December 31, ZDIg, and 2006, the Company granted options to psech
14,400, 9,600 and 2,850 shares, respectively,nsutants. The fair value of these option grants determined
using the Black-Scholes option pricing model ancbaated for as prescribed by SFAS 123R and EITE®En
general, the options vest over the contractuabgderof the respective consulting arrangement dredetore, the
Company revalues the options periodically and @sadditional compensation expense related to thetsens ove
the remaining vesting periods. During the yearsedridecember 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, stock-based
compensation expense related to these options 888, $65,000 and $83,000, respectively.

Stock Option Activity
The following is a summary of option activity fdret years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006:

Outstanding Options
Shares Available Number of Weighted-Average

for Grant Shares Exercise Price

Balance at December 31, 2C 4,290,63: 2,021,277 % 4.7¢

Options grante: (1,043,70) 1,043,70! $ 16.61

Options exercise — (77,079 $ 2.3¢

2001 Plan shares expir (35,589 —

Options cancelle 71,49¢ (71,499 $ 5.9¢
Balance at December 31, 2C 3,282,83! 2,916,40. $ 9.04

Options grante: (1,287,91) 1,287,991 % 21.71

Options exercise — (183,799 $ 3.017

2001 Plan shares expir (12,259 —

Options cancelle 100,80: (100,80) $ 15.0¢
Balance at December 31, 2C 2,084,46: 3,919,720 % 13.3¢

Options grante: (1,192,38) 1,191,38 % 17.9¢

Options exercise — (279,46 % 6.01

2001 Plan shares expir (4,204 —

Options cancelle 166,59! (166,59) $ 18.61
Balance at December 31, 2C 1,055,47. 4,665,03 % 14.7¢

The intrinsic value of stock options exercised dgr2008, 2007 and 2006 was $4.1 million, $2.9 onlland
$948,000, respectively. The estimated fair valuepifons vesting in 2008, 2007 and 2006 was $10lliom
$5.6 million and $2.7 million, respectively.
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The following table summarizes information concagnoutstanding and exercisable options under tB& 20c¢
2005 Plans as of December 31, 2008:

Options Outstanding

Weighted-Average Options Exercisable

Number Years Remaining  Weighted-Average Number Weighted-Average
Exercise Price Rang Outstanding Contractual Life Exercise Price Exercisable Exercise Price
$0.58-$1.33 387,72¢ 48¢ $ 1.1¢ 387,72 $ 1.1¢
$2.88-$2.88 426,64¢ 59¢ $ 2.8¢ 416,97¢ $ 2.8¢
$9.39- $9.39 537,75l 684 $ 9.3¢ 395,51f $ 9.3¢
$9.55- $17.29 467,99 691 $ 12.61 296,37 $ 12.01
$17.33- $17.33 915,43( 9.9C $ 17.3¢ — $ —
$17.37- $18.50 195,12¢ 8.06 $ 18.1: 84,78¢ $ 17.9¢
$18.54- $18.89 632,33¢ 794 % 18.8¢ 316,18 $ 18.8¢
$18.91- $23.03 344,37. 8.6¢ $ 20.9¢ 90,69¢ $ 20.72
$23.31- $24.60 757,65( 89C $ 23.3¢ 193,70. $ 23.3¢

4,665,03 2,181,97

At December 31, 2008, the aggregate intrinsic vafu@e outstanding options was $25.5 million amel t
aggregate intrinsic value of the exercisable optiwas $20.6 million. The weighted-average remaicmgtractual
life for exercisable options was 6.68 years.

Note 11. Related Party Transactions

The Company has two agreements with Incyte Corjmoraa former stockholder, that were entered into i
March 2001: a LifeSeq collaborative agreement apdtant license agreement. Under these agreentleats,
Company incurred royalties expense of $1.1 mill®827,000 and $270,000 in 2008, 2007 and 2006ectisply.

One of the Company’s directors is also a direcfdnoyte and holds shares, directly or beneficiadif/both
companies. As of December 31, 2006, to the Compaimpowledge, Incyte had divested its holdings & th
Company’s common stock.

Note 12. Income Taxes

The Company recorded an income tax benefit of §8LfOr the year ended December 31, 2008. The Coynpan
recorded minimum state income taxes of $4,000 exetuthe impact of a $65,000 discrete item. Therdig item
reflects the Company’s estimated refundable creditivable as a result of the enactment of the iHguand
Economic Recovery Act of 2008, under which corpioret otherwise eligible for bonus first-year dea&on may
instead elect to claim a refund for research anéldpment tax credits generated prior to 2006. idoine tax
expense or benefit was recorded for the years eddedmber 31, 2007 or 2006 because the Companphased
net operating losses since inception.

As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, the Company b#atreéd tax assets of approximately $64.4 milliod a
$59.6 million, respectively. Realization of the eleéd tax assets is dependent upon future taxaddene, if any, th
amount and timing of which are uncertain. Accortiimthe net deferred tax assets have been fulketthy a
valuation allowance. The net valuation allowana@éased by approximately $4.9 million, $8.9 milliamd
$11.3 million during the years ended December 80822007 and 2006, respectively. Deferred taxtagsemarily
relate to net operating loss and tax credit carwéods.

76




Table of Contents

GENOMIC HEALTH, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)

The tax effects of temporary differences and camyérds that give rise to significant portions efetred tax
assets and liabilities consist of the following:

December 31
2008 2007
(In thousands)

Deferred tax asset

Net operating loss carryforwar $52,68. $52,50¢
Research tax credi 4,78¢ 3,39¢
Capitalized cost 1,21¢ 1,19:
Fixed asset 2,16: 957
Other 3,59¢ 1,50(
Total deferred tax asse 64,44" 59,55+
Valuation allowanct (64,445 (59,559
Net deferred tax asse $ — 3 —

As of December 31, 2008, the Company had fedexhktate net operating loss carryforwards of appnexely
$132.2 million and $128.9 million, respectivelydaiederal and state research and development ealit cr
carryforwards of approximately $3.1 million and $&illion, respectively. The federal net operatiogs and tax
credit carryforwards will expire at various dateginning in 2010 if not utilized. The state taxdite have no
expiration date.

The Company tracks a portion of its deferred taetssattributable to stock option benefits in sasafe
memorandum account pursuant to SFAS 123R. Therdfarse amounts are no longer included in the Cagipa
gross or net deferred tax assets. Pursuant to 3PABR, the benefit of these stock options will netrecorded in
equity unless it reduces taxes payable. As of DbeeiB1, 2008, the portion of the federal and stateoperating
loss related to stock option benefits was approtetgab1.9 million.

Utilization of the net operating loss and tax ctedirryforwards may be subject to a substantiabahn
limitation due to ownership change limitations defil by the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as andemadhel
similar state provisions. The annual limitation nmagult in the expiration of net operating lossed eredits before
utilization.

The Company adopted FIN 48 as of January 1, 200748 clarifies the accounting for uncertainty mcome
taxes by prescribing the recognition thresholdxeptasition is required to meet before being recpgaiin the
financial statements. It also provides guidance@emcognition, classification, interest and peaajtaccounting in
interim periods, disclosure, and transition. Thenpany did not recognize any adjustment to its ligtfior
uncertain tax positions as a result of the impletatéon of FIN 48, and therefore did not record adjustment to tt
beginning balance of retained earnings on its 2@solidated balance sheet.

The Company had $575,000 and $413,000 of unrecednéx benefits as of December 31, 2008 and 2007,
respectively. The following table summarizes theévitg related to unrecognized tax benefits:

Year Ended
December 31,
2008 2007
(In thousands)
Balance at January $41z  $ —
Increases related to prior year tax positi 9 41z
Increases related to current year tax posit 152 —
Balance at December . $575  $418
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Interest and penalties related to unrecognizethémefits would be included as income tax expensleen
Company'’s consolidated statements of operationgf A&cember 31, 2008, the Company had not recedrany
tax-related penalties or interest in its consoédabalance sheets or statements of operationsCompany does not
anticipate a material change to its unrecognizedémefits over the next twelve months. Unrecoghize benefits
may change during the next twelve months for itémas arise in the ordinary course of business.

The Company files federal and state income taxmstwith varying statutes of limitations. Due teth
Company’s net carryover of unused net operatingdesnd tax credits, all tax years from 2000 fodwamain
subject to future examination by tax authorities.

Note 13. Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited’

The following table contains selected unauditedsotidated statements of operations informatiorefarh of
the quarters in 2008 and 2007. The Company belignaghe following information reflects all adjostnts,
consisting of only normal recurring adjustments;assary for a fair presentation of the informafimmnthe periods
presented. The operating results for any quaregenat necessarily indicative of results for anyfatperiod.

Quarter Ended March 31 June 30 September 3( December 3:
(In thousands, except per share date

2008:

Total revenue $23,44( $27,78: $ 28,127 $ 31,23t
Product revenue 23,35¢ 26,321 28,07C $ 30,90¢
Cost of product revenus 5,88¢ 6,85( 7,14C 7,311
Net loss (6,639 (4,099 (3,029 (2,339
Basic and diluted net loss per common sl $ (029 $ (0.15) 9 (0.1 % (0.0¢)
2007:

Total revenue $14,08¢ $14,69C $ 15,90 $ 19,34¢
Product revenue 13,14¢ 14,55t 15,78: 19,26¢
Cost of product revenus 3,841 4,17 4,39¢ 4,91«
Net loss (6,850 (7,199 (7,259 (5,99))
Basic and diluted net loss per common sl $ (0.2¢) $ (0.2¢) 9 (0.2¢) $ (0.2

The quarterly increases in product revenues ando¢@soduct revenues during 2008 and 2007 weragmily
attributable to increased adoption of OgeDX by physicians and increased reimbursement fard@ype DX by
third-party payors. The increases in revenues astlaf product revenues for the fourth quarter@i2and the first
quarter of 2008 were also attributable to the isidn of OncaypeDX in the American Society of Clinical
Oncology'’s clinical practice guidelines in Octol2807 and in the National Comprehensive Cancer N&tgo
clinical practice guidelines in December 2007.

Per share amounts for the quarters and full yeas baen calculated separately. Accordingly, quigreamount:
may not add to the annual amount because of diféeein the weightedverage common shares outstanding dt
each period, due primarily to the effect of the @amy’s issuing shares of its common stock durimgytar.

Basic and diluted net loss per common share argigd¢ as common equivalent shares are excluded fne
calculation because their effect is anti-dilutive.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTSON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES.

Not applicable.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLSAND PROCEDURES.

(a) Evaluation of disclosure controls and proceduréd/e maintain “disclosure controls and proceduras,”
such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under thmufiies Exchange Act of 1934, or the Exchange &t are
designed to ensure that information required tdibelosed by us in reports that we file or submitler the
Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarizeldsegrorted within the time periods specified in 8des and
Exchange Commission rules and forms, and that siicimation is accumulated and communicated to our
management, including our Chief Executive Officed £hief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allimely
decisions regarding required disclosure. In desgind evaluating our disclosure controls and phores,
management recognized that disclosure controlgpeskdures, no matter how well conceived and opéyaan
provide only reasonable, not absolute, assuraratetth objectives of the disclosure controls amt@dures are me
Our disclosure controls and procedures have besigriEl to meet reasonable assurance standardgiohddy, in
designing disclosure controls and procedures, @magement necessarily was required to apply ignjgaht in
evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possitisclosure controls and procedures. The desigmyflisclosure
controls and procedures also is based in part opdain assumptions about the likelihood of futewents, and the
can be no assurance that any design will succeachieving its stated goals under all potentialfeitconditions.

Based on their evaluation as of the end of theogezovered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K, @hief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer hasencluded that, as of such date, our disclosuréa@srand
procedures were effective at the reasonable assutawvel.

(b) Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control ograncial ReportingOur management is
responsible for establishing and maintaining irséaontrol over our financial reporting. Becausét®inherent
limitations, internal control over financial repod may not prevent or detect misstatements. Ptiojecof any
evaluation of the effectiveness of internal conteofuture periods are subject to the risk thatica may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, btttbalegree of compliance with policies or procedunay
deteriorate. Our management, with the participatibour Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financ@ificer,
assessed the effectiveness of our internal coote financial reporting as of December 31, 2068nkking this
assessment, our management used the criteriardebjothe Committee of Sponsoring Organizationthef
Treadway Commission, or COSO,lirternal Control-Integrated FrameworRased on the assessment using those
criteria, our management concluded that, as of Béee 31, 2008, our internal control over financegorting was
effective. Our independent registered public actiogrfirm, Ernst & Young LLP, audited the effectivess of our
internal control over financial reporting. Theipoet appears below:
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Genomic Health, Inc.

We have audited Genomic Health, Inc.’s internaltadrover financial reporting as of December 31020
based on criteria establishedimernal Control — Integrated Framewoitsued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the C@8t@ria). Genomic Health, Inc.’s management ipoesible
for maintaining effective internal control overdimcial reporting and for its assessment of thecéffeness of
internal control over financial reporting includiedthe accompanying Management’s Annual Reportneerhal
Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsipiig to express an opinion on the company’s intezoatrol over
financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stadgdof the Public Company Accounting OversightriBoa
(United States). Those standards require that e g@hd perform the audit to obtain reasonable assarabout
whether effective internal control over financieporting was maintained in all material respects. &udit included
obtaining an understanding of internal control dugincial reporting, assessing the risk that aemaltweakness
exists, testing and evaluating the design and ¢ipgraffectiveness of internal control based onabsessed risk,
and performing such other procedures as we comsldercessary in the circumstances. We believethaudit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company'’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonablesass
regarding the reliability of financial reportingathe preparation of financial statements for exdepurposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting ipfeez A company’s internal control over finanaiaporting
includes those policies and procedures that (Iajpeto the maintenance of records that, in reasiendetail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions disghositions of the assets of the company; (2) idmveasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as ngctsparmit preparation of financial statementadcordance wit
generally accepted accounting principles, andréwdipts and expenditures of the company are beadg only in
accordance with authorizations of management amdtdis of the company; and (3) provide reasonasdeirance
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauitted acquisition, use, or disposition of the comps assets that
could have a material effect on the financial stegets.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or dete
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluatibeffectiveness to future periods are subjecheorisk that
controls may become inadequate because of chamgesdlitions, or that the degree of compliance wWithpolicies
or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Genomic Health, Inc. maintainedalhmaterial respects, effective internal contreér financia
reporting as of December 31, 2008, based on theGCO&eria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Boar
(United States), the consolidated balance shed&&onbmic Health, Inc. as of December 31, 2008 & 2and the
related consolidated statements of operationskistdders’ equity and cash flows for each of the¢hyears in the
period ended December 31, 2008 and our report ddéedh 12, 2009 expressed an unqualified opinienetbn.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP
Palo Alto, California

March 12, 2009
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(c) Changes in internal controls.There was no change in our internal control dwemcial reporting (as
defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Adhtified in connection with the evaluation desedbn Item 9A
(a) above that occurred during our last fiscal tprathat has materially affected, or is reasonéikély to materially
affect, our internal control over financial repodi

ITEM 9B. OTHER |NFORMATION .

None.

PART IlI

ITEM 10. DIRecTORS, EXEcUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE .

The information required by this item with respextlirectors is incorporated by reference fromittiermation
under the caption “Election of Directors” contairiedbur Proxy Statement to be filed with the Segesiand
Exchange Commission in connection with the soliitaof proxies for our 2009 Annual Meeting of Stholders tc
be held on June 8, 2009, or Proxy Statement. @drtformation required by this item concerning axee officers
is set forth in Part | of this Report under thetaap“Executive Officers of the Registrardahd is incorporated here
by reference.

Item 405 of Regulation S-K calls for disclosureaofy known late filing or failure by an insider itefa report
required by Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act. Tisslosure is contained in the section entitledcti®n 16(a)
Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” in theX Statement and is incorporated herein by refsre

We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct thtieapp all of our officers and employees, incluglur
Executive Chairman of the Board, our President@higf Executive Officer, our Chief Operating Offiand Chief
Financial Officer and other employees who perfoimaricial or accounting functions. The Code of Basim
Conduct sets forth the basic principles that gtiidebusiness conduct of our employees. We haveadigpted a
Senior Financial Officers’ Code of Ethics that dfieally applies to our Executive Chairman of thedd, our
President and Chief Executive Officer, our Chieke@jing Officer and Chief Financial Officer, and/ke
management employees. Stockholders may request adpy of our Code of Business Conduct and E#ridsour
Senior Financial OfficersCode of Ethics by contacting Genomic Health, IAt¢tention: CFO, 301 Penobscot Dri
Redwood City, California 94063.

To date, there have been no waivers under our 6bBasiness Conduct and Ethics or Senior Financial
Officers’ Code of Ethics. We intend to discloseufiet amendments to certain provisions of our Codgusiness
Conduct and Ethics or Senior Financial Officersd€of Ethics or any waivers, if and when grantédyus Code of
Business Conduct and Ethics or Senior Financiat@&®’ Code of Ethics on our website at
http://www.genomichealth.comithin four business days following the date offsacnendment or waiver.

Our Board of Directors has appointed an Audit Cotteri comprised of Mr. Randall S. Livingston, as
Chairman, Mr. Samuel D. Colella and Dr. Fred E. €uhThe Board of Directors has determined thatlliAingston
qualifies as an Audit Committee Financial Experdemthe definition outlined by the Securities amtiiange
Commission. In addition, each of the members offthdit Committee qualifies as an “independent diwgcunder
the current rules of The NASDAQ Stock Market andBities and Exchange Commission rules and reguisti

ITEM 11. ExecuTtivE COMPENSATION .

The information required by this item is incorp@by reference from the information under the ioast
“Election of Directors — Compensation of Directoesid “Executive Compensation” contained in the RProx
Statement.
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ITEM 12.

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERSAND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS.

The information required by this item is incorp@by reference from the information under the ioast
“Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Ownerslddanagement” and “Equity Compensation Plan Infdiomd
contained in the Proxy Statement.

ITEM 13.

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR |NDEPENDENCE.

The information required by this item is incorp@by reference from the information under the icapt
“Certain Relationships and Related Transactionsit@ioed in the Proxy Statement.

ITEM 14.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES .

The information required by this item is incorp@by reference from the information under the icapt
“Principal Accountant Fees and Services” containeitie Proxy Statement.

ITEM 15.

PART IV

ExHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES.

(a) Documents filed as part of this report:

(1) Financial Statements

Reference is made to the Index to ConsolidatedneinhStatements of Genomic Health under Item 8 of
Part Il hereof.

(2) Financial Statement Schedules

The following schedule is filed as part of this ot 0-K:

Schedule Il —Valuation and Qualifying Accounts for the years ethdecember 31, 2008, 2007, and 2

All financial statement schedules have been omlitathuse they are not applicable or not required or
because the information is included elsewhereéndbnsolidated Financial Statements or the No&eth.

(3) Exhibits

See Item 15(b) below. Each management contraairapensatory plan or arrangement required to be
has been identified.

(b) Exhibits
Exhibit
No. Description of Documen
3(i) Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Compgncorporated by reference to exhibit 3.3 filethw
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 3386E5), as amended, declared effective on
September 28, 200t
3(ii) Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company, as@edesnd restated January 8, 2009 (incorporated
by reference to exhibit 3.1 to the Comp’s Current Report oForm ¢-K filed on January 9, 200¢
4.1 Specimen Common Stock Certificate (incorporatedefgrence to the exhibit of the same number filed
with Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File N83-326626), as amended, declared effective on
September 28, 200t
4.2 Amended and Restated Investors’ Rights Agreemeaédd-ebruary 9, 2004 between the Company and

certain of its stockholders (incorporated by refiersto the exhibit of the same number filed with
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 338625), as amended, declared effective on
September 28, 200~
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Exhibit
No.

10.1#

10.2#

10.3#

104.1

10.4.2

104.:

10.5%

10.6.1

10.6.2

10.6.2

10.6.4

10.7

10.8

10.9#

12.1*

211

23.1*
24.1*
31.1*
31.2*

Description of Documen

Form of Indemnification Agreement between the Comypand its officers and directors (incorporated by
reference to the exhibit of the same number filéth Wegistration Statement on Form S-1 (File

No. 33:-126626),as amended, declared effective on September 28).:

2001 Stock Incentive Plan and forms of agreemdmtietinder (incorporated by reference to the exhibit
of the same number filed with Registration StateneenForm S-1 (File No. 333-126626), as amended,
declared effective on September 28, 20

2005 Stock Incentive Plan and forms of agreemésgisetinder (incorporated by reference to the exhibit
of the same number filed with Registration StateineenForm S-1 (File No. 333-126626), as amended,
declared effective on September 28, 20

Sublease Agreement dated June 1, 2001 betweerothpady and Corixa Corporation (incorporated by
reference to the exhibit of the same number filéth Wegistration Statement on Form S-1 (File

No. 33:-126626),as amended, declared effective on September 28)2

First Amendment to Sublease Agreement dated Oc&%he2003 between the Company and Corixa
Corporation (incorporated by reference to the ekloibthe same number filed with Registration
Statement olForm &-1 (File No. 33:-126626),as amended, declared effective on September 28)2
Second Amendment to Sublease Agreement dated ¥a3ilia2005 between the Company and Corixa
Corporation (incorporated by reference to the ekloibthe same number filed with Registration
Statement olForm -1 (File No. 33:-126626),as amended, declared effective on September 28).2
PCR Patent License Agreement dated February 25 B&Bveen the Company and Roche Molecular
Systems, Inc. (incorporated by reference to exiii8 filed with Registration Statement on Form S-1
(File No. 33:-126626),as amended, declared effective on September 28) .2

Master Security Agreement dated March 30, 2005 éetwthe Company and Oxford Finance Corpor:
(incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.9.1 fikith Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File

No. 33:-126626),as amended, declared effective on September 28) .2

Form of Promissory Note (Equipment) issued by tbenfany in favor of Oxford Finance Corporation
(incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.9.2 fileith Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File

No. 33:-126626),as amended, declared effective on September 28)2

Form of Promissory Note (Computers and Softwar)ad by the Company in favor of Oxford Finance
Corporation (incorporated by reference to exhibi13 filed with Registration Statement on Form S-1
(File No. 33:-126626),as amended, declared effective on September 28) .2

Schedule of Promissory Notes issued by the Compafavor of Oxford Finance Corporation
(incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.6.4 fileith the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 20t

Lease dated September 23, 2005 between the Conapdnyletropolitan Life Insurance Company
(incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.10 filethwRegistration Statement on Form S-1 (File

No. 33:-126626),as amended, declared effective on September 28).:

Lease dated January 2, 2007 between the Companyetndpolitan Life Insurance Company
(incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.8 filedhwthe Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 20C

Form of Non U.S. Employee/Consultant Stock Optigreement under the Company’s 2005 Stock
Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to exHibil filed with the Company’s Quarterly Report on
Form 1(-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2(

Statement Regarding Computation of Rat

List of Subsidiaries (incorporated by referencéh®exhibit of the same number filed with Registrat
Statement olForm &-1 (File No. 33:-126626),as amended, declared effective on September 28):
Consent of independent registered public accouffiting

Power of Attorney (see page 86 of tForm 1(-K).

Rule 13e— 14(a) Certification of Chief Executive Office

Rule 13e— 14(a) Certification of the Chief Financial Offict
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Exhibit
No. Description of Documen
32.1** Statement of the Chief Executive Officer under Bec®06 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
(18 U.S.C. Section 135C
32.2** Statement of the Chief Financial Officer under #ec906 of the Sarbane3xley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.(
Section 1350)

* Filed herewith

** |n accordance with Item 601(b)(32)(ii) of Regulati®-K and SEC Release Nos. 33-8238 and 34-4798a| Fi
Rule: Management’s Reports on Internal Control GQiieancial Reporting and Certification of Disclosun
Exchange Act Periodic Reports, the certificatiamsished in Exhibits 32.1 and 32.2 hereto are deeme
accompany this Form 10-K and will not be deemelkdfi for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Scich
certifications will not be deemed to be incorpodaby reference into any filing under the Securiies or the
Exchange Act, except to the extent that the Compaegifically incorporates it by referen:

t Confidential treatment has been granted with regpecertain portions of these agreeme

# Indicates management contract or compensatorygularrangemen

Copies of above exhibits not contained herein aaflable to any stockholder, upon payment of aorable
per page fee, upon written request to: Chief Firmr@fficer, Genomic Health, Inc., 301 PenobscoiwByRedwood
City, California 94063.

(c) Financial Statements and Schedules

Reference is made to Item 15(a)(2) above.
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SCHEDULE I
GENOMIC HEALTH, INC.
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
Years Ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006
Additions
Balance at Charged Balance a
Beginning of  (Credited) to End of
Period Expenses Deductions Period
(In thousands)
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts:
Year ended December 31, 2C $ 13: $ 1,34 $ 59t $ 881
Year ended December 31, 2C $ 51C $ (115® $ 262 $ 13¢
Year ended December 31, 2C $ — $ 562 $ 52 $ 51C

(1 Changes in the Company'’s estimate of allowancedaibtful accounts resulted in the reduction of debt

expense for the year ended December 31, 2
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas
duly caused this report to be signed on its behathe undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

GENOMIC HEALTH, INC.

By: /s/ Kimberly J. Popovit

Kimberly J. Popovits
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: March 13, 2009

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each persbose signature appears below constitutes
and appoints Randal W. Scott, Kimberly J. Popcaitd G. Bradley Cole, and each of them, his truelantul
attorneys-in-fact, each with full power of subdiin, for him or her in any and all capacitiessign any
amendments to this report on Form 10-K and tatfilesame, with exhibits thereto and other documents
connection therewith, with the Securities and ExggaCommission, hereby ratifying and confirmingtldit each ¢
said attorneys-in-fact or their substitute or sitises may do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xg@ Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpithe
following persons on behalf of the registrant amthie capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
/sl Kimberly J. Popovit President and Chief Executive Officer  March 13, 200
Kimberly J. Popovits ~ Director _
(Principal Executive Officer
/sl G. Bradley Coli Chief Operating Officer and March 13, 200
G. Bradley Cole Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financi
Officer and Principal Accounting Office
/s/ Randal W. Sco Executive Chairman of the Board of March 13, 200
Randal W. Scott, Ph.L Directors
/s/ Julian C. Bake Director March 13, 200
Julian C. Bake
/sl Brook H. Byer: Director March 13, 200

Brook H. Byers

/s/ Fred E. Cohe Director March 13, 200
Fred E. Cohen, MD., D. Ph

/s/ Samuel D. Colell Director March 13, 200
Samuel D. Colell:
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Signature

/sl Ginger L. Grahar

Ginger L. Grahan

/sl Randall S. Livingsto

Randall S. Livingstot

/sl Woodrow A. Myer:

Woodrow A. Myers Jr., ML

Title

Director

Director

Director
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Date

March 13, 200

March 13, 200

March 13, 200
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Exhibit
No.

3(i)

3(ii)
4.1

4.2

10.1#

10.2#

10.3#

104.1

104.2

104.c

10.5t

10.6.1

10.6.2

10.6.2

10.6.4

10.7

10.8

EXHIBIT INDEX

Description of Documen

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Compéncorporated by reference to exhibit 3.3 fileihw
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 338625), as amended, declared effective on
September 28, 200¢

Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company, as@desnd restated January 8, 2009 (incorporated
by reference to exhibit 3.1 to the Comp’s Current Report oForm ¢-K filed on January 9, 200¢
Specimen Common Stock Certificate (incorporatedebgrence to the exhibit of the same number filed
with Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File N83-326626), as amended, declared effective on
September 28, 200¢

Amended and Restated Investors’ Rights AgreemeéddFebruary 9, 2004 between the Company and
certain of its stockholders (incorporated by rafieesto the exhibit of the same number filed with
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 338625), as amended, declared effective on
September 28, 200t

Form of Indemnification Agreement between the Conypand its officers and directors (incorporatec
reference to the exhibit of the same number filéth Wegistration Statement on Form S-1 (File

No. 33:-126626),as amended, declared effective on September 28).:

2001 Stock Incentive Plan and forms of agreemésgisetinder (incorporated by reference to the exhibit
of the same number filed with Registration StateneenForm S-1 (File No. 333-126626), as amended,
declared effective on September 28, 20

2005 Stock Incentive Plan and forms of agreemdmtietinder (incorporated by reference to the exhibit
of the same number filed with Registration StateneenForm S-1 (File No. 333-126626), as amended,
declared effective on September 28, 20

Sublease Agreement dated June 1, 2001 betweerothpady and Corixa Corporation (incorporated by
reference to the exhibit of the same number fil@th Wegistration Statement on Form S-1 (File

No. 33:-126626),as amended, declared effective on September 28).:

First Amendment to Sublease Agreement dated Oc&He2003 between the Company and Corixa
Corporation (incorporated by reference to the ekloibthe same number filed with Registration
Statement olForm $-1 (File No. 33:-126626),as amended, declared effective on September 28).2
Second Amendment to Sublease Agreement dated JaB3ilia2005 between the Company and Corixa
Corporation (incorporated by reference to the eklobthe same number filed with Registration
Statement olForm &-1 (File No. 33:-126626),as amended, declared effective on September 28):
PCR Patent License Agreement dated February 25 B&@veen the Company and Roche Molecular
Systems, Inc. (incorporated by reference to exhibi8 filed with Registration Statement on Form S-1
(File No. 33:-126626),as amended, declared effective on September 28)2

Master Security Agreement dated March 30, 2005 éetwthe Company and Oxford Finance
Corporation (incorporated by reference to exhibiOll filed with Registration Statement on Form S-1
(File No. 33:-126626),as amended, declared effective on September 28) .-

Form of Promissory Note (Equipment) issued by tbhen@any in favor of Oxford Finance Corporation
(incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.9.2 fiith Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File

No. 33:-126626),as amended, declared effective on September 28).:

Form of Promissory Note (Computers and Softwar)ad by the Company in favor of Oxford Finance
Corporation (incorporated by reference to exhibi13 filed with Registration Statement on Form S-1
(File No. 33:-126626),as amended, declared effective on September 28)2

Schedule of Promissory Notes issued by the Compafavor of Oxford Finance Corporation
(incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.6.4 fikeith the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 20t

Lease dated September 23, 2005 between the Comapdnyletropolitan Life Insurance Company
(incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.10 fileithwRegistration Statement on Form S-1 (File

No. 33:-126626),as amended, declared effective on September 28)2

Lease dated January 2, 2007 between the Companyletndpolitan Life Insurance Company
(incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.8 filedhwthe Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 20C
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Exhibit
No.

1C.9#

12.1*
211

23.1*
24.1*
31.1*
31.2*
32.1**

32.2%*

Description of Documen

Form of Non U.S. Employee/Consultant Stock Optigreement under the Company’s 2005 Stock
Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to exHibil filed with the Company’s Quarterly Report on
Form 1(-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2(

Statement Regarding Computation of Rat

List of Subsidiaries (incorporated by referencéhmexhibit of the same number filed with Registrat
Statement olForm $-1 (File No. 33:-126626),as amended, declared effective on September 28) 2
Consent of independent registered public accourfitimg

Power of Attorney (see page 86 of tForm 1(-K).

Rule 13e— 14(a) Certification of Chief Executive Office

Rule 13e— 14(a) Certification of the Chief Financial Offict

Statement of the Chief Executive Officer under B&c®06 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

(18 U.S.C. Section 135C

Statement of the Chief Financial Officer under 8ec®06 of the Sarbané3xley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.(
Section 1350)

* Filed herewith
** |n accordance with Item 601(b)(32)(ii) of RegulatiB-K and SEC Release Nos. 33-8238 and 34-47986| Fi
Rule: Management's Reports on Internal Control Qrieancial Reporting and Certification of Disclostin
Exchange Act Periodic Reports, the certificatiamsished in Exhibits 32.1 and 32.2 hereto are deeme
accompany this Form 10-K and will not be deemelkdfi for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange &cich
certifications will not be deemed to be incorpoddby reference into any filing under the Securifies or the
Exchange Act, except to the extent that the Compaeyifically incorporates it by referen:

t Confidential treatment has been granted with raspecertain portions of these agreeme
# Indicates management contract or compensatorygslarrangemen

Copies of above exhibits not contained herein aaflable to any stockholder, upon payment of aorable
per page fee, upon written request to: Chief Firarafficer, Genomic Health, Inc., 301 PenobscovBr Redwood
City, California 94063



EXHIBIT 12.1

GENOMIC HEALTH, INC.
STATEMENT REGARDING COMPUTATION OF RATIOS
(in thousands)

For the year ended December 3:

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
Earnings (deficiency
Net loss $(16,089 $(27,297) $(28,920 $(31,367) $(24,995)
Add:
Fixed charge $ 51z $ 80€ $ 53t $ 35C $ 104
Earnings (deficiency $(15,577) $(26,48¢) $(28,38%) $(31,017) $(24,897)
Fixed charges
Interest expens $ 38¢ $ 67¢ $ 44¢ $ 25¢ $ 4
Estimated interest portion of rental expe $  12¢ $ 12¢ $ 89 $ 92 $ 1oc
Total fixed charge $ 51z $ 80¢€ $ 53t $ 35C $ 104
Deficiency in the coverage of fixed char¢ $(16,08¢) $(27,297) $(28,92() $(31,367) $(24,99%
Ratio of earnings to fixed charg® (2) NM NM NM NM NM

) The ratio of earnings to fixed charges is comghitg dividing loss before taxes plus fixed charggdixed charges. Fixed charges
consist of interest expense (including interesease from capital leases) and the estimated pasfioental expense deemed by the
Company to be representative of the interest fagftogntal payments under operating leases. Easnirgge insufficient to cover fixed
charges by the amounts sent forth in the table @lboder the headir* Deficiency in the coverage of fixed char¢”

(@ Not meaningful



EXHIBIT 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

We consent to the incorporation by reference inRbgistration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-1288@5gming to the 2005 Stock Incentive
Plan and 2001 Stock Incentive Plan of Genomic He#ic. and the shelf Registration Statement (FSfB1No. 333-141946) of our reports
dated March 12, 2009, with respect to the constdiifinancial statements and schedule of Genomadthldnc, and the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting of Genaniealth, Inc. included in this Annual Report (FattK) for the year ended December 31,

2008.
/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Palo Alto, California
March 12, 2009



EXHIBIT 31.1

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 20@@r the Period Ended
December 31, 2008

CERTIFICATION

I, Kimberly J. Popovits, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on F&¥K of Genomic Health, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report doesantain any untrue statement of a material factnoit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nistadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statetsy and other financial information includedhistreport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amngtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officerdal are responsible for establishing and maintgjrdisclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controlsmodedures, or caused such disclosure controlparmgdures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidh&ubsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the metin which this annual report is being prepared,;

b) Designed such internal control ovaaficial reporting, or caused such internal cortvel financial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuramzgdeng the reliability of financial reporting attie preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generallygiedeaccounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of thésteant’s disclosure controls and procedures and preséntats report our conclusions about
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and pros] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any changthmregistrant’s internal control over financigporting that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fotdigbal quarter in the case of an annual repod) tias materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s intedl control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officardal have disclosed, based on our most recent atiafuof internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of registrant’s board of directors p@rsons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and maatrveaknesses in the design or operation of ialezantrol over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not materiahttmvolves management or other employees who aaignificant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 13, 2009

By: /s/ Kimberly J. Popovits
Kimberly J. Popovits
Chief Executive Officer




EXHIBIT 31.2

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 208@r the Period Ended
December 31, 2008

CERTIFICATION

I, G. Bradley Cole, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on F&f¥K of Genomic Health, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report doesantain any untrue statement of a material factnoit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nistatdisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statesy and other financial information includedhistreport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officerdal are responsible for establishing and maintgjrdisclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controlsmodedures, or caused such disclosure controlparmgdures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidh&ubsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the etin which this annual report is being prepared,;

b) Designed such internal control ovaaficial reporting, or caused such internal cortvel financial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuramzgding the reliability of financial reporting attie preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generallygiedeaccounting principles;

¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of thestegnt’s disclosure controls and procedures and presentbis report our conclusions about
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and pros] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any changthmregistrant’s internal control over financigporting that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repod) tlas materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s intedl control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officardal have disclosed, based on our most recent atiafuof internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of registrant’s board of directors persons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and maatreaknesses in the design or operation of ialezantrol over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not materiahttinvolves management or other employees who aaignificant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 13, 2009

By: /s/ G. Bradley Cole
G. Bradley Cole
Chief Financial Officer




EXHIBIT 32.1
STATEMENT OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER UNDER 18 U.S.C . § 1350

I, Kimberly J. Popovits, the chief executive offiad Genomic Health, Inc. (the “Company”), certftyr the purposes of section 1350 of
chapter 63 of title 18 of the United States Cod, tto the best of my knowledge,

(i) the Annual Report of the Company on Fo@rKlLfor the period ended December 31, 2008 (theptRig), fully complies with the
requirements of section 13(a) of the Securitiesh@rge Act of 1934, and

(ii) the information contained in the Repairly presents, in all material respects, the fomaincondition and results of operations of the
Company.

/s/ Kimberly J. Popovits
Kimberly J. Popovits
Chief Executive Office
March 13, 200¢




EXHIBIT 32.2
STATEMENT OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER UNDER 18 U.S.C . § 1350

I, G. Bradley Cole, the chief financial officer @enomic Health, Inc. (the “Company”), certify féretpurposes of section 1350 of chapter 63
of title 18 of the United States Code that, toltkst of my knowledge,

(i) the Annual Report of the Company on Fo@rKlLfor the period ended December 31, 2008 (theptRig), fully complies with the
requirements of section 13(a) of the SecuritieshErge Act of 1934, and

(ii) the information contained in the Repairly presents, in all material respects, the fomalncondition and results of operations of the
Company.

/sl G. Bradley Cole
G. Bradley Cole

Chief Financial Officel
March 13, 200¢




